St Andrews House 48 Princess Road East Leicester LE1 7DR, UK

Tel 0116 254 9568 Fax 0116 247 0787 E-mail mail@bps.org.uk

http://www.bps.org.uk

Incorporated by Royal Charter Registered Charity No 229642

Recent advances in understanding mental illness and psychotic experiences

A report by The British Psychological Society Division of Clinical Psychology



June 2000

Co-ordinating Editors:

Dr Peter Kinderman Anne Cooke

Chair of Working Party:

Professor Richard P Bentall

Working Party:

Professor Richard Bentall Professor Mary Boyle Professor Paul Chadwick Anne Cooke Professor Philippa Garety Simon Gelsthorpe Dr Anne Goodwin Lucy Johnstone Dr Peter Kinderman Professor Elizabeth Kuipers Dr Steve Onyett Dr Emmanuelle Peters Professor David Pilgrim Professor Til Wykes

With further contributions from:

Dr David Harper Professor Tony Lavender Dr Rufus May Dr Mike Slade

June 2000

ISBN:1 85433 333 X

Any part of this document may be reproduced without permission but with acknowledgement.

Contents

Page

| Executive summary | | 4 |
|-------------------|--|----|
| Part 1: | Understanding mental illness | 8 |
| Section 1: | What this report is about – introduction | 8 |
| Section 2: | How common are these experiences? | 11 |
| Section 3: | Prognosis – course and outcome | 14 |
| Section 4: | Problems with 'diagnosis' in mental health | 16 |
| Section 5: | A continuum between mental health and mental illness | 18 |
| Part 2: | Causes | 21 |
| Section 6: | The complexity of psychotic experiences | 21 |
| Section 7: | Biological factors in psychotic experiences | 24 |
| Section 8: | Life circumstances and psychotic experiences | 28 |
| Section 9: | Psychological factors in psychotic experiences | 31 |
| Part 3: | Help and treatment | 35 |
| Section 10: | Assessment | 35 |
| Section 11: | Medication for psychotic experiences | 38 |
| Section 12: | Psychological interventions for psychotic experiences | 44 |
| Section 13: | Risk and psychotic experiences | 49 |
| Section 14: | Social exclusion | 53 |
| Section 15: | Implications of this report for mental health services | 58 |

Executive summary

This report describes recent advances in understanding psychotic experiences. It is written for mental health service users,mental health professionals,and interested members of the public. The report is divided into three parts, covering understanding of mental illness, causes and help and treatment.

Part 1: Understanding mental illness

Section 1: What this report is about – Introduction

- This report presents psychological perspectives on serious mental illness.lt refers to psychiatric diagnoses of 'schizophrenia', 'paranoid schizophrenia', 'psychosis', 'manic depression' and 'bipolar affective disorder'.
- These problems include hearing voices (hallucinations), holding unusual beliefs (delusions) and experiencing strong fluctuations in mood.
- Each individual's experiences are unique. Many people who have these kinds of experiences do not come into contact with clinical psychologists or psychiatrists because they do not find their experiences distressing. Some people, however, are so distressed by them that they seek professional help or others seek help on their behalf.

Section 2: How common are these experiences?

- About one person in a hundred is likely to receive a diagnosis of schizophrenia in their lifetime, and similarly about one person in a hundred is likely to receive a diagnosis of bipolar disorder (manic depression).
- 100,000 to 500,000 people in the UK today are likely to have been given the diagnosis of schizophrenia, and about 500,000 are likely to have received a diagnosis of bipolar disorder (manic depression).
- Social circumstances are very important. People from disadvantaged backgrounds, especially young men, seem at greatest risk of receiving a diagnosis of

schizophrenia. However, although the risks might vary, almost anyone could have psychotic experiences in circumstances of extreme stress.

Section 3: Prognosis - course and outcome

- The course and outcome of psychotic experiences are very different for different people. Less than a quarter of people who have distressing psychotic experiences at some time in their lives remain permanently affected by them.
- People have poorer outcomes if their spouses or family members are highly critical or overprotective.

Section 4: Problems with 'diagnosis' in mental health

 Psychiatric diagnoses are labels that describe certain types of behaviour. They do not indicate anything about the nature or causes of the experiences.

Section 5:A continuum between mental health and mental illness

- Mental health and 'mental illness' (and different types of mental 'illness') shade into each other and are not separate categories.
- Ten to 15 per cent of the population have heard voices or experienced hallucinations at some point in their life. These are frequently triggered by extreme experiences such as sleep deprivation.
- It may be appropriate to think in terms of 'stressvulnerability' when explaining psychotic experiences.
 People may have greater or lesser levels of vulnerability to this type of experience, which are triggered by greater or fewer numbers of stressful events experienced.
- In some cultures hearing voices and seeing visions is seen as a spiritual gift rather than as a symptom of mental illness.

Part 2: Causes

Section 6: The complexity of psychotic experiences

- Social, biological and psychological causes of psychotic experiences are all important, and interact with one another.
- Because there is a very close relationship between 'mind' and 'brain', it is very difficult to draw clear lines between biological and psychological factors. The causes of psychotic experiences are complex and one single 'cause' will not be found.
- Sometimes psychotic experiences can be triggered by something relatively minor, but become a problem as a result of some kind of vicious circle, involving the person's situation or their reaction to the experience.

Section 7: Biological factors in psychotic experiences

- In the main, research into genetics, brain chemistry, the physical environment and brain structure has not led to clear conclusions about physical causes.
- It is likely that genetics, brain chemistry, brain structure and the environment are all associated with vulnerabilities to a variety of general traits, which may in turn be related to psychotic experiences.
- It is clear that psychotic experiences involve brain events, and can be influenced by biological processes. It is important to remember, however, that every single thought we have involves chemical changes in the brain, and this is as true for 'normal' as well as 'psychotic' experience.

Section 8: Life circumstances and psychotic experiences

 Psychotic experiences can sometimes follow major events in someone's life, either negative (for example bereavement) or positive (for example winning the lottery).

- Many people who have psychotic experiences have experienced abuse or trauma at some point in their lives.
- If people who have had mental health problems live in a calm and relaxed home atmosphere, their problems are less likely to return.

Section 9: Psychological factors in psychotic experiences

- Psychological models of psychotic experiences focus on patterns of thought associated with these phenomena and on their meaning for the individual.
- These include: difficulties with attention, difficulties in understanding what other people are thinking, jumping to conclusions and the tendency to believe that the bad things that happen are the fault of other people.
- Hearing voices often appears to be the result of difficulty in distinguishing one's own,normal, inner speech from the words of other people.
- Psychotic experiences often have an important subjective meaning or significance for the individual.

Part 3: Help and treatment

Section 10:Assessment

 Clinical psychologists use a wide variety of information to reach a psychological 'formulation', an account of a person's problems developed in collaboration, that describes and accounts for the problems and offers a plan for help.

Section 11: Medication for psychotic experiences

- Traditional psychiatric drugs are by far the most common form of help offered to people with psychotic experiences.
- They are not a 'cure' but can alleviate 'symptoms'. They can be used for acute psychotic experiences and/or used long-term to try to prevent future problems.

Executive summary (cont.)

- They do not help everyone. Two-thirds of people who take medication regularly are likely to experience a recurrence of their psychotic experiences within two years.
- They can have serious unwanted effects ('side effects') which for some people can be worse than the original problem.
- Newer drugs ('atypical antipsychotics' such as clozapine) are not necessarily any more effective, but can cause fewer adverse effects. Each individual should be able to make informed choices about which, if any, drug works best for them.
- Many people are on doses above recommended levels.
- The British Psychological Society has stated 'It is unsafe for people to be forced to use medication with potentially lethal side-effects against their wishes and without in-patient supervision'.

Section 12: Psychological interventions for psychotic experiences

- The most common form of psychological therapy for psychotic experiences is Cognitive Behaviour Therapy

 CBT. This is a tried and tested intervention that examines patterns of thinking associated with a range of emotional and behavioural problems.
- There is convincing evidence that psychological interventions are effective for many people in reducing psychotic experiences and the distress and disability they cause.
- Despite the effectiveness of psychological interventions, and the fact that they appear to be cost-effective, more resources are needed, especially for training.

Section 13: Risk and psychotic experiences

Most people who have psychotic experiences are not dangerous. The increase in risk associated with a diagnosis of schizophrenia is minimal.

- The proportion of homicides committed by people with psychiatric diagnoses has fallen since the introduction of community care and is still falling.
- People who use mental health services are themselves at risk of becoming victims of violence. They are also at risk of self-neglect,suicide, abuse of human rights and the damaging consequences of treatments.
- There is an increase in risk associated with the diagnosis of Antisocial Personality Disorder. This is, however, a different type of problem from those described in this report. The term 'antisocial personality disorder' is used to describe someone whose behaviour is considered antisocial or dangerous and tells us little more than that.Such a description does not indicate that a person has psychotic experiences.

Section 14: Social exclusion

- People with psychiatric diagnoses are arguably one of the most socially excluded groups in society.
- Media accounts give a very biased picture and help to maintain public prejudices.
- The policy of community care has not failed. Most people who used to live in psychiatric hospitals have been successfully resettled and are well supported.
- There is a growing 'User/Survivor Movement' in which former and current mental health service users are campaigning for better services, for the acceptance of frameworks of understanding other than the 'medical model' and against stigma and discrimination.

Section 15: Implications of this report for mental health services

- Services need to adopt an individual and holistic approach.
- Services must respect each individual's understanding of their own experiences.

- Service users should be acknowledged as experts on their own experiences.
- The use of coercive powers (for instance detention under 'Section' and forcible treatment) should not be further extended.
- Psychological therapies should be readily accessible to people who have psychotic experiences.
- All mental health workers should be aware of and use a psychological understanding of psychotic experiences.

- Training is needed nationally to educate all mental health staff about the information contained in this report. It should also be part of the basic training of all the mental health professions.
- Prejudice and discrimination against people with mental health problems should become as unacceptable as racism or sexism.

Part 1: Understanding mental illness

Section 1:What this report is about – Introduction

Key points:

- This report is about those problems that are usually thought of as 'mental illness', or sometimes as 'mental health problems', a 'nervous breakdown' or 'madness'.
- Medical terms for these problems include 'schizophrenia', 'paranoid schizophrenia', 'psychosis', 'manic depression' and 'bipolar affective disorder'.
- These problems include hearing voices (hallucinations), holding unusual beliefs (delusions) and experiencing strong fluctuations in mood, as well as so-called 'negative symptoms'.
- Each individual's experiences are unique no one person's problems,or ways of coping with them, are exactly the same as anyone else's.
- Many people who have these kinds of experiences do not come into contact with clinical psychologists or psychiatrists because they do not find their experiences distressing.Some people, however, are so distressed by them that they seek professional help or others seek help on their behalf.

1.1 Mental illness

This report is about those problems that are usually thought of as 'mental illness',or sometimes as a 'nervous breakdown' or 'madness'. Medical terms for these problems include 'schizophrenia', 'paranoid schizophrenia', 'psychosis', 'manic depression' and 'bipolar affective disorder'.

The types of experience discussed in this report include:

Hearing voices speaking when there is no-one there, or seeing or feeling things that other people do not. The medical term for these experiences is 'hallucinations'.

Holding strong beliefs that others in the person's social

environment do not share. An example would be a belief that there is a conspiracy against the person by MI5,or that someone else is controlling their thoughts. The medical term for these beliefs is 'delusions', or if they are about other people wanting to harm the person, 'paranoid delusions'.

Experiencing extreme moods such as depression, elation, or even both at the same time. Often unusual beliefs or hallucinations accompany these experiences. Medical terms for extreme negative mood include 'clinical depression' and 'psychotic depression'.Extreme elation accompanied by overactivity is sometimes known as 'mania' or, when less severe, 'hypomania'. People who have these experiences often receive diagnoses such as 'manic depression', 'bipolar affective disorder' and 'schizoaffective disorder'.

Experiencing changes in perception, such as seeing colours much more brightly than normal or finding that time is passing much more quickly or slowly than normal.

Experiencing extreme changes in concentration and attention, such as suddenly finding it more difficult to pay attention to two things at once.

Feeling much better or worse about one's self than normal. For instance feeling extremely positive or even grandiose about one's own abilities,or alternatively feeling that you are a complete failure.

When they are having these kinds of experiences, people sometimes find it hard to concentrate on other things at the same time. They may appear distracted or perhaps 'talk back' to their voices (a strategy that some people find helpful). Others may talk in a way that other people find hard to follow, mentioning many apparently unrelated topics in quick succession. The medical term for this is 'thought disorder'.

At times, some people may appear unexpressive, withdrawn, listless, apathetic or unmotivated. They may find it difficult even to find the energy to prepare food for themselves or to wash.Psychiatrists refer to these difficulties as 'negative symptoms'.Tiredness and listlessness can also be side-effects of the drugs (e.g. chlorpromazine) which are almost always prescribed for people who have these experiences.

Experience of Psychosis

In 1986, at the age of 18 over a seven-month period, I was admitted three times to psychiatric hospital. Initially I had experienced sleep deprivation and was very confused holding some grandiose and paranoid beliefs. I believed the television and radio had interactive messages for me. I also believed I had unknowingly been a spy and that the world was like a combination of the books '1984', and 'Blade-runner'. Nothing was as it appeared with robotic surveillance pets and sinister tracking devices.

I also saw familiar faces in strangers' faces, which lead to further espionage theories. I believed that I was in danger of losing my ability to think freely and spontaneously, that I would become an automaton as I reached full adulthood.My concentration was extremely poor. I was in a high state of vigilance, fear and tension, leading to psychosomatic chest pains. I also entertained other more spiritual beliefs focussing on good and evil and having special powers of communication. Due to having a family history of psychosis, it was easier for clinicians to quickly make a diagnosis of schizophrenia.My parents were told I had schizophrenia and that I would need to take medication for the rest of my life.

Dr Rufus May – personal account

The experience of voices

When I was an inmate in the hospital I was very confused and sometimes suicidal. I was feeling very desperate and selfharming regularly. Throughout this time I was battling with the voices. They would shout 'Cut,cut,cut'. Staff got really angry with me when I cut myself and often ignored me, or greeted me with sarcastic comments. Once they sent me to the Accident and Emergency Department on my own. I was finding it hard to distinguish between what everyone else said was reality and the bombardment of the voices. The voices were making it difficult to do anything. The TV was talking to me. People were following me and they could see inside my head and read my thoughts. As I write, the voices often shout at me:'Stop writing,you stupid cow','Fat ugly cow','No-one's interested','Cut yourself,cut yourself,you know you should you know you should', over and over again.There is nothing good about the voices - they constantly bash me.The voices, now mainly male, have a powerful influence on my life – a punishing scary entity. They are usually there all of my waking hours. Before I speak I have to check out what I'm going to say with the voices. Most of the time they say I'm talking rubbish,so I have to choose something else – which is usually not right either.

Val – personal account

1.2 Individuals have individual experiences

As with all types of human experience, no one person's problems, or ways of coping with them, are exactly the same as anyone else's. Some people will have only one of these experiences, others more than one. Some people experience them on only one occasion, others from time-to time (for example during periods of stress), and others frequently.¹ Many people who have psychotic experiences also have other psychological, medical or social problems. It is not uncommon for people to have problems with alcohol or drug use, depression or anxiety as well as psychotic experiences. These can arise for the same complex reasons as for any other individual. The combination of psychotic experiences and such difficulties can, however, present further problems.

Many people who have these kinds of experiences do not come into contact with clinical psychologists or psychiatrists because they do not find their experiences distressing.² For example, many people hear voices talking to them when there is no-one there, but the voices say relatively pleasant or neutral things so this is not a problem.Other people do find the experiences distressing,but develop ways of coping with them on their own.³ Some people, however, are so distressed by their experiences that they seek professional help. Some come to the attention of professionals because other people consider their behaviour odd or abnormal.Only these last two groups of people who come into contact with mental health services are likely to be diagnosed as 'mentally ill'.

Part 1: Understanding mental illness (cont.)

1.3 Note on Terminology

There is considerable debate about the most helpful way of referring to the experiences described in this report. The different terms used by different people reflect the more general debate about the nature and causes of these experiences.That means that care must be taken to ensure that the terms used do not carry implications that are not intended.A further problem is that many commonly used words carry pejorative connotations.

Traditionally, psychotic experiences have been thought of as symptoms of 'mental illness' such as schizophrenia or manic depression, and the people who experience them have been referred to as 'patients' or 'sufferers'.More recently it has been suggested that there are other ways of thinking about these experiences, and that, therefore, medical terms are not always the only or best ones to use.

Throughout this report we have attempted to use terms which are as neutral as possible and do not imply a particular 'framework of understanding' (e.g.a medical one). We refer to the experiences in question as 'experiences' rather than as symptoms of an illness. We use the term 'people diagnosed with' rather than 'people with (for example) schizophrenia'. This is because we do not wish to give the impression that everyone agrees that there is an underlying illness, when in fact this assumption is debated. Finally, we refer to people who have these experiences as 'people', rather than as 'patients'. Of course, much of what has been written in this area previously has used a medical framework and has therefore used medical terminology. When describing this work we have used quotation marks round these terms.

We have avoided pejorative terms such as 'schizophrenics'. Not only do such terms assume the undisputed existence of physical illness, but in our view they also portray people as less than human.

One originally medical term for which no alternative is easily available, and which we have therefore used is 'psychotic'.Although this term is widely misused, it has a useful and specific meaning. Throughout the report we use 'psychotic experiences' as an umbrella term for unusual perceptions (e.g.hearing voices), or unusual beliefs. In both cases other people sometimes see the person as to some extent out of touch with reality.

Section 2: How common are these experiences?

Key Points:

- It is difficult to say how widespread these problems are, partly because of the way research has traditionally been conducted.
- Using medical definitions of the problems, about one person in one hundred is likely to receive a diagnosis of schizophrenia in their lifetime, and similarly about one person in one hundred is likely to receive a diagnosis of bipolar disorder (manic depression) in their lifetimes.
- 100,000 to 500,000 people in the UK today are likely to have been given a diagnosis of schizophrenia, and about 500,000 are likely to have been given a diagnosis of bipolar disorder (manic depression).
- It is clear that people's circumstances are very important. People from disadvantaged backgrounds, especially young men, seem at greatest risk of receiving a diagnosis of schizophrenia.
- Although the risks might vary, psychotic experiences may happen to anyone in circumstances of extreme stress.

2.1 How common is 'mental illness'?

As outlined elsewhere in this report, traditional psychiatric classifications of psychoses and serious mental illnesses are not necessarily consistent with psychological classifications and descriptions. In order to describe the issues involved, it may be useful to clarify the different roles of psychiatrists and clinical psychologists. Psychiatrists are medically trained doctors who specialise in mental health. Clinical psychologist have an academic training in psychology, and use this understanding of thought processes, emotion and behaviour to understand and help people with personal difficulties. Despite some differences, psychiatrists and clinical psychologists work closely together. Nevertheless, because of their training and background, psychiatrists tend

to understand mental health issues (including of course psychotic experiences) in terms of symptoms leading to diagnosis and treatment. Similarly, because of their training and background, clinical psychologists tend to see mental health issues and psychotic experiences as problems whose causes and solutions will be slightly different for each individual. Clinical psychologists have, therefore, questioned traditional classifications of psychological distress based on psychiatric diagnosis, and have begun to suggest alternatives.

Later in this report we will describe how psychologists have developed ways of describing and understanding psychological and emotional problems that do not involve the use of diagnosis.Nevertheless, at present, there have been few studies of the prevalence of psychotic experiences based on such approaches.In estimating how common such problems are we currently have to rely on research that looks at numbers of people with a certain diagnosis. The most frequent diagnoses given to people who experience psychotic problems are schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. Other diagnoses that people might have encountered are; paranoia, psychosis, psychotic illness, delusional disorder, schizoaffective disorder, manic depression and psychotic depression.

2.1.1 How many people are given the diagnosis of schizophrenia?

Different researchers have recorded different estimates of the incidence of schizophrenia using traditional medical definitions of the problem. Generally there is a consensus that about one person in a hundred will be diagnosed with schizophrenia during their lifetime.⁴ The prevalence of the disorder (a slightly different statistic reflecting not an individual's risk,but the proportion of people experiencing problems at any one time) is estimated at between 0.2 and 1 per cent.⁵ It tends first to be diagnosed in early adulthood (late teens and early twenties).⁶ This means that,in the UK,between 100,000 and 500,000 people are experiencing such problems at any one time.

Schizophrenia is usually reported as slightly more common,⁷ and possibly more severe,^{8,9} in men,although this may be in doubt.¹⁰ The majority of men who develop

Part 1: Understanding mental illness (cont.)

the problems that lead to a diagnosis of schizophrenia do so before the age of 25.¹¹ Women tend to develop problems about five years later, although there is a very high level of variability.

2.1.2 How common are the problems that lead to a diagnosis of bipolar disorder?

Figures for the prevalence and incidence of bipolar disorder (also known as manic depression), using traditional medical definitions of the problem are very similar to those for schizophrenia. Estimates for the lifetime risk of developing bipolar disorder range from 0.6 per cent¹² to 1.2 per cent.¹³ Again, this means that,in the UK,between 100,000 and 500,000 people will have this diagnosis.

2.1.3 Other diagnoses

Psychiatrists use a number of other diagnoses that are extremely similar to either schizophrenia or bipolar disorder. In general these refer to very similar problems.

People who become severely depressed sometimes have psychotic experiences (usually unusual beliefs – delusions – or hallucinations with very depressive content).Up to 3 per cent of men,and perhaps 4 to 9 per cent of women will be given a diagnosis of depression in its more general form.¹⁴ Psychotic features are however relatively uncommon,probably represent only some 10 to 20 per cent of inpatients with a diagnosis of depression,¹⁵ and most people, even if they attract such a label,are never admitted to hospital.

2.2 Social influences on the prevalence of mental illness

2.2.1 Problems that lead to a diagnosis of schizophrenia

Over the years, the diagnostic criteria for schizophrenia have frequently been revised in order to improve reliability. Following these revisions, very similar rates of the use of the diagnosis of schizophrenia have been revealed in America and the UK.^{16,17,18,19} Many different cultures have, it is claimed, terms roughly translatable as 'madness' that describe the common psychotic experiences.^{20,21}

However, the social environment generally is a vital part of the picture of many problems, including problems with both physical and mental health.²² People living in deprived inner-city areas are much more likely to be given a diagnosis of schizophrenia than people living in more affluent suburban areas.²³ Faris and Dunham's social isolation theory²⁴ suggested that poverty and social isolation were likely to trigger psychosis in vulnerable individuals.

A second theory, the social drift theory,²⁵ suggests that people who are given a diagnosis of schizophrenia might be born in any socio-economic environment. However, the development of psychotic experiences (and the effects of treatment) is likely to prove disadvantageous for social functioning and employment opportunities. People with such problems therefore are likely to drift into lower socio-economic circumstances and end up in poor housing and employment.What is clear is that poverty and the diagnosis of schizophrenia are related,but whether as cause or effect is unknown.

2.2.2 Problems that lead to a diagnosis of bipolar disorder

There have been a number of studies of the influence of social class on the frequency of the diagnosis of bipolar disorder²⁶. Unlike schizophrenia, these have not generally found that a diagnosis of bipolar disorder is associated with social disadvantages.

2.2.3 Psychotic experiences not attracting the attention of mental health services

A number of surveys have revealed that a sizeable proportion of the general population (including people who have never been thought of as meeting the diagnostic criteria for a mental illness) experience hallucinations. Perhaps as many as one in ten of the general public hear voices regularly.²⁷ If there are any factors that distinguish 'normal hallucinators' from people who come into contact with mental health services, these would appear to be the distress caused by the experience and the degree to which these experiences are seen as normal.²⁸ Similarly, a large proportion of the general population²⁹ holds beliefs that others might consider unusual or paranoid.

Psychotic experiences not attracting the attention of mental health services

'In the course of our experiment (an invitation to contact researchers after a television programme about hearing voices was broadcast in the Netherlands) we met a considerable number of men and women who heard voices but had never been psychiatric patients nor considered themselves mentally ill. Nor, for that matter, were they seen as mentally ill by their family and friends. When we first met these people in the wake of the TV programme, we were quite astounded because, like most psychiatrists and indeed most lay people, we were used to regarding people who hear voices as mentally distressed. We were forced to change our ideas when we were confronted with well-balanced,healthy people who simply happened to hear voices: voices which were not heard by those around them,and which they experienced as coming from outside.⁽³⁰⁾ Many people who have psychotic experiences feel that the experiences are very significant in their lives. Some people feel that the experiences have religious or spiritual significance. Some people explain their experiences in terms of supernatural or religious forces, or see the experiences as giving them a deeper understanding of or insight into the world.^{31,32}

Psychotic experiences and spiritual experiences

'There are people who have developed a very positive relationship with the experience of hearing voices, and have managed without any psychiatric treatment or support. They have adopted a theoretical frame of reference (such as parapsychology, reincarnation, metaphysics, the collective unconscious, or the spirituality of a higher consciousness) which connects them with others rather than isolating them: they have found a perspective that offers them a language in which to share their experiences. They enjoy a feeling of acceptance; their own rights are recognised, and they develop a sense of identity which can help them to make constructive use of their experiences for the benefit of themselves and others.⁽³³

Part 1: Understanding mental illness (cont.)

Section 3: Prognosis – course and outcome

Key Points:

- Many people assume that a diagnosis of a psychotic illness means that the individuals must resign themselves to a life of illness and disability. In fact, the course and outcome of psychotic experiences are very different for different people.
- Many people who have distressing psychotic experiences at some time in their lives never have them again, and less than a quarter remains permanently affected.
- Some people who continue to have psychotic experiences nonetheless manage to sustain a high quality of life. It is possible for people who experience enduring psychotic experiences to hold down a job or to enjoy lasting relationships.Many of the difficulties that people experience in these areas are products of stigmatisation, social isolation and poverty, rather than direct consequences of psychotic experiences.
- People have poorer outcomes if their spouses or family members are highly critical or overprotective.

3.1 Optimism

A diagnosis of a psychotic illness has often been viewed as a cause for pessimism. It is sometimes wrongly thought that psychotic experiences are permanent conditions, with either a recurring or deteriorating course and little hope for the long term. We have heard of instances when patients and their families have been told that there is no chance of recovery and that patients must resign themselves to a life of illness and disability.

In fact, outcome is a complex phenomenon. Each person may make progress, or continue to have problems, on a number of dimensions that are relatively independent of each other.³⁴ 'Clinical' outcome concerns whether or not someone continues to have psychotic experiences. Social outcome is measured in terms of the quality of the person's social relations. Occupational outcome refers to the person's ability to sustain employment. Sometimes people who continue to have severe and enduring psychotic experiences nonetheless have normal lives in all other respects, such as work and relationships. On the other hand, some people benefit from complete or partial recovery from psychotic experiences but continue to find it difficult to work (for example because of difficulty concentrating) or experience difficulties in other areas such as relationships. Many people find that the hardest part of recovery is overcoming prejudice, stigma, lowered expectations and the pressure to subscribe to a 'sick role'.³⁵

Optimism

'From a week into my second admission I was visited every day by the same friend,Catherine. She wasn't alienated by visiting a psychiatric hospital. This accepting and supportive approach was a very useful alternative story to most of my friends of the time who stayed away. Catherine recounts believing that the situation I was in was something I could get over. It was invaluable to have someone around who believed I could make a full recovery.'

'My recovery was about how to gain other people's confidence in my abilities and potential. The toughest part was changing other peoples' expectations.'

Dr Rufus May – personal account

3.2 Variability in outcomes

The course and outcome of psychotic experiences are highly unpredictable. Some people recover completely after only one episode, some people suffer from multiple episodes separated by periods of complete or partial recovery, and some remain continuously affected. Long term follow-up studies indicate that as many as a third of all people who have psychotic experiences completely recover, and that less than a quarter remain permanently affected.^{36,37,38} Most people might reasonably hope to recover either completely or partially after a psychotic episode. Many mental health workers,who by definition only come into contact with people who continue to need their help (or for those who need help only occasionally, at times when they need it) fall into the trap known as the 'clinician's illusion'. They assume that recovery is rare and that most service users are likely to be dependent on services for the rest of their lives.Likewise, although there are thousands of former service users who either no longer have psychotic experiences, or have found effective ways to cope with them and no longer need help from services, current service users rarely have the opportunity to meet them. Because of this both staff and service users are in danger of developing over-pessimistic views about the future.

Many people who continue to have psychotic experiences nonetheless manage to sustain a high quality of life. It is possible for people who experience enduring psychotic experiences to hold down a job and to enjoy lasting relationships. Many of the difficulties that people experience in these areas are products of stigmatisation, social isolation and poverty, rather than direct consequences of psychotic experiences.

The distinction between 'schizophrenia' and 'bipolar disorder' (manic depression) remains a matter of heated debate amongst clinical psychologists and psychiatrists. Outcomes for both diagnoses are enormously variable. On average, people with a classic 'bipolar' picture (that is, episodes of depression and mania with no hallucinations or delusions) have better outcomes than those with a classic 'schizophrenia' picture (hallucinations and delusions but no disturbance of mood).^{39,40} For people who experience a mixture of both types of problem,there is an intermediate probability of a good outcome.

3.3 Influences on outcome

In people with diagnoses of both schizophrenia and bipolar disorder, it is clear that outcome is influenced by social factors. In particular, there is good evidence that:

(a) Outcome is generally better in developing countries than in the industrialised nations.⁴¹ The cause of this difference is not known for certain. One possible reason seems to be that industrialised nations offer fewer socially valued roles for people with diagnoses of mental illnesses, leading to greater social exclusion.There may be stronger or more supportive social and family networks in the cultures of developing nations.It may also be the case that there is less stigma surrounding psychotic experiences in some developing countries.

(b) There is evidence that outcomes are less favourable for people who experience stressful relationships (especially with a spouse or with members of their family of origin) than people who enjoy less stressful relationships.⁴² In particular, people have poorer outcomes if their spouses or family members are highly critical or overprotective. This finding has been made both for people with a diagnosis of schizophrenia⁴³ and also for people with a diagnosis of bipolar disorder.⁴⁴

(c) There is also evidence that outcomes are better during periods of full employment compared with periods of economic recession.⁴⁵ This observation suggests that the opportunity to work and become a valued member of society is important.

Part 1: Understanding mental illness (cont.)

Section 4: Problems with 'diagnosis' in mental health

Key Points

- Experiences such as hearing voices, holding unusual beliefs and experiencing marked mood swings are usually thought of as symptoms of mental illnesses and are described using terms from psychiatry – hallucinations, delusions and mania.
- The most commonly used diagnoses are schizophrenia and bipolar disorder (manic depression).
- Psychiatric diagnoses are labels that describe certain types of behaviour and assign them to different categories. They do not tell you anything about nature or causes of the experiences. If care is not taken it may be assumed that diagnostic categories offer an explanation for unusual experiences, rather than merely a short-hand description.
- If diagnoses are 'valid', the symptoms should cluster together in a meaningful fashion. However this is not always the case. Many people who hear voices have no other symptoms of 'schizophrenia'. Many people have particular psychotic experiences once but never again, casting doubt on the usefulness of a diagnosis to predict a person's future mental health. Moreover, it does not always follow from a particular diagnosis which medication will be helpful for each individual.

4.1 Psychiatric Terminology

4.1.1 Symptoms

In psychiatric terms, the experiences discussed in Section 1 – hearing voices, holding unusual beliefs and experiencing marked mood swings are seen as 'symptoms' of underlying 'mental illnesses'. Therefore, the experiences themselves (hearing voices, holding unusual beliefs or experiencing marked mood swings) are thought of as symptoms, and referred to as hallucinations, delusions and mania respectively. These terms are useful to the extent that different professionals and members of the general public can communicate clearly. However, there are a number of problems with the diagnostic approach. These problems are described in this section.

4.1.2 Diagnoses

Again in traditional psychiatric terms, these 'symptoms' are thought of as manifestations of underlying mental illnesses. The most common diagnostic categories used to classify psychotic experiences are schizophrenia, schizo-affective disorder and bipolar disorder or manic-depression.^{46,47}

4.2 Benefits of diagnosis

Many people think that diagnoses serve some very useful purposes, including simplifying communication and permitting a relatively brief and straightforward means of describing complex difficulties. Diagnoses are also used by medically trained doctors as a means of deciding upon appropriate treatment. Some people find having a diagnosis reassuring, because it implies that they are not alone in having the experiences, and gives hope that professionals will be able to help.

4.3 Problems with diagnosis

The symptom-diagnosis approach to thinking about psychotic behaviour and experiences is well established. Psychiatric diagnoses are labels which describe certain types of behaviour, they do not tell us anything about nature or causes of the experiences. If care is not taken it may be assumed that diagnostic categories offer an explanation for unusual experiences, rather than merely a short-hand description.

The diagnostic approach has not been as useful as was hoped and has been the subject of much scrutiny and debate. In order to understand why, it is helpful to look at the validity of the assumptions underlying the idea and practice of diagnosis.

4.3.1 (un) reliability of diagnosis

The use of diagnostic categories involves two basic assumptions about consistency and usefulness. It is assumed, first, that people can be reliably assigned to a particular category – that two clinicians can agree on which category to use. Early research, however, showed that clinicians often disagreed about psychiatric diagnosis and that diagnostic practices differed from country to country.^{48,49} Clinicians have put a great deal of effort into improving the consistency of diagnosis, most notably through the publication of specific manuals which specify which symptoms an individual must have for a specific diagnosis to be made. The best-known example is the Fourth Edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of the American Psychiatric Association, (DSM-IV 1994).⁵⁰ However, these efforts have had only limited success in normal clinical practice.⁵¹

4.3.2 (in) validity of diagnosis

A second set of assumptions about diagnostic categories involves their validity – whether they can be said to be scientifically meaningful and useful. We can look at this issue in several ways.Ideally, the usefulness of a diagnostic category is shown by its ability to predict new observations that cast light on the causes of a person's symptoms. For example, a diagnosis of 'malaria' would suggest that the individual has suffered a viral infection, and even that the person has recently travelled to tropical countries. It also tells you which treatment is likely to help and what the prognosis is. Similar predictions have never been successfully made from any of the psychosis categories.

If a diagnosis is valid, it should predict prognosis. However, as explained above, the outcome for people with a diagnosis of schizophrenia is extremely variable^{52,53} and attempts to define a diagnostic group with a more uniform outcome have not been very successful.⁵⁴

Diagnoses should also indicate what treatments will be effective. However, responses to medication for 'schizophrenia' and 'bipolar disorder' are also variable. For example, drugs such as Largactil (known as 'neuroleptics' or 'antipsychotics') are often thought of as specific treatments for schizophrenia. But not all people with this diagnosis appear to benefit significantly while some people with a diagnosis of affective disorder (traditionally thought of as unrelated to 'schizophrenia') do benefit.^{55,56} The effectiveness of lithium,a drug traditionally used with people diagnosed as suffering from bipolar disorder, is similarly variable and non-specific. In one study, people were randomly assigned to either a neuroleptic, lithium, both or neither. It was found that drug response was related to specific problems but not diagnoses:delusions and hallucinations responded to the neuroleptic and mood swings responded to the lithium,irrespective of diagnosis.⁵⁷ Diagnostic categories are therefore of very limited use in predicting course or outcome.

Another way of examining the validity of diagnostic categories involves using statistical techniques to investigate whether people's psychotic experiences actually do cluster together in the way predicted by the diagnostic approach. The results of this research have not generally supported the validity of distinct diagnostic categories. For example⁵⁸ the correlation amongst psychotic symptoms has been found to be no greater than if the symptoms are put together randomly. Similarly,⁵⁹ cluster analysis – a statistical technique for assigning people to groups according to particular characteristics has shown that the majority of psychiatric patients would not be assigned to any recognisable diagnostic group. Statistical techniques have also highlighted the extensive overlap between those diagnosed with schizophrenia and those diagnosed as having major affective disorder.^{60,61}

The central issue in diagnosis is one of classification – the idea that particular psychological problems cluster together and can therefore be considered together. This has been termed 'carving nature at the joints'.⁶² This means that it is assumed that the problems called 'schizophrenia' are different from the problems called 'bipolar disorder' in the same way that birds are different from reptiles.On the basis of the evidence reviewed above, many psychologists believe that these distinctions are invalid, that diagnostic approaches to psychological problems do not reflect real 'joints' in nature.

Part 1: Understanding mental illness (cont.)

Section 5:A continuum between mental health and mental illness

Key Points:

- There is good reason to believe that mental health and 'mental illness' (and different types of mental 'illness') shade into each other and are not separate categories.
- There is evidence that psychotic experiences are more extreme expressions of traits present in the general population. There is a wide range of 'psychosisproneness'.
- Healthy, well functioning individuals sometimes have 'psychotic' experiences. For example, 10 to 15 per cent of the population have heard voices or experienced hallucinations at some point in their life. These are frequently triggered by extreme experiences such as sleep deprivation.
- It is probably appropriate to think in terms of 'stressvulnerability' when explaining psychotic experiences.
 People may have greater or lesser levels of vulnerability to this type of experience, which are triggered by greater or fewer numbers of stressful events experienced.
- In some cultures hearing voices and seeing visions is seen as a spiritual gift rather than as a symptom of mental illness.

5.1 A continuum from normality to psychosis

It has often been assumed that the behaviour and experiences of people who are placed in diagnostic categories such as 'schizophrenia' and 'bipolar disorder' are qualitatively different from 'normal' behaviour and experience. Research suggests that this assumption is false. It is often difficult to discriminate between 'normal' and 'abnormal' or psychotic experiences.

The view that there may be a thread of continuity between mental health and ill-health was already voiced at the beginning of the century,⁶³ but it is somewhat at odds

with traditional medical approaches, which view 'mental illnesses' as qualitatively separate from normality.

5.2 A continuum from normal to abnormal

A number of clinical psychologists⁶⁴ have suggested that psychotic symptoms lie on a continuum with normality, and are the severe expression of traits that are present in the general population.Individuals range from the conventionally 'normal', through various shades of eccentricity, to those who experience severely distressing psychotic experiences. Thus, the distinction between signs of mental illness (i.e. symptoms) and the expression of human individuality (i.e. traits) becomes blurred.The presence of psychotic-like traits in the normal population has been termed 'psychosis-proneness' or 'schizotypy'.

This continuum view is easily understood if one imagines other common experiences such as anxiety. Individuals differ on how anxious they are in general. This is an enduring characteristic of their personality, and is likely to be due to a combination of genetic factors and their upbringing. Only a minority of individuals will ever experience extremes of anxiety such as a series of panic attacks, which are recognised in the diagnostic textbooks as justifying a diagnosis of an anxiety 'disorder'. Similarly, the state of extreme suspiciousness known as 'paranoia' is on a continuum with the feelings of suspiciousness that we all feel from time to time. People differ in this regard: we all know people with whom we have to be very careful what we do or say lest they interpret it as an insult. Similarly, situations vary in their tendency to provoke suspiciousness. We have all been in situations where it makes sense to be extra vigilant, and in such situations it is easy to be frightened by even the most innocent things.

Continuum with normality

I remember the time period just before other people became concerned about me. I was not sleeping very well and was daydreaming at work a lot. This daydreaming allowed me to escape from a dreary job and a generally depressing set of circumstances. On one occasion I had to deliver a parcel by train from London to Manchester. At Euston Station I lost my train ticket, minutes before departure. At the time I wondered to

myself whether a man who moments earlier had brushed by me had pick-pocketed me. As the departure whistle blew I decided to run around the barrier and managed to jump on to the guard's carriage as the train was moving off. Thinking that train officials might have seen me do this, I went into the train toilet and changed my appearance in order to avoid recognition. I used water to restyle my hair and changed my clothing as much as I could by putting my shirt on over my sweatshirt. I spent the rest of the journey using my wits to avoid the ticket collector. This was an exciting experience that had echoes of spy stories I had enjoyed when I was younger. I began to wonder if another passenger sitting near me was actually a plain-clothes train detective. I then returned to toying with spy scenarios. What if my feelings of being a spy really were true? I went back over the things that had happened. What if the pick pocketing was a test of how resourceful I could be if I had to deliver important documents in difficult circumstances? What if the company I worked for was actually a secret government agency? Maybe I was not an office dogsbody at the beginning of a dull career but an apprentice spy! On the return journey I came back down to earth when a diligent ticket collector insisted on waiting until I had vacated the train toilet. He decided to let me off the fine when I told him I was just an office junior.

This is an example of a kind of mental escapism that I started to indulge in more and more when I was alone and bored. From this time on I was increasingly to enter an imaginary world that quickly became more powerful and more real. In a matter of weeks I was admitted to psychiatric hospital and diagnosed as being in an acute psychotic state.

Dr Rufus May – personal account

Substantial evidence has accrued in favour of the idea that psychotic experiences are on a continuum with normality. So-called 'schizotypal' traits have been described which are believed to have similarities with thought processes observed in psychotic experiences. These can be measured in 'normal' individuals by the use of questionnaires.⁶⁵ Such questionnaire studies have demonstrated that there is a wide range of scores in the normal population, and that schizotypal traits tend to form clusters similar to different sorts of psychotic experiences (for example delusions and hallucinations).⁶⁶ Moreover, individuals who score highly on such scales resemble individuals with psychotic experiences on a number of psychological measures, such as measures of attention and reasoning.⁶⁷ Recent psychiatric research has indicated that a dimensional approach to psychotic experiences can be more useful in terms of understanding and planning care than a categorical system.⁶⁸

5.3 The normality of abnormal experiences

So-called 'abnormal' experiences can be seen in healthy, wellfunctioning individuals. For instance, 10 to 15 per cent of the normal population have had a hallucination at some point in their lives.⁶⁹ Recent studies show that 'psychotic-like' experiences are 50 times more prevalent than the narrower, medical concept of 'schizophrenia'.⁷⁰ Extreme circumstances, such as sensory or sleep deprivation, have been shown to lead to various disturbances, including paranoia and hallucinations.⁷¹ There are individuals who have 'strange' experiences (such as visions, auditory hallucinations, or profound spiritual experiences) and which are conceptualised as spiritually enriching.^{72,73} There is a huge diversity in what is considered an appropriate expression of distress in different cultures. Indeed, different cultures vary on whether particular experiences are seen as signs of 'mental illness', as normal (religious and spiritual beliefs and beliefs about spirit possession), or even as 'spiritual gifts' which are to be revered to some degree (such as in the case of 'Shamen'⁷⁴). These findings suggest that although psychotic 'symptoms' can, for some individuals, be extremely distressing and disabling, it is also possible to have unusual experiences that are not necessarily noxious, and may even be adaptive and life enhancing.⁷⁵

5.4 Alternatives to diagnosis

Given the problems of diagnosis outlined above, clinical psychologists have suggested alternative approaches.

5.4.1 Symptom approach

Many researchers have argued that the problems of diagnosis can be overcome by focusing on specific experiences and behaviours (symptoms, in medical terminology). In Britain, in particular, considerable progress has recently been achieved in understanding specific

Part 1: Understanding mental illness (cont.)

psychological mechanisms that can lead to unusual beliefs, hallucinations and difficulties in communication.⁷⁶

5.4.2 Psychological formulations

In order to understand and explain people's experiences, clinical psychologists have developed the approach termed 'formulation'.^{77,78}

Psychological formulations are a way of helping people to make sense of their difficulties in a way that is meaningful to them. They comprise a statement of what the person sees as the problem (or problems), how these might have come about, and what is keeping them going^{79,80}. Problems will usually be expressed in terms of what the person experiences (such as unhappiness, hearing voices, not functioning well at work, or fearing that people are trying to harm them) rather than in terms of 'symptoms' observed by others.⁸¹

Psychological Formulations

'The questions people put to me made me reflect on the voices I heard,which I had never really thought about. I was surprised to discover a pattern – whenever I think negatively, I find myself hearing a negative voice.⁷⁸²

Clinical psychologists also attempt to develop, in collaboration with the client, ideas about what things might have led to the development of these problems. For this reason, formulations are very individual; tailored for each person and relevant to their specific problems. Typically, a formulation will examine what events have happened in a person's life, and how they have interpreted and reacted to these. This can help the person to see that some of their problems have not just come 'out of the blue' but may be an understandable response to their circumstances. Even when it is not possible to pinpoint one particular cause, worker and client can explore together what might be maintaining the problem. For example, a vicious circle may be going on where the person's fear about what their experiences might mean is keeping them in a highly aroused state, which in turn leads to more psychotic experiences. An example might be the fear that hearing voices means that they are going mad or are possessed by a demon. Formulations tend to change as the psychologists and their clients learn more about the problems. Formulations are designed to be 'best guesses' about the problems, and these guesses are tested out over time^{83,84}. The process of developing a formulation is collaborative. Psychologist and client work together to develop a picture of the problems and a joint theory as to what has caused them, and what might help.

Psychological case formulations are complex. Clinical psychologists draw on a large variety of psychological theories, each drawing on scientific research⁸⁵. Although individual case formulation will not draw on all this research,each person may have a range of interrelated psychological difficulties. Training is essential,and professional bodies such as the British Psychological Society's Division of Clinical Psychology endeavour to guard the competence of practitioners.

Part 2: Causes

Section 6: The complexity of psychotic experiences

Key Points:

- Very many things have been proposed as possible causes of psychotic experiences.
- Generally, these proposed causes of psychotic experiences have been divided into factors within the psychological make-up of the individual,social and environmental factors, and biological factors.
- All of these factors are important, and interact with one another.
- Because there is a very close relationship between 'mind' and 'brain', it is very difficult to draw clear lines between psychological and biological factors.Biological and psychological causes of psychotic experiences can be more or less important for different people.
- Even when we know more, the nature and causes of psychotic experiences will remain complex and mulitifactorial.
- Sometimes psychotic experiences can be triggered by something relatively minor, but are maintained by some kind of vicious circle, involving the person's situation or their reaction to the experience.

6.1 Possible causes

An enormous range of things have been proposed as possible causes of psychotic experiences. It has been suggested that everything known to affect human behaviour has been proposed as a cause of psychotic experiences⁸⁶, from cat fleas, through the phases of the moon to contaminated bread.

Generally, the enormous range of possible or proposed causes of psychotic experiences has been divided into broad categories. Many people will have heard of the 'nature – nurture' debate. This refers to the consideration of the relative contributions made by genetic or biological factors as opposed to upbringing and experience on human behaviour. Of course this debate also occurs with respect to the causes of psychotic experiences.Factors within the psychological make-up of the individual,social and environmental factors, and biological factors are all likely to play roles in the development of such experiences.Different factors will be more or less important for different individuals.

6.2 Interactions between causes

Of course, all of these factors are important; all three of these broad classes of possible causes of psychotic experiences (psychological, social and biological) are important and interact with each other. An interaction might mean, for example, that a person could have a biological makeup such that she tends to become more physically aroused in stressful situations, and unfortunately be exposed to more stressful events over her lifetime. If extremely unlucky, she might also have a psychological makeup such that she is likely to interpret certain situations in a negative light. Of course, this tendency might itself be at least partly a result of the stressful events she has experienced.

There is also a very close relationship between 'mind' and 'brain', in that every thought is both a brain-based event and a human experience. This means that it is very difficult to draw clear lines between biological and psychological factors. It is also true that biological and psychological aspects can be more or less important for different people. For some people, it appears likely that biological factors are most important in the development of their psychotic experiences. For others social or psychological factors, or the events they experience, seem more important. Often there is little point in trying to identify one cause; the trigger can be something relatively minor, but the person's reaction or environment sets up a vicious circle that causes the problem to escalate. An example might be the way in which fears of 'going mad' might make hearing voices a more terrifying and distressing experience⁸⁷.

The attempt to explain the causes of psychotic experiences is a controversial topic. It is a philosophical as

well as an empirical question.Different professions have slightly different (but equally legitimate) perspectives, and even within professions, different individuals will have different views. Traditionally, psychiatry has taken a more biological tack, reflecting the medical basis of the profession. This pattern is changing, however. Some psychiatrists are rapidly becoming more focused on social issues.Many are becoming champions of Cognitive Behaviour Therapy (a form of psychological therapy) and are therefore increasingly examining psychological causes of their patients' distress.

Similarly, clinical psychology has a tradition of seeing distress (including psychotic experiences) as stemming principally from aspects of an individual's psychological make-up. Increasingly clinical psychologists are developing a stance that sees things more in terms of interactions as described above. Thus clinical psychologists recognise influences of biology on the way in which people interpret events in their lives, as well as emphasising how apparently reflex or 'natural' processes can be influenced by expectation or experience. They are also becoming increasingly aware of the impact of the social environment on the development of psychotic experiences.

Clearly the nature and causes of psychotic experiences will remain complex and mulitifactorial even when we know more. Over time, we will learn more about the different causes, and how they interact. A single cause of 'schizophrenia' will not suddenly be identified.

Moreover, even in the highly unlikely event that the cause of any one person's psychotic experience was ever to be known with scientific clarity, this truth would not hold for everyone. Clinical psychologists therefore respect the individual's own experience and perspective.

6.3 A psychological perspective

In order to try to make some sense out of this complexity, clinical psychologists attempt to focus on the way in which people make sense of their experiences.

Psychologists tend to assume that people who report

psychotic experiences are either having unusual perceptual experiences (that is they are experiencing things like hallucinations that are, in themselves, unusual) or are interpreting normal experiences in an unusual way (perhaps having strange intrusive thoughts that appear alien).Of course, it is entirely possible that both events are occurring.

Clinical psychologists then attempt to account for why people might have unusual experiences and why they might interpret things in an unusual way. Unusual experiences sometimes occur for medical or biochemical reasons – people can become delirious when ill and can hallucinate when they have taken street drugs. For some people it is possible that physical problems with the structure or functioning of the brain might lead to abnormal experiences. Physical influences like street drugs can also create unusual experiences. For other people, psychotic experiences might arise from misinterpretations of normal events. For instance, it is possible that paranoia (the belief that people are trying to harm you) might develop if you tend to read malevolent intent into other people's behaviour. It is also possible that you might begin to believe that aliens are talking to you if you misinterpret your internal speech as not being your own (you might be talking to yourself without realising it, but feel as if someone else is doing the talking). Psychologists are interested in why these sorts of interpretations of events might develop.

Experience and research in a wide range of psychological problems such as depression and anxiety have clearly demonstrated that traumatic, abusive or unpleasant events during a person's childhood can affect the way that the person interprets information later in life. An example might be people who grow up in a school environment where they are persistently bullied. Those people might develop beliefs that they were worthless, that other people are likely to harm them, and that the world is a callous and unfeeling place. There is evidence that many people who have psychotic experiences have experienced abuse or trauma at some point in their lives⁸⁸.

Abuse and trauma

'Mad people hear voices, not me. Jenny was the first voice – she was good, a comfort.But then, after a while, she stopped being safe, being fun,and she started to shout at me. She became a torment.'

'When I was four (or five) my brother started sexually abusing me. It started off as an innocent, even reciprocal, relationship.It started as an innocent act of morning cuddles, until I accidentally called him 'daddy'. My father died when I was a baby. My brother got very angry – so angry I cried – and said my father's death was my fault and the abuse was my punishment. It was about this time, I think, that Jenny started to hate me, and other voices appeared. My brother said that if I told of what was going on, my mother would hate me, that she would think I was dirty – reinforcing what I already believed about myself. I was, and still am, terrified of her rejection.'

Val – personal account

Further research in these areas is undoubtedly needed. Clinical psychologists do, however, have the knowledge at present to make some conclusions about biological and psychological factors in psychotic experiences,together with the role of the social environment, and to offer a framework that could link these.

Section 7: Biological factors in psychotic experiences

Key Points:

- Physical things such as brain tumours or taking street drugs can occasionally cause psychotic experiences. However, for the majority of psychotic experiences, research into genetics,brain chemistry, the physical environment and brain structure has not led to definite conclusions about physical causes.
- Genetics: It is true that psychotic experiences appear to 'run in families'. However research findings are a subject of debate. It is likely that many different genes are associated with a vulnerability to general traits, which may be more distantly related to psychotic experiences.
- Brain chemistry:Drugs that reduce levels of a brain chemical called dopamine can help reduce psychotic experiences.Although interesting,this does not necessarily mean dopamine abnormalities cause psychosis.
- Brain structure:Particular brain structures, the lateral ventricles, are often larger in people who have psychotic experiences. We do not know if this represents a cause of the psychotic experiences or a result of the drugs that were prescribed.
- The environment:Researchers have also looked at the possible effect of the environment on the biology of the brain. They have examined such things as difficulties during birth or the effect of viruses in the womb. No firm conclusions can be drawn.
- It is clear that psychotic experiences involve brain events, and can be influenced by chemical processes.It is important to remember, however that every single thought we have involves chemical changes in the brain.

Biological causes of psychotic experiences

It is widely assumed that psychotic experiences have some kind of biological cause, although precisely what this is may not yet be clear. Such views have become more prominent over the last two decades, and tend to be reported uncritically by the media.

The stress-vulnerability model (which will be described further later in this report) suggests that both psychological and biological factors may leave some people more vulnerable than others to environmental stressors. Although this is not, in itself, an explanation for psychotic experiences, it can help us to understand how both biological and psychological factors may contribute to problems.

There are clearly cases in which psychotic experiences are attributable to biological factors such as brain tumours, taking street drugs or illnesses like Alzheimer's disease. However, the evidence is weaker than is sometimes claimed that such factors play a role in causing similar experiences in the vast majority of people with diagnoses of schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. Current theories can be grouped under four main headings:

7.1.1 Genetics

Genetic factors are likely to be important, but should not be thought of as providing a complete causal explanation for psychotic experiences. Evidence for a genetic element to psychotic experiences comes mainly from studies that compare identical and non-identical twins and from adoption studies that compare the biological and adoptive relatives of people who were subsequently given a diagnosis of schizophrenia or bipolar disorder.

The closer the biological relationship, the greater the risk of a relative also having the diagnosis. The best estimate is that the risk of being given a diagnosis of schizophrenia is 46 per cent for the child of two parents with the diagnosis, 13 per cent for the child of one parent with the diagnosis, and 9 per cent for siblings. This is compared to the overall risk of 1 per cent for the general population⁸⁹. Similar findings have been reported for a genetic contribution to bipolar disorder⁹⁰. It is clear that psychotic experiences tend to 'run in families'. However this is not necessarily due to genetic causes. There are numerous problems in trying to disentangle genetic inheritance from environmental factors such as upbringing. In the studies relating to 'schizophrenia',doubts have been raised about methods of determining the genetic similarity of the twins, the length of time adopted children had spent with their families of origin, and the mental health status of some of the adoptive families^{91,92}. Some reviewers have identified more serious flaws that cast doubt on the validity of the data. Examples of these flaws include; terms such as 'schizophrenia spectrum' rather than diagnoses made according to agreed criteria, making diagnoses on the basis of third-party reports, and using dubious methods for calculating the frequency with which siblings share diagnoses93,94,95,96,97.

Another, more high-tech, approach is the attempt to identify family patterns of genetic markers for particular diagnoses.Reports of breakthroughs – for example, of an abnormal cluster of genes on chromosome 5 that predisposes to 'schizophrenia⁹⁸ – have not been replicated.

A major recent study from Finland compared the adopted children of mothers with a diagnosis of schizophrenia with a group of adopted children whose biological mothers did not have the diagnosis⁹⁹. The first group was found to be more likely to contain people with more severe diagnoses, including that of schizophrenia. However, clear differences between the two groups were only found where the adoptive families were rated as 'disturbed'. All children. even those who were believed to be carrying some genetic vulnerability, did well in 'healthy' adoptive families. In other words, families seemed to play a crucial role both in increasing, and protecting against, genetic risk. It was noted that this genetic risk may well consist of a 'nonspecific' predisposition, a kind of general sensitivity to the environment, which leads to the development of serious psychopathology only under unfavourable psychological circumstances.'100.

In summary, genetic factors may be important in a very general sense, but the existence of a specific genetic component to the various psychoses is not as clearly established as is sometimes reported. Most of the studies reported are evidence for a combination of genetic and environmental influences. There may be relevant nonspecific hereditary factors such as temperamental sensitivity.

7.1.2 Biochemical theories

It has been argued that if genetic factors do have a role in causing people to have psychotic experiences, they do so through biochemical abnormalities. The dopamine hypothesis – the theory that schizophrenia may result from overproduction of the neurotransmitter (brain chemical) dopamine – has been extensively researched over the last 20 years. This theory is based on two observations. First, some neuroleptic ('anti-psychotic') drugs affect the chemical dopamine and can induce Parkinsonism (abnormal movements similar to those seen in Parkinson's Disease). Parkinsonism is known to be related to low dopamine levels. Second, drugs such as amphetamines, which increase dopamine production, can also produce psychotic-like experiences.

However, neither of these statements allows us to draw definite conclusions about cause. The first argument (about the effect of dopamine-influencing medication) is rather like arguing that headaches are caused by lack of aspirin.Nor does the theory explain why symptoms improve only gradually on neuroleptic medication, although the drugs have an immediate effect on dopamine in the brain.Secondly, the possibility that taking amphetamines CAN lead to psychotic experiences does not mean that chemicals (whether taken as drugs or already existing in the brain) are their only or main cause.

The new 'atypical' neuroleptics such as clozapine affect a different neurotransmitter – serotonin – rather than dopamine. Researchers are now investigating the possible role of serotonin in psychotic experiences.

Similar arguments have been made about the role of neurotransmitters (especially serotonin and noradrenalin)

in producing the extreme changes in mood and activity that lead to a diagnosis of bipolar disorder.

It should be noted that, even if a reliable relationship between a biochemical abnormality and a particular mental state (such as hallucinations) were found, this would not necessarily tell us anything about cause and effect.It may be the case that the experience leads to biochemical changes.It is also possible that some third factor, such as medication usually given to help people experiencing hallucinations,may be responsible for the chemical changes observed.At present,our knowledge of the biochemistry of psychotic experiences (and indeed of the biochemistry of most other forms of human experience) is extremely limited,and we are not in a position to make any firm statements about biochemical causes.

7.1.3 Environmental theories

The fact that people with a diagnosis of schizophrenia are more likely to have been born in the early months of the year has been put forward as evidence for some environmental influence at work.Difficulties during birth and exposure to viruses in the womb have also been suggested as factors,but so far such hypotheses remain speculative.

7.1.4 Brain structure

Research has also examined possible abnormalities in brain structure or function.A recent,detailed, overview of such studies¹⁰¹ noted that findings were complex and often contradictory, with the only well-established structural abnormality being enlarged lateral ventricles (fluid-filled spaces within the brain).

More recent technological approaches have examined patterns of blood flow and patterns of electrical activity in the brain^{102,103}. The results suggest that different types of psychotic experiences are associated with different patterns of activity. In particular, low levels of activity in the frontal lobes of the brain have been observed in people experiencing 'negative symptoms' (see Section 1). However, the differences between people with and without a history of psychotic experiences are usually modest, with a large overlap between the groups. In most studies the people with a history of psychotic experiences have also taken powerful medication for many years, and this is not always taken into account. It is also possible that life experiences, psychological trauma, severe distress, and psychotic experiences may themselves leave physical traces on the brain, as well as the other way round¹⁰⁴. For instance, recent research has indicated that practice at complex memory tasks actually makes parts of the brain grow in size. Brain scans of London taxi-drivers, who have to learn an enormous amount of information about the London streets ('the knowledge'), show enlargement of certain brain structures¹⁰⁵.

A complete list of all the factors that have been identified as potential causes of psychotic experiences would cover every aspect of biological functioning. Recent reviews of research in this area concluded that: 'Although the concept of schizophrenia has been in existence for nearly a century ... there has been no identification of any underlying causal pathology'¹⁰⁶. 'Few findings stand the test of time, most of the pieces of this particular jigsaw appear to be missing, and it is not easy to make sense of those that are available. Even 'hard' scientific findings fail to be replicated'¹⁰⁷.

7.2 Problems with biological research

An enormous amount of research has examined possible physical causes of psychotic experiences. This research has yielded some interesting findings, but no definitive conclusions can yet be drawn. Work in understanding biological influences on psychotic experiences may have been hampered by a number of problems:

- The use of unreliable and invalid diagnoses. If diagnoses are misleading, real physical processes that are related to only some of the psychotic experiences might be hidden.
- The fact that two things happen together does not mean that one has caused the other. Few studies have made this distinction.

- The effects of complicating factors (such as medication) have not always been taken into account.
- It has often been assumed from the outset that the reason for these experiences is likely to be a biological one and so other possible reasons have not been investigated.

It has often been assumed that there is likely to be just one cause. It is of course possible (indeed likely) that a number of things need to come together for someone to have these kinds of experiences. For example, someone may have an inherited sensitive temperament but only have psychotic experiences if at some point in their life they experience extreme stress.

There are, of course, biological and brain events that correlate with all aspects of our mental functioning. This is equally true for 'normal' and 'abnormal' experiences. However, it is incorrect therefore to conclude that biological abnormalities are the primary causes of a complex range of experiences. The undoubted existence of biological aspects to our experiences does not in itself justify categorising them as medical illnesses.

Few people would wish to deny that there may be some kind of inherited tendency to break down under stressful conditions. It is the nature of this tendency that is under dispute. It is likely that it may be a widely-distributed and non-specific trait such as temperamental sensitivity.

7.3 Conclusions

The evidence for specific biological mechanisms underlying psychotic experiences is inconclusive. It may, in fact be unproveable, at least if the search continues in its present form and based upon its present assumptions. Some individuals may well be more sensitive to environmental stressors than others, and this will inevitably be reflected in some way at the level of brain chemistry. However, this falls far short of the definition of a biologically-based medical illness.

The widespread acceptance that diagnoses such as 'schizophrenia' and 'manic-depression' refer to biological illnesses has,however, contributed to a climate in which the main,or only, treatment tends to be medication, with psychosocial factors given relatively less emphasis. This in turn has meant that psychological approaches to helping, such as talking treatments have often been unavailable.

Section 8: Life circumstances and psychotic experiences

Key Points:

- There is evidence that psychotic experiences can sometimes follow major events in someone's life, either negative (for example bereavement) or positive (for example winning the lottery).
- Many people who have psychotic experiences have experienced abuse or trauma at some point in their lives.
- The possible role of family relationships in the development of psychotic experiences has been a subject of debate over the last 40 years. For obvious reasons this has been an area of great controversy, with strong feelings on both sides.
- There is evidence that, if people who have had mental health problems live in a calm and relaxed home atmosphere, their problems are less likely to return.

8.1 Beyond traditional medical views of psychotic experiences

The traditional psychiatric assumption – that psychotic experiences are evidence of a biological 'illness' such as schizophrenia – has had a long legacy, and there are still many professionals who consider that biological factors are the most important areas to investigate in psychotic experiences.

More recently, however, there has been more interest in the possible effect of environmental factors such as cultural influences,traumatic or 'life events',family factors and societal influences such as stigma and 'labelling' on psychotic experiences.(See Section 5.4.2 on formulations.)

8.2 Stress-vulnerability model

As in most areas of human life, research into the causes of psychotic experiences indicates that both biological and environmental factors are important.As might be expected, these two broad types of factors interact. Moreover, no one single cause has been identified, and it is likely that many aspects of an individual's life are significant in producing psychotic experiences.

This idea has been described as the 'stress-vulnerability' model¹⁰⁸. In the stress-vulnerability model, it is suggested that everybody has a different level of vulnerability to the development of psychotic experiences. People are believed to be more or less vulnerable as a result of both biological factors (which could well be the result of either genetic factors or biological changes following birth) and psychological factors (for instance, being very sensitive – or resilient – to stress in a psychological rather than biological sense). Sensitivity to particular stresses may, of course, be at least partly a result of events that have happened previously in the person's life.

In the stress-vulnerability model, it is suggested that vulnerability will result in the development of problems only when environmental stresses are present. If the vulnerability is great, relatively low levels of environmental stress might be enough to cause problems. If the vulnerability is lower – the individual is more resilient – problems will develop only when higher levels of environmental stress are experienced.

This model explains why some people develop problems and others do not, even when they go through similar traumas. It explains why extreme stress can lead to psychotic experiences in almost anyone. It helps explain why some people recover from psychotic experiences faster than others, and are less likely to experience a reoccurrence of their problems. It also offers the continuing possibility of recovery over time; as even those with the most difficult problems may be able to avoid or reduce the likelihood of further episodes by finding ways of reducing their exposure to situations that they find particularly stressful. The model also acknowledges the idea of psychotic experiences being on a continuum with other psychological problems such as anxiety. Finally, it also tries to explain the fact that people who are prone to psychotic experiences may have long periods of recovery, but may develop new difficulties ('relapse') at various times.

8.3 Cultural factors

It is unclear whether people in all countries are equally likely to have psychotic experiences. However, the World Health Organisation has reported that psychotic experiences occur in many different cultures, and appear at least superficially to be similar even when the cultures are very different¹⁰⁹. People in different cultures describe psychological problems in different ways. For instance, in some cultures, some psychological problems might be described in terms of physical pain or discomfort, in other cultures such experiences are described using emotional terms such as fears or anxiety. Cultural patterns may also influence the ways individuals explain their experiences. Unpleasant or upsetting experiences are often explained using the common cultural beliefs ('ghosts','the devil', 'space aliens' or 'evil eye'). Sometimes explanations used by people from ethnic minorities can be misinterpreted as psychosis if the context is not understood. In some cultures, for example, many people believe in the possibility of being possessed by demons. Sometimes someone's belief that he or she is possessed might be wrongly thought to be a psychotic or 'delusional' belief.

8.3.1 Racism

People of African Caribbean origin living in the UK are three times more likely to receive a diagnosis of schizophrenia than are white people¹¹⁰. It has been suggested that the racism and social exclusion which black people living in Britain often experience may increase the likelihood of developing psychotic experiences¹¹¹. These sociocultural aspects of vulnerability to psychosis are likely to have much in common with other experiences of abuse and marginalisation and require further investigation.Black people are also more likely to receive a diagnosis of schizophrenia than white people even if the experiences they describe are the same¹¹².

8.4 Life events

We all deal with many stressful events in our lives; birth, death, divorce, moving house, taking an exam. Such life events are generally thought to be stressful even if they are positive; even winning the lottery could produce stressful life changes. At their worst, life events can either be traumatic, or shade into ongoing

'hassles', or chronic stresses (such as overworking, poor relationships or ongoing financial problems).

Life events

Resi Ottespeer is 15 and lives with her parents in a small hamlet.She has heard voices for a year. She also hears knocking and loud, thumping music. The voices she hears are as loud as real voices. They forbid her to do things and they comment on her drawings – they tell her they look awful, like the drawings of a whore. They also want her to harm or sometimes kill herself. The voices confuse her so much that it is difficult for her to concentrate at school, so she does not want to go any more. She hears them all the time: they are in control and Resi does not want to contradict them. Her voices started when a policeman interviewed her at the police station after she was raped by a boy with the aid of two of his friends.She recalls that the policeman was kind but the questions he asked were 'nasty'. Her voices belong to a group of boys aged 16 to 20, the age group of her assailants.¹¹³

Many people who have psychotic experiences have experienced abuse or trauma at some point in their lives. They are also likely to have experienced a greater number of stressful events in the 6 months before an episode^{114,115,116}. It appears that stress is associated with the onset of psychotic symptoms in vulnerable individuals, and once someone has experienced a psychotic episode, high levels of stress make it more likely that the problems will return.

8.5 Family relationships.

The idea that families cause psychotic experiences,or more specifically that parents are responsible if their children have psychotic experiences,was popular in the 1960s.A term 'schizophrenogenic (schizophrenia-causing) mother' was even developed.

Recent research has suggested that, as with other problems, difficult family relationships in childhood and adolescence may be an important contributing factor for some people, but not all. It is unlikely that we will ever be able to say with any certainty exactly which combination of

factors, in what proportions, has caused any one individual to develop psychotic experiences at a particular time.

However, research has revealed an important role the family can play in helping in the recovery of a person with psychotic experiences. In particular, attitudes of friends and relatives towards the person, and how they understand and react to the person's experiences are very important. They can also influence the extent to which the person is able to recover.

Family relationships

'As a result of the conference (a national conference of people who hear voices, many of whom have no contact with mental health services),both my parents and my husband came to accept my voices, and this made my life much easier. Also, my social life has improved,because people around me now realise that sometimes – because of the voices – I am not open to communication with them.My family are more supportive towards me and accept me more readily when I behave differently.¹¹⁷

The evidence is now fairly clear, and has been repeated on many occasions, that family members' attitudes can affect the outcome for people diagnosed with schizophrenia or bipolar disorder^{118,119}. There are two important aspects to this. The first is that friends and relatives occasionally find dealing with some of the problems that can be associated with psychotic experiences (particularly embarrassing, socially disruptive or socially withdrawn behaviour) frustrating and difficult, and sometimes become critical or actively hostile towards the individual. The second reaction is to find the changes very upsetting and to try to look after the person rather as if they were a child again. While this 'emotionally over-involved' reaction is understandable and can be helpful in the short term, during recovery it can lead to dependence in the individual and exhaustion in the carer. Either or both of these attitudes in carers (i.e. criticism or over-involvement) have been described as 'High Expressed Emotion'. If they become extreme, they have been found to lead to poorer outcome and an increased likelihood of a return of psychotic experiences. In contrast, people living in more supportive, tolerant, low Expressed

Emotion environments tend to have a lower likelihood of a return of psychotic experiences, better social functioning, and better outcome.

Perhaps unsurprisingly, relatives who find caring particularly stressful also tend to have high levels of Expressed Emotion^{120,121}. The way someone's psychotic experiences are understood and explained by their friends, relatives and other people helping them is very important, and can help determine the extent to which they are able to recover¹²².

8.5.1 Staff relationships

Not all carers are relatives; some individuals live in hostels, for example, and have important relationships with staff and other carers. It has been found that both relatives and staff carers find the same problems difficult (disruptive behaviour and social withdrawal).Up to 40 per cent demonstrate high levels of Expressed Emotion, mainly criticism¹²³. Clearly any relationship, whether with family or staff, can be problematic. It is important to remember that this is true not only for psychotic experiences but also in a wide range of other long term and ongoing difficulties, such as depression, epilepsy, and even obesity.

8.6 Conclusion

Research over the last few decades has shown that psychotic experiences are influenced by social and psychological factors as well as biological ones. When psychological, social and biological factors interact, especially when stresses occur, psychotic experiences can be the result. This is termed the 'stress-vulnerability' model.

One important factor in determining the extent to which someone is able to recover, and the rate at which they recover, is their social environment. The most frequently researched influences are those found in family settings, and successful interventions have been developed which can improve those relationships for carers and for individuals.Although family therapy has been proved to be effective, it is not widely and routinely available as yet. There is a powerful argument that it should be.

Section 9: Psychological factors in psychotic experiences

Key Points:

- Psychological models of psychotic experiences focus on patterns of thought that are associated with these phenomena.
- Psychological researchers have studied two quite distinct types of problems:deficits (impaired thought processes) and biases – where people's experiences have led them to interpret the world in particular ways. Many psychotic experiences are thought to involve a combination of the two.
- There is evidence that people with a diagnosis of schizophrenia tend to have difficulties with various aspects of attention.
- People who have psychotic experiences sometimes appear to have difficulty understanding what other people might be thinking, at least when they are distressed.
- Unusual beliefs are often associated with an increased tendency to jump to rapid conclusions.Paranoia is associated with the tendency to believe that the bad things that happen are the fault of other people.
- Hearing voices often appears to be the result of difficulties distinguishing one's own, normal,inner speech from the words of other people.
- Incoherent speech ('thought disorder') appears to reflect a general difficulty in adjusting conversations to the needs of the listener. It is often associated with high levels of arousal or agitation.
- Mania is a term used to describe a combination of increased activity or agitation, incoherent speech and, usually, a combination of euphoria, depression and irritability. These experiences are thought to be related to disruptions of the physiological and psychological mechanisms that control our emotions.

9.1 Psychological approaches to psychotic experiences

Psychological approaches to psychotic experiences focus on the patterns of thought that are associated with them. As explained in Section 6.2, there is little conflict between psychological theories and biological mechanisms, because all psychological processes are associated with specific brain activity. Indeed, in recent years, brain scanning techniques have allowed blood-flow and electrical activity in different brain regions to be identified as people perform specific tasks.

Researchers have studied two quite distinct phenomena thought to be related to the development of some psychotic experiences¹²⁴. Cognitive 'deficits' are general impairments in processes such as perception, memory and attention. The word cognition is simply another term for 'thought'. They are often thought to be caused by brain damage or physical abnormalities, although they might also be the result of people's experiences such as trauma or an impoverished environment. Temporary 'deficits' can also result from depression, demoralisation, or poor motivation.Cognitive 'biases', on the other hand, are said to be present when people notice, pay attention to or remember some types of information better than others. For example, it has been known for some time that depressed people tend to notice and recall negative information more than people who are not depressed¹²⁵. Similarly, different people interpret information differently. This can lead to biases. Again, people who are depressed tend to interpret information in a negative way. For example, they see the glass as half-empty, not half-full¹²⁶. Because cognitive biases cannot usually be accounted for by general deficits (because some types of information are processed normally) they are unlikely to be the consequence of brain damage.

As discussed above, traumatic, abusive or unpleasant events during a person's childhood can affect the way that the person interprets information and reacts to events later in life. This can,of course, mean that such events might lead to the sorts of cognitive biases discussed here.

People who have psychotic experiences very commonly report having had highly distressing or traumatic life experiences such as bereavements, abuse and assault¹²⁷. The common themes appear to be extreme threat, abuse or events that lead to overwhelming emotions.

Understandably, such events will affect the way the person sees the world.Everybody interprets new events and challenges in the light of previous experience. Abusive, threatening or overwhelming events are likely to lead to feelings of powerlessness and expectations of more abuse. One metaphor that has been used is that of a lock and key¹²⁸. If the key fits the lock,the door can be opened.If your psychological perspective includes feelings of powerlessness and expectations of abuse, a street mugging might have particularly dramatic consequences.

All events, including psychotic experiences, will be interpreted from the perspective that the person has developed. People therefore respond differently to life challenges, and also in the ways they understand and make sense of psychotic experiences.

Individual, psychological, understanding

If a person like you had found a way to talk to me when I was first going crazy ... at all the times of my delusion that I was a grand military figure ... I knew that this (delusion) was a way that I was trying to tell myself that I could overcome my panic and fear ... You (the professionals) were always checking me out,to see if I knew what you knew rather than to find a way to talk with me. You would ask, 'Is this an ashtray'to see if I knew or not.It was as if you knew and wanted to see if I knew ... that only made me more frightened,more panicked. If you could have talked with the 'me'that knew how frightened I was. If you had been able to understand how crazy I had to be so that I could be strong enough to deal with this life threatening fear ... then we could have handled that crazy general.¹²⁹

9.2 Cognitive deficits and psychotic experiences

Until recently, most cognitive research into psychotic experiences has focused on people with a broad diagnosis

of schizophrenia. This work has focused almost exclusively on cognitive deficits.

There is good evidence that some people with a diagnosis of schizophrenia have difficulties on a variety of measures of attention^{130,131}. For example, there is evidence of difficulties for some people in the very earliest stages of processing visual information. Many people with a diagnosis of schizophrenia appear more easily distracted than people who do not have psychotic experiences.

A number of researchers¹³² have suggested that difficulties in understanding other people's behaviour might explain a number of psychotic experiences.It is generally believed that ordinary social behaviour depends on our ability to use other people's actions and conversation as clues for understanding what they might be thinking.Some people who are having psychotic experiences appear to show difficulties with this skill, although it seems to improve when the experiences become less distressing¹³³. It is possible that these difficulties are related to the very high levels of stress and confusion that sometimes accompany psychotic experiences.

Such problems with what is termed 'Theory of Mind' have been suggested as possible explanations for reduced levels of emotional expression during episodes of psychotic experiences¹³⁴, disorganised speech¹³⁵, hearing voices¹³⁶ and unusual beliefs¹³⁷.

Some of these findings have been observed in people who have recovered from psychotic experiences, in the children of people with a diagnosis of schizophrenia (who are thought to carry a risk of developing psychotic experiences) and in people who score highly on 'schizotypy' questionnaires.On the other hand, these deficits are generally greater in people who are currently experiencing psychotic phenomena.These findings have been used to support three conclusions.First, that subtle deficits in information processing can leave people vulnerable to psychotic experiences. Second, that when people with such vulnerabilities experience stressful events, these deficits may make it harder for them to cope effectively. Third, that the emotional stress associated with stressful events can itself lead to increased cognitive deficits, which in turn can lead to further problems and the development of vicious circles.

One early theory of 'schizophrenia' was that it reflected a 'loosening of connections' in the brain¹³⁸. (That idea actually led to the use of the term 'schizophrenia' meaning 'fragmented mind').Psychotic experiences such as hearing voices, unusual beliefs and 'thought disorder' appear to involve making unusual connections between apparently unrelated events. This is not in itself either good or bad. Sometimes making unusual connections between things is valuable, when it is termed 'lateral thinking' or 'creativity'. In fact,people who score highly on measures of 'schizotypy' also score highly on measures of creativity¹³⁹. It is even possible to imagine how the ability to make

Cognitive deficits seem to be associated with psychotic experiences and vulnerability to psychotic experiences, rather than with 'schizophrenia'. Whenever comparisons have been made between people with a diagnosis of bipolar disorder and people with a diagnosis of schizophrenia on these kinds of cognitive tests, few differences have been found.

Most research on cognitive deficits has involved broad diagnostic categories such as 'schizophrenia' and 'bipolar disorder'.Because of the problems with these diagnoses, and because such deficits do not fully explain psychotic experiences,many clinical psychologists (especially in Britain) have begun to investigate the psychological processes which may be involved in particular experiences.Considerable progress has been achieved in this respect over the last ten years, and only a few of the most important findings can be mentioned here. Cognitive 'biases' have therefore been studied in relation to specific experiences.

9.3 Cognitive biases and unusual beliefs

Many studies have shown that people who have unusual or delusional beliefs tend to 'jump to conclusions' when faced with limited or contradictory information^{140,141}. By

comparison, people who do not hold such beliefs tend to be more cautious when evaluating evidence.

The two most common kinds of unusual belief that people report are the fear that people are trying to harm or kill them (persecutory delusions) and the belief that they have special powers or abilities or that they are famous or powerful (grandiose delusions).Studies suggest that these unusual beliefs are associated with specific biases in reasoning about social situations¹⁴². The evidence suggests that many people who experience paranoia have a general tendency to assume that other people cause the things that go wrong in their lives. Some researchers have argued that these kinds of beliefs therefore have a defensive function (protecting the individual from low self-esteem) although this claim remains controversial^{143,144}.

9.4 Cognitive biases and hearing voices

Most people often experience an 'inner voice' when thinking in words (for example, when deciding what to do, or when struggling with a problem). There is evidence that some people who experience verbal hallucinations (voices) have difficulty distinguishing their inner speech from speech from an external source. Some of this evidence has emerged from physiological studies (for example, brain scanning experiments) in which it has been shown that speech areas in the brain are active when people hear voices¹⁴⁵. Other psychological experiments show that some people who hear voices experience difficulty when they are asked to distinguish between their thoughts and words spoken to them¹⁴⁶.

9.5 Incoherent speech ('thought disorder')

Although incoherent speech has traditionally been regarded as a symptom of 'schizophrenia',studies show that it occurs more frequently in people experiencing mania¹⁴⁷ and reflects a difficulty in adjusting speech to the needs of the hearer. Most people only become thought disordered when emotionally stressed and, for most of the time, their speech is perfectly coherent¹⁴⁸.

9.6 Mania

Mania is a term used to describe a complex cluster of

'symptoms', which includes grandiose delusions, increased activity, incoherent speech and, in most cases, a paradoxical combination of both positive emotions (euphoria) and negative emotions (depression and irritability)¹⁴⁹. People experiencing mania sometimes believe that they are particularly famous or important. These beliefs are traditionally termed grandiose delusions. Recent studies have suggested that they are associated with patterns of thought similar to those seen in paranoia¹⁵⁰. Both paranoia and mania might play a role in protecting self-esteem.Some researchers think that the increased energy and activity seen in people experiencing mania may sometimes be caused by disruption of the physiological mechanisms that control the sleep-wake cycle¹⁵¹.

9.7 Summary: no one single cause

It is possible to understand many psychotic experiences as stemming from either how the person sees the world,or particular problems with thought processes,or a combination of both.Of course, each person will have a different set of expectations and beliefs.It is also obvious that,while some people with psychotic experiences have major difficulties with thought processes such as attention, concentration and memory, other people appear to have no such problems.

Psychologists believe that psychotic experiences often result from a combination of these processes. For example, if you are feeling confused and experiencing overwhelming emotions, you may find it particularly hard to interpret other people's actions and intentions accurately. This might mean that interactions with other people are very anxiety provoking and ambiguous. If the events in your life have led you to believe that people tend to abuse and hurt you at every opportunity, and you also have a tendency (again exaggerated in a state of stress) to jump to conclusions, it is understandable that you might occasionally feel paranoid.

The last three Sections have demonstrated how different psychological, social and biological processes can contribute to psychological experiences. The evidence presented in Parts 1 and 2 of this report have demonstrated that each person's difficulties are likely to have arisen and be maintained by a unique combination of interacting factors.Part 3 of this report concerns the help or treatment that is or should be available.

Part 3: Help and treatment

Section 10:Assessment

Key Points:

- In order to develop an appropriate psychological formulation, a clinical psychologist might assess:
- What problems the person is experiencing and what he or she would like to change;
- The person's view of why this is happening and of their problems in general;
- The person's life situation (accommodation, work and/or leisure activities, relationships with friends and relatives) and what he or she would like to change.
- Skills, abilities and areas of difficulty: Clinical psychologists have designed inventories and formal tests which can sometimes be useful in measuring problems or skills and comparing them to what is average for the population.
- Self-esteem: People who have psychotic experiences often have very low self-esteem, partly as a result of the prejudice and discrimination that they experience. This can often cause more distress than the experiences themselves.
- What help the person is receiving from other people and from services.
- What additional help he or she feels he or she needs.
- What has and what has not been helpful in the past.

10.1 Reasons for assessment

Assessment is carried out for many reasons¹⁵². For psychologists, the main purpose of assessment is to develop an appropriate psychological formulation – in other words to help the person to come to an understanding of the problem and to decide what is likely to help. (See Section 5.4.2.) Obviously, different things will be relevant for different people, and so a 'whole person' approach is needed, examining all the different factors that may each be playing a role. This section describes some of the different areas that might be covered, and describes some of the tools that can help with the process of assessment. These include questionnaires as well as more formal tests of memory and concentration. Information can come from a number of sources including the person him or herself, relatives, key worker and other carers.

It is important to bear in mind that many service users will have experienced numerous 'assessments' in various contexts. Care needs to be taken to ensure that assessment is a respectful and collaborative process.

Below is a brief description of the sorts of areas an assessment might cover.

10.2 Types of Assessments

All formal assessment tools, such as questionnaires, should meet the basic criteria for scientific measurement. They should be valid – appropriate to the problem and actually assessing what they appear to measure. They should be reliable – the information they provide should be an accurate assessment that could be repeated to produce the same answer. Reliability is essential because it must be possible to interpret changes in scores on an assessment measure as a real change in an individual's experiences and not something to do with the unreliability of the scale¹⁵³.

10.2.1 Psychotic experiences

Scales that measure the general seriousness of problematic experiences and behaviours are useful for examining changes over a short period of time and are quick to administer. They are most useful for clinical audit and evaluation of services or therapy.

Scales that are used in psychological therapy need to be more detailed and are usually completed by the individuals themselves. The most commonly used scales measure aspects of the experience of hearing voices and unusual beliefs but there are also new scales which measure the experience of anhedonia (lack of emotional experience) that people often report as distressing.

Part 3: Help and treatment (cont.)

10.2.2 Social and Occupational problems

People with psychotic experiences sometimes have problems in their social lives. They may have problems in continuing with their work, which may have serious effects on their general well being. These social problems can be analysed in more detail for the purposes of designing support and therapy. For instance, if it is known that the person has difficulty communicating, they might decide to improve their skills or alternatively they may wish to take part in activities, occupational and leisure, which do not require high levels of these skills.

The assessment of occupational and social problems is also important in the wider planning of services.

10.2.3 Self esteem

One of the goals of therapy is usually to improve the person's self-esteem and self-confidence. Assessment of self-esteem is therefore important.

10.2.4 Psychometric assessment – Testing memory and concentration

Psychometric assessment, the testing of abilities such as memory, concentration and intelligence, may also be relevant. People's verbal memory and skills in solving problems (usually termed executive functioning) can be measured reasonably accurately.

In the past global measures such as IQ have been used but more recently detailed assessments of working memor y and planning have been used¹⁵⁴. The results of these assessments can be used to plan the intervention and make therapy more appropriate for each individual. For instance the person might be offered specific help with cognitive skills, or therapy could be adapted to take account of the person's strengths and weaknesses.

10.2.5 Quality of life

There are a number of measures of quality of life. Some measure subjective indicators such as satisfaction with life. Some look at more objective factors such as whether the person has things in their lives that others generally value. Some look at both.These are usually most relevant for assessing the effectiveness of services for a group of people rather than one individual's experiences.

10.2.6 Satisfaction with services

Satisfaction with services is very difficult to measure as people's responses depend on the way in which the questions are asked. For example, the reported level of satisfaction will increase if the clinicians themselves ask the person to complete the scale in front of them.Satisfaction with services is also highly related to levels of depression and so will change if this improves or worsens. It is clearly very important that service providers collect such information anonymously in order to monitor performance.

10.2.7 Insight

'Insight' is a controversial area.Insight traditionally refers to the agreement of the patient that they have a diagnosable mental illness.Since many people (including many clinical psychologists) feel that 'diagnosable mental illnesses' are highly dubious concepts, it seems odd to insist that people share one view of their problems.

However, insight can also be interpreted, more reasonably, as the willingness or ability of the person to accept that they have acted differently during an episode of psychotic experiences compared to their 'normal' behaviour. This may allow the person to engage with services to prevent such problems in the future that may interrupt or interfere with their lives¹⁵⁵.

Insight

The feeling that the diagnosed mentally ill don't know what they are talking about limits the scope of our lives. The concept of insight – perhaps lack of insight would be more accurate from the psychiatric perspective – is one of the most powerful and insidious forces eroding our position as competent,creative individuals. If I am to be consigned to a category of persons whose experience is devalued,status diminished and rational evidence dismissed,simply because at certain time or times I lost contact with the consensus view of reality agreed on by my peers, then it is scarcely possible to expect that my control over my life will ever be more than severely circumscribed.If my experience is not valued I cannot be whole. It is particularly discouraging to speak to some psychiatric professionals and have my experience validated only as a particular and very sad blemish in an otherwise benign conception. This is no validation whatsoever. I am not the one regrettable bacillus in the otherwise sterile supplies room. My experience is shared and is relevant.¹⁵⁶

Peter Campbell – personal account

10.2.8 Needs for care

Scales that measure an individual's needs cover a wide variety of different areas such as residential care and relationships.Often individuals, their carers and staff disagree about the levels of need and these scales can be helpful in making different perspectives clear so they can be discussed.

Section 11: Medication for psychotic experiences

Key Points:

- Traditional psychiatric drugs are the most common forms of help offered to people with psychotic experiences. Neuroleptics are the most common but lithium is sometimes used where the diagnosis is manic depression. ECT (Electro-Convulsive Therapy) is also sometimes used.
- They are not a 'cure' but can alleviate symptoms. They can be used for acute psychotic experiences and/or used long-term to try to prevent future problems.
- They do not help everyone. Two thirds of people who take medication regularly are likely to experience a reoccurrence of their psychotic experiences within two years.
- They can have serious unwanted effects ('side effects') which for some people can be worse than the original problem.
- Newer drugs ('atypical antipsychotics' such as clozapine) are not necessarily any more effective, but can cause fewer adverse effects.
- There is no way of predicting accurately what dose of which drug will suit a particular individual.Adjustments are likely to be needed before the person finds the optimum drug and dose.
- Many people are on doses above recommended levels.
- Levels of non-compliance with psychiatric medication are similar to those in the physical health field and the reasons for non-compliance are also similar. The British Psychological Society has stated 'It is unsafe for people to be forced to use medication with potentially lethal side-effects against their wishes and without in-patient supervision'¹⁵⁷.

• A good, collaborative relationship between patient and prescriber is likely to improve outcome.

11.1 Antipsychotic medication – neuroleptics

A range of drug treatments is commonly prescribed for people who have psychotic experiences. The most important are 'antipsychotic' drugs. These drugs (sometimes called neuroleptics or major tranquillisers) were first developed in the late 1940s and have since been regarded as the preferred medical treatment for psychotic experiences. There are many of these drugs including chlorpromazine, thioridazine, trifluoperazine, sulpiride, haloperidol, flupenthixol, and fluphenazine. Recently, a new class of 'atypical' neuroleptics (for example clozapine, risperidone and olanzapine) has come into use.

Antipsychotic medication – 'pro's

'Without major tranquillisers myself and my family feel I may not have survived, as hyperactivity and starvation led to rapid weight loss as well as psychological symptoms.'

'The drug blocks out most of the damaging voices and delusions and keeps my mood stable.'

'Injections seem to dampen down the voices. They decrease the voices, but not altogether, and the side effects are unpleasant.'

'Medication is a necessary evil as I have very little to fall back on otherwise. The medication stops psychotic symptoms, or has in the past.'

Antipsychotic medication – 'con's'

'They do not cure the causes of conditions, they have the side effects of making you unnaturally doped, enormously fat.'

'The dosages depressed me and made me feel my motivation, ideas and whole autonomy being removed.'

'With major tranquillisers, I feel as if I'm in a trance. I don't feel like myself.'

Anonymous – personal accounts¹⁵⁸

11.2 Acute and preventative treatment

Neuroleptic drugs may be used in the acute phase of psychosis (when experiences are most intense or distressing). Afterwards, they can be used either intermittently (when the person feels unwell, distressed or under stress) or prophylactically (when the person has partly or totally recovered in order to try to prevent further episodes). For many people, prophylactic treatment can be important in preventing further episodes and hospital admissions^{159,160}. However, some people wish to avoid long-term drug treatment and prefer to use non-medical approaches for coping with psychotic experiences or to use medication only at times when the experiences are distressing.Prescribers need to discuss these issues in a collaborative manner.

Acute and preventative treatment

'I took neuroleptics for some time, but then chose to stop taking them because I felt like a zombie. I could no longer even read a book.I do still use medicine, but these days it is more of a maintenance dose with fewer side effects. When voices threaten to overpower me, I increase the dosage temporarily.'¹⁶¹

11.3 Problems with neuroleptics

Neuroleptics are not perfect treatments. They are not 'cures' even though they may make psychotic experiences less intense and distressing. They do not help everyone, and rarely remove problems completely^{162,163}. Moreover, neuroleptic treatment can cause adverse effects (side effects) which can be serious and distressing. These include the following;

(a) About 40 per cent of people experience a dysphoric response (depression and restlessness) within a few hours of receiving neuroleptic treatment^{164,165,166}. For the majority of people, this adverse effect reduces during the first week of treatment.

(b) Extrapyramidal side effects (EPSEs) include Parkinsonianism (tremor, muscle stiffness and difficulty controlling movements, affecting about 15 to 25 per cent of patients), akathisia (a highly unpleasant subjective sense of restlessness, affecting the majority of people at some point in their treatment),dystonias (involuntary muscle contractions,affecting about 10 per cent of patients) and, more rarely, tardive dyskinesia (a condition involving involuntary and unsightly movements of the mouth and tongue, which may be difficult to reverse once established)^{167,168,169,170}. With the exception of tardive dyskinesia, the EPSEs can be partially controlled by anticholinergic drugs such as procyclidine. Unfortunately, these have their own adverse effects (see below).

(c) Anticholinergic adverse effects (which may be caused by some neuroleptics and also by anticholinergic drugs prescribed to control EPSEs) include dry mouth, constipation, difficulty urinating and memory problems. It has been estimated that up to 40 per cent of people experience these problems¹⁷¹.

(d) There is a slight but proven risk of cardiac arrest¹⁷².

(e) There is a proven risk of liver disease¹⁷³.

(f) The neuroleptic malignant syndrome is a rare adverse effect which initially presents as a fever which effects about 0.5 per cent of people¹⁷⁴. It can be fatal unless neuroleptic treatment is discontinued immediately.

(g) There is a risk of serious blood disease such as agranulocytosis, which can also be fatal unless neuroleptic treatment is discontinued immediately¹⁷⁵. This occurs rarely following treatment with most neuroleptics but affects about 1 to 2 per cent of people treated with clozapine.

(h) A variety of other adverse effects commonly reported include weight gain¹⁶⁸, breast enlargement and sexual dysfunction¹⁷⁶.

(i) Many people find that neuroleptic treatment results in a loss of motivation, sometimes described as a 'neuroleptic induced deficit syndrome' (NIDS)¹⁷⁷. One clinical trial showed that people treated with neuroleptics, although experiencing fewer 'symptoms', made fewer life achievements than a control group treated with placebo¹⁷⁸.

These adverse effects vary according to exact medication used. The new atypical neuroleptics typically produce fewer EPSEs. Clozapine carries a high risk of agranulocytosis and, for this reason, people treated with this drug must have regular blood tests.

Side effects

With akathisia there is never any peace from this insistent urge to move, be it rock backwards and forwards in a chair, shuffle around the wards, kneel and huddle in a chair or go for a walk. It is like a tinnitus of the body;there is never a moment of inner silence. I remember one day staring into a mirror on Ward 3.My eyeballs were bulging, my skin was greasy and grainy, my hair like rats' tails, I was stiffened and troubled by constipation and simultaneously racked by akathisia.I looked like everybody's image of a mental patient – but it was entirely a medication effect.¹⁷⁹

Dr Peter Chadwick

11.5 Relative benefits of different neuroleptics

There is little evidence that any neuroleptic is superior to others.Claims have been made for the superior efficacy of clozapine¹⁸⁰ but these have been made on the basis of trials of short duration,and/or with comparison doses of conventional neuroleptics that have been less than optimal.Atypical neuroleptics seem at least as effective as the traditional medications.A preference for atypical neuroleptics over 'typicals' may be justified because of their less severe EPSEs.Atypical neuroleptics do, of course, have their own range of potential adverse effects. These can include weight gain and lethargy¹⁸¹.

11.6 High doses of neuroleptics

There is no evidence that high doses of neuroleptics confer clinical advantages over low doses¹⁸². However, there is clear evidence that high doses cause more severe adverse effects. For this reason, The Royal College of Psychiatrists has recommended that high doses should be used only under exceptional circumstances¹⁸³.

One study has indicated that patients on unnecessarily high doses of medication may benefit from a dose reduction¹⁸⁴. Nonetheless, it is our experience that high doses continue to be used in routine treatment and we view this matter with considerable concern.

11.7 'Compliance'

Poor compliance with neuroleptics has been cited as an important cause of continuing illness and further hospitalisation¹⁸⁵. Noncompliance is often attributed to lack of insight (the individual does not understand or refuses to accept that she/he has an 'illness'). However:

(a) People's beliefs about their experiences are complex, and cannot be reduced to a simple dimension of insight.
(See Section 10.2.7.) For example, some prefer to think of their problems in psychological terms rather than embracing the medical model.

(b) The strategies that people take in order to manage their medication are also complex.Many people are neither compliant nor noncompliant but vary their medication according to circumstances¹⁸⁶.

(c) For many people, the balance between the advantages of neuroleptic treatment (for example, a reduction in the frequency or intensity of psychotic experiences) and the disadvantages (for example, adverse effects) is a fine one. In one study it was found that 'side effects' were as bothersome to people as their psychotic experiences¹⁸⁷. Other studies have found that people harbour a wide variety of opinions about their drug treatment, varying from the unequivocally positive to the unequivocally negative^{188,189}.

(d) People who refuse neuroleptic drugs completely do so for a variety of reasons. In one study it was found that some refused because they perceived their drug treatment to be ineffective and some because they were distressed by adverse effects¹⁹⁰. Only a few gave reasons that were judged to be psychotic.

(e) In general levels of 'noncompliance' with psychiatric medication are similar to those in the physical health field and the reasons for noncompliance are also similar^{191,192}.

For these reasons it is wrong to assume that it is always

rational to comply with neuroleptic treatment. Any constructive approach towards ensuring that people receive optimum medical treatment must take into account people's views on and personal experience of their drug treatment¹⁹³.

11.8 Psychiatrist – patient relationships

Drug treatment should always be based on a collaborative relationship between prescribers and patients^{194,195,196}. This means that:

(a) People should always be fully informed about the likely effects of their drug treatment. There is no evidence that informing patients about side effects deters them from accepting treatment.

(b) People should be encouraged to ask questions about their treatment, and their questions should be answered as fully as possible.

(c) People's attitudes, side effects and response to treatment should be monitored at regular intervals. There are a number of simple standardised scales designed for this purpose^{197,198}.

There is evidence that a good collaborative relationship between prescriber and patient results in a better outcome for the individual in the long term¹⁹⁹.

11.9 A collaborative approach to medication

Mental health service users should be able to make appropriate choices about their own medication. Prescription has traditionally been seen as a process in which doctors make the decisions and patients follow. We recommend that professionals take a more collaborative stance, which enables service users to play a more active role. Specific approaches that may be useful include:

(a) Giving people information about the benefits and hazards of treatment.

(b) The use of simple behavioural strategies such as diaries and reminders to help people remember when to take their drugs^{200,201}.

(c) 'Compliance therapy' is based on the approach known as 'motivational interviewing' which is often used in substance misuse services. A recent study of this approach found that it led to improved adherence with medication and a better outcome in terms of global functioning²⁰². However, others have argued that such approaches do not sufficiently take into account the fact that not everyone benefits from medication²⁰³. Each individual needs to be able to make an accurate appraisal for him or herself of the benefits and costs of taking medication.

(d) Other drugs may be prescribed in addition to or instead of antipsychotic drugs. In some parts of the world, it is common to offer people short courses of benzodiazapine medication (e.g.valium) in order to reduce anxiety in the short term prior to determining whether treatment with a neuroleptic is necessary. Antidepressant medication may also be prescribed if appropriate.

(e) If, having considered all the relevant information, the service-user decides not to use medication, this decision should be respected and he or she should continue to be offered support by mental health services. We view with considerable concern the practice adopted by some clinicians of equating such a decision with 'refusing treatment' and withdrawing support as a result.

A negative experience of treatment

My experience of neuroleptic medication when I was psychotic was that it seemed to be used as a substitute for good care rather than as part of a good care package. I believe that time, rest,low levels of short-term medication and discussing my experiences would have best helped me to recover and begin to rebuild my life. This combination was unfortunately unavailable. During my hospital admissions, I instead received minimal staff interaction, and was living highly sedated with fellow patients with a broad range of madness, disabilities and levels of institutionalisation. The only occasions I was asked to discuss my beliefs were in the brief but influential ward round.

I know that some people find neuroleptics helpful, but for me the main effects were the negative ones often thought of as 'side effects'. These included being considerably mentally slowed, as

well as restlessness, Parkinsonism (tremors in the arms and legs and shuffling of the feet),physical weakness and impotence. I was determined to come off them at the first possible opportunity. At no point during my initial admission was I consulted at all about the medication I was being given. Nobody told me about possible side effects or gave me a chance to engage in decisions about my treatment. My experience was of being treated as a second class citizen, who was expected obediently to take drugs that felt to me very noxious.

As the staff were making decisions about me without listening to me I decided not to trust them or their decisions. I was determined to withdraw from the medication at the first available opportunity. It was a very difficult thing to do as the withdrawal effects lasted for many months and included 'rebound' hyperactive states that were interpreted by some as psychotic relapses. It was at least partly as a result of this that I had two further hospital admissions before eventually, at the third attempt I managed to withdraw successfully from the medication.

I did this alone without any support and it was an extremely challenging task. It would have helped if I had been given specialist advice on practical ways to cope with the withdrawal effects. However, mental health workers appeared to assume that if I did not take my medication, I was effectively disengaging from mental health services.

Dr Rufus May – personal account

11.10 Mood stabilisers

Mood stabilising medication may be prescribed for people who experience excessive mood swings, especially mania. The most common mood stabiliser is lithium carbonate. More recently, it has been discovered that anticonvulsant medication (medication for epilepsy), for example carbamazepine, can have mood stabilising effects, although these have not been as thoroughly evaluated.

Mood stabilisers – 'pro's

'Since stabilising on lithium I have not been dotty. 'Helpful' therefore is an understatement for my use of lithium gave me sanity.'

'Has stabilised my moods giving me the confidence to resume

normal life and build up a career again."

Mood stabilisers - 'con's

'I feel trapped by having said it was helpful. It is a drug and I hate it. It has not really helped me but right now I need to take it as there is no other alternative.'

'I find Lithium (and carbamazepine) hamper one's ability to think normally. Between episodes I prefer to do without. That way there is more joy in life. The drugs leave you without feeling and it is very difficult to be in touch with one's inner self.²⁰⁴ **Anonymous – personal accounts**

11.11 Adverse effects of lithium

Common adverse effects of lithium treatment include nausea and diarrhoea in the short term. These symptoms often subside after a few weeks. Longer term effects include tremor (often affecting the fingers), increased production of urine (sometimes disturbing sleep and leading to thirst), weight gain and hypothyroidism (suppression of thyroid function). Adverse effects of carbamazepine can include drowsiness, dizziness, nausea and double vision²⁰⁵.

11.12 Effectiveness of lithium

The effectiveness of mood stabilising medication has been less well evaluated than the effectiveness of the neuroleptics²⁰⁶. Although it is widely believed that prophylactic medication can prevent future episodes of illness, especially in people who have experienced mania, most of the clinical trials that have been conducted with lithium have suffered from quite serious methodological limitations. A recent study found that about 50 percent of people treated with lithium experienced severe mood swings during a one year period²⁰⁷.

Discontinuation of lithium is often followed by a manic episode. However, it is not clear that this is caused by the re-emergence of 'illness'.It is possible that this phenomenon is a kind of 'rebound' effect.Consistent with this theory, it has been found that a manic episode is more likely following rapid discontinuation of lithium compared with a tapered reduction of medication²⁰⁸. Long-term adherence with lithium therapy is often poor, but this is often because of the unpleasant side effects.As in the case of neuroleptic medication,adherence is most likely to be achieved if there is a collaborative relationship between patient and prescriber, and if the person is adequately informed of the benefits and costs of medication.Cognitive behavioural methods similar to those used in the management of neuroleptic medication have a role in helping people to achieve the best from lithium therapy.

11.13 Conclusions

Antipsychotic medication is almost universally prescribed for people who have psychotic experiences and come into contact with the mental health services. Many people find them useful.Equally, they can have distressing and even dangerous adverse effects ('side-effects'). It is important to be aware that such medication can only be used pragmatically – these are not 'cures' but they may be beneficial.Ultimately the individuals themselves are the best judges as to what is most helpful.Decisions on medication should be collaborative. Treatment with powerful drugs against the person's wishes is an extreme and serious step. In common with many groups,The British Psychological Society has expressed its considerable concern about proposals to use compulsory treatment in the community²⁰⁹. It is unsafe for people to be forced to use medication with potentially dangerous side effects against their wishes without inpatient supervision.

Section 12: Psychological interventions for psychotic experiences

Key Points:

- Psychological interventions are based on a psychological framework of understanding and aim to help people work out their own understanding of the nature of their difficulties and what is likely to help.
- Psychological interventions are based on a collaborative working alliance between psychologists (or therapists) and clients. It is possible that this is the main 'active ingredient'. It is certainly vital.
- The most common form of psychological therapy for psychotic experiences is Cognitive Behaviour Therapy

 CBT. This is a tried and tested intervention that examines maladaptive patterns of thinking associated with a range of emotional and behavioural problems.
- There is convincing evidence that psychological interventions are effective in reducing psychotic experiences and the distress and disability they cause. Psychological interventions are effective for hearing voices (hallucinations), unusual beliefs (delusions) and the extreme moods of bipolar disorder.
- Despite the effectiveness of psychological interventions, and the fact that they appear to be costeffective, more resources are needed, especially for training.

12.1 Psychological interventions

Psychological interventions (talking treatments) are usually used in conjunction with medication.Some people, however, prefer to use alternatives to drug treatments for psychotic experiences.Other people may find medication helpful when in acute distress,but do not want to take it long-term.Some psychologists feel that psychological interventions could offer an alternative to long-term medical treatment for some people.

The integration of medical, psychological and practical

approaches echoes the growing recognition that social and psychological factors interact strongly with biological factors in psychotic experiences²¹⁰.

Many individuals with psychotic experiences have complex difficulties. The psychotic experiences themselves, the framework within which people understand them, their coping responses as well as the disruptions of relationships and social networks, and the depression and anxiety that can follow are all important. All these demand a careful therapeutic response. In addition, special emphasis has recently been given to implementing 'early intervention' services for people showing the first signs of psychotic experiences. Finally carers often experience substantial burdens, and sometimes also need help.

12.2 The effectiveness of psychosocial interventions

It is increasingly recognised that psychosocial interventions can reduce the probability of psychotic experiences returning.'Relapse rates' can be reduced by as much as 50 per cent by including psychosocial interventions²¹¹. Such interventions include family therapy, social,cognitive and occupational rehabilitation,cognitive behaviour therapy (CBT) and interventions early in the development of problems.

The effectiveness of psychological interventions

I am one of the fortunate few (being white and middle class has a great deal to do with it,I have no doubt) who has been privileged enough to experience a range of talking therapies despite various diagnoses, including schizophrenia ... even now I don't know how much change is possible or whether I will ever feel that life is worth living. Yet I know that without it I would not be alive today; and while my doubts and pain remain, the quality of my life has changed beyond recognition, and I have hope that things will continue to get easier.²¹²

Psychosocial interventions reduce the distress associated with psychotic experiences and can also reduce the intensity and frequency of the experiences themselves^{213,214}.

A recent review of psychotherapy in the NHS found talking treatments to be as important a component of healthcare as medication,but also found that such treatments are often not available to people who have psychotic experiences²¹⁵.

Currently, most people who have psychotic experiences and receive talking treatments also receive medication. However, research in the United States has suggested that for some people, psychotherapy can be more effective without medication, and that it can sometimes be more effective than medication alone²¹⁶.

As outlined above there are several different psychological, psychosocial and psychotherapeutic approaches. These all have slightly different names and slightly different emphases. There are important differences between approaches. Different approaches may be more or less suitable for different people, and some psychologists or therapists prefer to work in one way rather than another. However, there are more similarities than differences between these different 'brand-name' approaches. In the past there has sometimes been a degree of antipathy between different 'schools' of therapy. However, this is changing. Part of the reason is the increasing recognition on all sides of the importance of the subjective meaning of psychotic experiences. The value, common to all therapies, of the opportunity for people to talk and think about their experiences in a calm, supportive and non-judgmental atmosphere is also increasingly being recognised. Sometimes the onset of psychotic experiences can be traumatic and lead to major life changes:emotional support and the opportunity to talk is very important. All psychological interventions should be based on a trusting, collaborative working relationship between the professional and the client. It is possible that this is often the main 'active ingredient'²¹⁷. It is certainly vital, and it is important that service users should be able to find a therapist or worker with whom they feel comfortable.

12.3 Cognitive Behaviour Therapy (CBT)

Cognitive Behaviour Therapy (CBT) has proved promising

as a psychological inter vention for psychotic experiences²¹⁸. The main assumption behind CBT is that psychological difficulties depend on how people think or interpret events (cognitions),how people respond to these events (behaviour),and how it makes them feel (emotions)²¹⁹. CBT aims to break the vicious cycle between thoughts, feelings and behaviours by helping people to learn more useful ways of thinking and coping.

Cognitive Behaviour Therapy

I have been receiving cognitive therapy for about a year. Regarding the cost:it may well be more expensive initially, but in my own case my medication (antidepressants and tranquillisers) has been reduced by two thirds this year, and I expect to be off all medication by the end of the year. Since I am only 47 years old, the long-term saving should be quite considerable ... I was originally told by a consultant psychiatrist to surround myself with cotton wool and accept the fact that I would be unable to work again ... I have just started a parttime retraining course on computers and information technology. I for one view the outcome very positively.²²⁰

CBT shares with other approaches such as psychodynamic psychotherapy and psychoanalysis an emphasis on the meaning of an experience for the individual. CBT and other therapies aim to help people understand and possibly change the ways that they understand, interpret and respond to experiences. **Anonymous – personal account**

12.3.1 CBT interventions with voices (hallucinations)

Although people occasionally have hallucinations which are visual (seeing things),olfactory (smelling things) and tactile (feeling things),psychological interventions so far have concentrated on voices (auditory hallucinations).Although the phenomenon and its causes are complex,most clinical psychologists agree that some people who hear voices have difficulty distinguishing their own thoughts or inner speech from voices with an external origin²²¹. It is known that hallucinations tend to be worst when people are highly aroused²²². It is also known that people's beliefs and explanations about their voices affect how distressed they become²²³.

These findings suggest that therapy should address problems in identifying where voices are coming from, should reduce stress or arousal, and also address beliefs about the experiences. The personal meaning and relevance of voices in a person's life may be addressed during therapy if the person feels this is relevant.

The use of CBT for voices is relatively new, but comprehensive reviews have concluded that CBT for hallucinations is effective^{224,225}. Recent studies suggest that group therapy may also be useful²²⁶. Therapy can have a significant impact on people's lives by changing factors such as distress, perceived control or beliefs about the voices even if the frequency of the hallucinations does not change.

CBT for voices

Starting therapy with Paul – the clinical psychologist – was terrifying.I sat, avoiding eye contact, even avoiding looking up from the ground.Often I shook and often jumped at any unexpected sound.I was terrified.But it soon became clear that Paul was not interested in my psychiatric label.And it was also clear he was prepared to address the issue of my voices without belittling them or treating them as weird.The first session the voices were shouting and it was hard to concentrate. Paul recognised this and actually asked me what was going on with the voices. I didn't feel at all 'loony'. Paul made me feel that I was of some importance. Paul spoke – I needed him to speak and put me at my ease. Previously I had seen a psychotherapist who waited for me to speak and often would not reply even when I had braved to utter a word.

The collaborative relationship I have with Paul gives me confidence that my ideas, as well as his, are important. I get to say what I want to work on – I have some power in this relationship. Paul gives me feedback and some idea of his reaction and tells me what areas he might like us to cover. He does this whilst giving me a lot of power and I feel that I am in control.

Talking about the 'voices thing' became open and normal. It has not been shied away from. We have discussed: where the voices come from, the effect they have on me, how the voices feed on my present feelings and how I can, hopefully, partially control them. We have discussed coping strategies, some successful, some not so, and some just plain silly (humming whilst they are speaking: I could only think of Dionne Warwick songs!). One long-term strategy – challenging the voices – has proved to be the hardest but the most successful. As soon as a voice pops into my head I try to test out, with previous evidence, what the voice is saying. The voices often come up and interrupt sessions. We don't just ignore them, we deal with them.

It now seems to me that the voices always feed off negative images I have about myself.I can think about the voices being a by-product of my own self-image.

Val – personal account

12.3.3 Unusual beliefs – Delusions

Unusual beliefs (delusions) share many characteristics with normal beliefs or prejudices. As with all beliefs, they involve a resistance to change and a bias towards evidence that confirms one's initial suspicions²²⁷. As with voices, there is a healthy debate within clinical psychology over details of different theories. Current theories of unusual (delusional) beliefs emphasise thinking errors such as a tendency to 'jump-to-conclusions', the way that some unusual beliefs may protect self-esteem and the consequences of difficulties in understanding social situations²²⁸.

During therapy, people's unusual beliefs are not challenged directly, but rather the evidence supporting them is examined, and the distress that they cause is targeted. 'Experiments' are also set up in collaboration with the individual to test out the reality of the beliefs and their supporting evidence.

As with hearing voices, psychotic beliefs have a number of different dimensions such as levels of conviction, preoccupation, interference and distress, which can vary relatively independently over the course of therapy²²⁹. Again, the available evidence clearly demonstrates that CBT approaches are helpful for people with unusual beliefs^{230,231}.

12.3.4 The effectiveness of CBT

Several published reports of randomised controlled trials (the 'gold-standard' of clinical research) are now available^{232,233}. The largest trial to date (SOCRATES – Study Of Cognitive Reality Alignment Therapy in Early Schizophrenia),with 330 people in their first or second episode of psychotic experiences,is reaching its final stages. There are a number of 'treatment manuals' (detailed descriptions of the therapy) currently available^{234,235,236}.

A 25 per cent reduction in 'symptom severity' measured by standard psychiatric rating scales has been reported as a result of CBT²³⁷, produced mainly by changes in unusual beliefs. It is worth noting that this is similar to the effects of the medication Clozapine²³⁸. CBT is highly acceptable to patients, with 80 per cent reporting being satisfied. Approximately 50 per cent of the people who were involved in the trials benefited from CBT. They tend to be people who have some flexibility in thinking about their delusions, but benefits do not seem to be related to people's intelligence or severity of problems.

Perhaps most interestingly, two studies have found that people continue to improve even after therapy ends^{239,240}. It appears likely that CBT is cost-effective²⁴¹ in the long run.

Most of the CBT packages are offered to people who are able to attend out-patients appointments,but who have some distressing experiences. There is also evidence, however, that people who are hospital in-patients with acute and severe problems may benefit from a psychological intervention based on the same principles^{242,243}.

12.4 Early Intervention

Psychological interventions are frequently designed to reduce distress or disabilities associated with current psychotic experiences.'Early intervention' aims to prevent, cut short or reduce the severity of psychotic problems before they are fully developed. Psychologists involved in early intervention are often as concerned with the establishment of services as they are with conducting oneto-one therapy. Sometimes the emphasis is on people who have never before had psychotic experiences. At other times, the emphasis is on helping people who have had psychotic experiences in the past, learn to recognise early signs of a reoccurrence of the problems.

Early intervention is believed to offer long-term benefits. We know that in general the longer the delay before people with distressing psychotic experiences receive help, the more serious the consequences²⁴⁴. It follows that help should be offered swiftly. Many psychologists believe that it is during the early phase of psychotic experiences that crucial psychological and biological changes occur²⁴⁵.

Early intervention involves identifying the early warning signs of psychotic experiences and offering help early. Specific strategies have been suggested²⁴⁶. Community education programmes could emphasise the fact that help is available, focusing on those who are likely to meet people with psychotic experiences (e.g.college counsellors, homeless agencies,police).G.P.s could be trained to recognise psychotic experiences.An appropriate keyworker should be assigned early, to promote service engagement and avoid social isolation. Treatment should be provided at home or in a non-stigmatised setting whenever possible. Finally, it is important to involve relatives (or main carers) in any plans that are made.

Pioneering services such as the Early Psychosis Service in Birmingham²⁴⁷ in the UK,and the Early Psychosis Prevention and Intervention Centre – EPPIC – in Australia²⁴⁸ have been influential in the setting up of services in Britain. Detailed scientific evaluation of the effectiveness of these services is currently ongoing.

12.5 Family interventions

As mentioned elsewhere in this report, the impact of caring for a relative with psychotic problems can be quite substantial²⁴⁹. While there is no evidence that families are 'the cause of' schizophrenia, nevertheless the stress of caring can affect the quality of the relationship.

Clinical psychologists have been able to develop therapeutic approaches that offer help to carers and are designed to improve these relationships. Family interventions can reduce the frequency of episodes of psychotic experiences and improve people's employment prospects^{250,251}. These positive effects are still apparent 8 years after the intervention²⁵². Such approaches have also been found to reduce stress in other members of the person's family²⁵³. A variety of manuals describe the approaches that can be used^{254,255,256,257}.

Not all people who have psychotic experiences live with their families. Relationships with staff carers are subject to the same factors^{258,259}. This work suggests that mental health teams need to train, supervise and support staff carers to reduce the potentially negative effects of unhelpful relationships.

Although family interventions are effective and save money²⁶⁰, they are uncommon in routine practice, and remain an effective but underused intervention.

12.6 Rehabilitation

The focus of rehabilitation tends to be the social, cognitive, and occupational disabilities that sometimes accompany psychotic experiences. Four types of help have often been provided: social skills training, cognitive remediation, helping people to engage in purposeful activity and providing support in the person's environment.

12.6.1 Skills training

In the past, people who had psychotic experiences sometimes lived in institutions for many years. They often had few opportunities to learn everyday skills. People who experience ongoing confusion can also sometimes benefit form help with learning and remembering social routines such as how to order a meal in a café or present oneself for a job interview. Social skills training (SST) aims to address the interpersonal problems that are sometimes associated with psychotic experiences. It appears to be relatively successful²⁶¹, with benefits maintained for long periods^{262,263}. However, its benefits do not appear to generalise, and the benefits may not always last²⁶⁴.

12.6.2 Cognitive remediation

Some people who have psychotic experiences also experience problems with concentration, attention, memory and thought processes. These can affect relationships²⁶⁵ and treatment outcome²⁶⁶. Cognitive remediation attempts to help people improve their performance through practice and rehearsal²⁶⁷. The evidence for its effectiveness is mixed^{268,269}.

There is a well-known relationship between engagement in meaningful occupation and health status,both in the general population²⁷⁰ and in those with mental health problems²⁷¹. Occupational therapy²⁷² and specific programmes for vocational rehabilitation²⁷³ may be beneficial.There is evidence that employment may have a greater positive impact than any other single factor³⁷².

12.6.4 Ongoing support

Some people experience distress or confusion to that the extent that they need ongoing support in order to live the kinds of lives they want to lead. For example, some people may need reminding about things. Others may need practical help such as provision of meals, or emotional support if they experience severe anxiety or frequent low mood.

12.7 Conclusions

Recent years have seen the development of a number of effective psychological interventions for psychotic experiences. However, different services differ markedly in the degree of implementation of each of the approaches described above. Even the most successful therapies, such as family interventions, are not included routinely. Organisational changes will therefore need to be made in future services to accommodate family and psychosocial management approaches for psychotic experiences.

Section 13: Risk and psychotic experiences

Key Points:

- Most people who have psychotic experiences are not dangerous.
- The increase in risk associated with a diagnosis of schizophrenia is minimal.
- The numbers of homicides by people with psychiatric diagnoses have fallen since the introduction of community care and are still falling.
- People who use mental health services are themselves at risk of becoming victims of violence. They are also at risk of self-neglect, suicide, abuse of human rights and the damaging consequences of treatments.
- There is an increase in risk associated with the diagnosis of Antisocial Personality Disorder. This is, however, a different type of problem from those described in this report. The term 'antisocial personality disorder' is used to describe someone whose behaviour is considered antisocial or dangerous and tells us little more than that. Such a description does not indicate that a person has psychotic experiences.

13. Risk and psychotic experiences

The common stereotype of a person with a diagnosis of a psychiatric illness is of an unpredictable homicidal madman. This is despite the fact that the most common psychiatric diagnosis is depression²⁷⁴ and the vast majority of people with psychotic experiences are not dangerous. Tabloid and broadsheet newspapers alike emphasise homicidal acts by psychiatric patients but fail to report a whole range of other relevant issues of mental health²⁷⁵.

Politicians, the media and a large number of ordinary members of the public have often only been concerned about the risk *from* people who have psychotic experiences. The issue of dangerousness has led politicians to consider legal measures to enforce medical treatment in the community. However, what is often overlooked is that people with psychotic experiences are at considerable risk themselves. They are, for instance, much more likely than others to be the victims of violence²⁷⁶.

13.1 Risk of violence to other people

A very few people with diagnoses of mental illnesses commit violent acts, including homicide (murder and manslaughter). It is very slightly more common for people with such diagnoses to commit such violent crimes than it is for those without diagnoses. However, 95 per cent of homicides are not committed by psychiatric patients and most psychiatric patients are not dangerous^{277,278,279}. Moreover, specific diagnoses like 'schizophrenia' do not predict dangerousness.

Risk of violence to other people

It's no wonder that a kind of liberation movement has arisen, determined to assert its rights. 'Users'argue that we have moved beyond blaming all Black people for the actions of the odd black criminal, yet we still punish all the mentally ill for the violence of a few. We no longer tolerate headlines about 'yids'or 'niggers' yet 'psycho'is still acceptable... All this has happened while the rest of us have been stuck in the old thinking about nutcases and weirdos. The lunatics have not yet taken over the asylum – but they are raising their voice.²⁸⁰

Jonathan Freedland in The Guardian

Some specific psychotic experiences are linked to slightly higher rates of violence. These include 'command hallucinations' and 'delusions with hostile content'. Command hallucinations are voices that tell the individuals to harm others and that the individuals feel they must obey. A delusion with hostile content refers to a fixed and rigid belief about the need to harm others (for example to counter a conspiracy, avenge a misdeed or even carry out a noble mission).Specific psychological characteristics of the experiences themselves are important in the assessment of risk to others, but the person's diagnosis is not relevant.

The widespread belief that people with 'mental illness' are

dangerous may be at least partly a result of selective reporting in the media. A survey by the Health Education Authority found that almost 46 per cent of all press coverage of mental health issues was about crime, harm to others and self-harm. It found that both broadsheets and tabloids made a clear link between mental ill health, criminality and violence, and that stories making this link were generally given more prominence than more positive pieces²⁸¹. Television dramas also often depict people with mental health problems as violent and unpredictable^{282,283,284}.

Thoughtful media coverage

'What we're concerned about is the backlash against people with mental health problems,' explains Mind's spokesperson Sue Baker, 'that has come as a result of an awful lot of negative media coverage about community care and people with mental health problems - and which has fuelled the myth that they are more violent than others, when that's simply not true.'The truth is, paradoxically, the opposite of public perception.An article in the British Journal of Psychiatry last year demonstrated conclusively, using the Home Office's own statistics, that the proportion of homicides committed by people with a mental disorder (at most, 10 per cent of all homicides in any case) has declined year on year, not only since the advent of community care, but ever since the late Fifties when asylum populations were at their peak. The 'schizophrenic', in particular, has become a kind of modern bogeyman from whom we need to be protected.285

Matt Seaton in the London Evening Standard Magazine

13.2 'Dangerous people with severe personality disorders'

Some people who have been given a diagnosis of a 'personality disorder' are more likely to commit serious violent offences, especially if they use alcohol or street drugs²⁸⁶. Personality disorder is a category under the current Mental Health Act that is the basis for the detention of 'mentally disordered offenders'. More specific diagnostic labels commonly used include 'antisocial personality disorder' and 'psychopathic disorder'. Neither of these terms are related to psychotic experiences, but

to people who are believed to be abnormally aggressive or anti-social.

This definition is circular. That is,people may receive the diagnosis because their behaviour is considered aggressive or anti-social and then their violent and antisocial behaviour is seen as being a product of the 'disorder'.In this light, it is not surprising that the diagnosis of 'psychopathic disorder' predicts dangerousness.

There has been considerable government concern at this, resulting in draft proposals for the care and treatment of people given such diagnoses²⁸⁷. There is considerable debate amongst psychologists and psychiatrists about this issue²⁸⁸. But it is worth emphasising that this is a separate issue to those discussed in this report. The vast majority of people who have psychotic experiences, or are diagnosed 'mentally ill' are no more dangerous than anyone else.

13.3 Specific predictors of violence

Diagnoses are not good predictors of violence. The presence of some very specific experiences (command hallucinations and delusions with negative content) is slightly better. The interaction of these experiences with the use of street drugs and or alcohol is also important. Not only do illicit drug use and alcohol abuse predict dangerousness in the general population (for example in relation to public and domestic violence and reckless driving) they are a particular risk factor in conjunction with psychotic experiences.

A recent large scale study in the USA²⁸⁹ has demonstrated that people recently discharged from psychiatric care pose no general greater threat of violence than any of their neighbours. However, those who abuse drugs or alcohol are more of a risk than people with a drug or alcohol problem who have not received a psychiatric diagnosis.

Variables other than psychotic experiences are much better predictors of violence. These include:alcohol and drug abuse;being male;being young;social exclusion; and past history of violence²⁹⁰. If you wanted to predict whether a person was going to be violent in the future, the most important factor to consider would be whether they had been violent in the past.Whether or not they had a diagnosis of mental illness would be less important than their alcohol or drug use, their age, their gender and their social circumstances and their relationship to the potential victim.

13.4 The risk of people to themselves

13.4.1 Risk of suicide

Although it receives less publicity than homicide, suicide is a much more common for people with a diagnosis of mental illness²⁹¹. Successive governments in recent years have set suicide reduction targets as a measure of improving mental health. The problem of increased risk of suicide for people with psychiatric problems remains a real concern for users themselves and for those working in mental health services²⁹².

As with violence, factors other than diagnosis are predictors of suicide (e.g.unemployed status, previous self-harm, chronic physical health problems, and the availability of the means of self-harm)²⁹³.

13.4.2 Risk of self-neglect

In addition to the risk of suicide, the confusion or disorganisation that can sometimes accompany psychotic experiences can put people at risk. For example, some people are at times unable to organise themselves sufficiently to maintain an adequate diet.Someone who is confused is also likely to be at risk of exploitation and abuse from other people.

13.5 The risk of service contact

All treatments bring with them the risk of adverse effects. The negative effects of psychiatric drugs are well documented.These problems are often under-recognised and understated by professionals and the general public²⁹⁴. Some people also at times become distressed when receiving psychological therapies.

Mental health services have been associated in the past

thirty years with mistreatment, triggering a series of official inquiries into their functioning. The mistreatment has included emotional and physical neglect and abuse²⁹⁵. Women on mixed-sex psychiatric wards are very frequently at risk of sexual assault and exploitation²⁹⁶. In the USA there have been a number of law suits against therapists relating to the sexual or emotional exploitation of clients²⁹⁷. Even when properly conducted,psychological therapies often involve talking about painful issues that can be distressing. It is involved before making a commitment to beginning therapy.

Leaving aside neglect and abuse, long term residence in institutions can sometimes be harmful²⁹⁸. Even short-term stays in acute psychiatric units may disrupt people's lives and relationships²⁹⁹. What people generally like most about psychiatric inpatient units is leaving them³⁰⁰. The recent Sainsbury Centre national audit of such units described hospital care as 'non-therapeutic'³⁰¹.

Being admitted to hospital involuntarily is a distressing experience³⁰². People are sometimes put under pressure to enter hospital even though they are apparently giving their consent. This means they can experience an admission to hospital that they do not want, but without proper legal protection^{303,304}.

13.6 Implications for risk management

Risk assessment and risk management should be part of routine care. Risks to others should be assessed and addressed. Similarly, risks to the individual user of the mental health services – from suicide, self-harm,violence and the adverse effects of treatments and services – should also be assessed.

At present there is great local variability, raising the need for national guidelines on risk assessment protocols.Risk management relies on taking an assessment and identifying aspects of the individual's behaviour and lifestyle that can be changed to reduce risk.

There is a false assumption that if people take their medication, they will pose no risk to society or themselves. As we have outlined above, there is large individual variation in response to medication. A more sophisticated approach is badly needed.

Risk of suicide or self-harm needs to be assessed and managed.Disabilities associated with psychotic experiences,negative consequences of medication, as well as the difficult life circumstances of many service users can all increase the risk of self-harm.Risk management should identify and address each of these as they apply to particular individuals.Although 100 per cent accurate risk assessment will never be passible with regard to human behaviour, The British Psychological Society Centre for Outcomes Research and Effectiveness has published guides on risk assessment that may be useful^{305,306}.

Monitoring of adverse effects of treatments should be continuous.Patients should be informed of possible adverse effects and be involved as partners in decisions about any treatment. Polypharmacy (prescribing many different medications) and prescriptions at dangerously high levels should be eliminated.Mental health workers using psychological interventions should be appropriately trained. Effective mechanisms of professional regulation of incompetent or abusive therapists should exist.

Hospitalisation is sometimes necessary, but should be kept to a minimum. If admitted to hospital, the person's contacts with their community should be maintained and care taken to ensure that their lives are disrupted as little as possible. Particular attention should be paid to ensuring that if at all possible they are able to keep their job, if they have one. Attention should also be paid to personal safety and privacy for patients.

There are arguments for the statutory hospitalisation of people without their consent in particular circumstances. However, it must be recognised that such a course of action is serious and highly distressing. Force or coercion will usually aggravate rather than help mental health problems.

Section 14: Social exclusion

Key Points:

- People with psychiatric diagnoses are arguably one of the most socially excluded groups in society.
- They are subject to prejudice and discrimination.
- They are often financially poor and are discriminated against when applying for jobs even where their past mental health problems are irrelevant.
- Media accounts give a very biased picture and help to maintain public prejudices.
- Much of what is assumed to be the effects of mental illness and used to justify social exclusion is the result of either long term neuroleptic use, the effects of living in an institution all one's life, or both.
- Social support and the ability to work are important for recovery. If these are not available because of social exclusion, a vicious circle is set up.
- The policy of community care has not failed.Most people who used to live in psychiatric hospitals have been successfully resettled and are well supported.It is a myth that people have been discharged unsupported in large numbers to live on the streets.The increase in the homeless population is largely due to other factors, for example unemployment rates.
- There is a growing 'User/Survivor Movement' in which former and current mental health service users are campaigning for better services, for the acceptance of frameworks of understanding other than the 'medical model' and against stigma and discrimination. There is a growing 'Mad Pride' movement.

14.1 Evidence of social exclusion

People with psychotic experiences who receive a psychiatric diagnosis are excluded from many aspects of

society that others take for granted. This happens whether they live in hospital or in the community. They are significantly poorer than the rest of the population and less likely to be in paid employment. The public in general is prejudiced against people who are identified as 'mentally ill'³⁰⁷. It is not surprising, therefore, that people with a diagnosis of schizophrenia tend to have smaller social networks than those of their neighbours^{308,309}. Those who have had repeated hospital admissions have smaller networks than those with only one admission³¹⁰. A study of people attending long-term psychiatric day care found that about one-third did not use any recreational community facilities (e.g. clubs, pubs, libraries and public entertainments). A small but significant percentage did not even use public services (such as shops, public transport and the Post Office) that are essential for independent community living³¹¹.

Social exclusion

Discrimination in employment is standard. There are many with psychiatric records who are forced to rinse their talents down the sink and take jobs far beneath their capabilities. I find it humiliating to have to lie to be in with a chance of work. To be advised to lie, to choose to do so and hereby admit a shame about my past, which is not justified, and which I in no way really feel, has demeaned me more than any other single event of my life outside hospital.³¹²

Peter Campbell – personal account

A MIND survey of 778 mental health service users in 1996 found that a third said they had been unfairly dismissed or forced to resign from jobs. Nearly 70 per cent had been put off applying for jobs for fear of unfair treatment. Almost half had been abused or harassed in public, and 14 per cent had been physically attacked. A quarter felt at risk inside their own homes. 26 per cent had been forced to move home because of harassment. 45 per cent thought that discrimination had increased in the last five years, compared with 18 per cent who thought it had decreased.³¹³

I love the small town where I lived, and where my son was born, but I was afraid he would get name called as often as I was, so we moved to a larger town ... I have suffered more

because of the ignorance of certain people than I have throughout my actual mental health problems.

On two occasions I lied when I applied for jobs. On both these occasions I said that my two-and-a-half year absence from employment was due to a term spent in prison. I was accepted for the first and shortlisted for the second. Whenever I have been truthful about my psychiatric past, I have never been accepted for a job.

I find I conceal the information about my illness, rather than risk rejection, which means I feel ashamed and miss opportunities to increase other people's knowledge of mental illness – so the stigma and taboos are perpetuated. **Personal accounts**

The social exclusion of people diagnosed with severe mental illness is not solely a consequence of difficulties in social functioning.Being identified as someone with a mental illness can also contribute to social exclusion. For example, people undergoing psychiatric treatment as outpatients were disadvantaged in terms of both income and work status relative to individuals with similar experiences and difficulties,but who had not received a psychiatric diagnosis³¹⁴. People are also less likely to be offered jobs if they admit that they have previously been patients in a psychiatric hospital³¹⁵.

14.2 Effect of social exclusion on people with psychotic experiences.

There is, of course, a strong moral argument against the social exclusion of those of us with mental health problems. This should be sufficient justification for investing resources in attempting to combat it. In addition, there is evidence that social exclusion makes both psychotic experiences and social functioning worse. Again, some of what is assumed to be a direct result of illness could actually be due to social factors.

Three decades ago, an intensive study of the culture and atmosphere of three psychiatric hospitals³¹⁶ concluded,'a substantial proportion ... of the morbidity shown by long-stay psychiatric patients in mental hospitals is a product of

their environment'. Much of what had been understood as symptoms of an illness (particularly things like lack of emotional responsiveness and social isolation) could be explained by lack of activity within the hospital.

Hospital admission rates for 'schizophrenia' increase and outcomes are less favourable during periods of economic slump³¹⁷. Conversely, rehabilitation services and recovery rates improve during times of full employment or labour shortage. Employment is an important contributory factor in recovery from the problems that lead to diagnoses such as schizophrenia.Indeed,there is evidence that getting back to work has a greater positive impact than any other factor³¹⁸.

Individuals are profoundly affected by lowered social status and receiving a psychiatric label.Acceptance of a label of mental illness is associated with depressed mood and low self esteem^{319,320,321}. In a role-play of an interview, expsychiatric patients felt less appreciated, were judged by the interviewer to be more tense, anxious and poorly adjusted, and even performed a task more poorly and found it more difficult, when they were led to believe that the interviewer was aware of their patient status³²². The pain of social exclusion is clear in service user's own accounts of their experiences.

Social inclusion

I get so depressed because I sometimes feel as though I have no future. I just think I'm going to be a psychiatric patient for the rest of my life, with no social life and not much money ... To try to be accepted, that's it. It's as though you've got to try and be accepted by people, to be normal.³²³

Personal account

14.3 Promoting social inclusion by community education

Given the negative attitudes that exist towards mental illness, some hospital closure programmes have included a public education component, in an attempt to improve the social integration of the people being discharged into the community. Researchers have evaluated³²⁴ an educational campaign comprising information (both

written and by video), social events and informal discussions associated with the opening of staffed group houses for people discharged from long-stay hospital. The effect of the programme was to increase contact between staff and residents of the new facility and their neighbours that resulted in a lessening of fearful and rejecting attitudes within the community. Also, as a result of the education programme more ex-patients reported having made contact and friendships with their neighbours.

14.4 Promoting social inclusion by enhancing social roles

We derive our sense of self from the various roles that we take on within society, such as that of parent, son/daughter, neighbour, consumer, employee, driver, etc. All too often, for people diagnosed with mental illness,the social role of 'patient' takes over. Individuals may develop greater self-esteem and greater acceptance by others³²⁵ if they have a more socially acceptable role in addition to that of 'mental patient'. People with mental health problems living in hostels have more opportunities for developing friendships if their neighbours have been offered education about psychosis³²⁶.

The disabilities experienced by people with psychotic experiences can sometimes get in the way of forming and maintaining relationships. For example, experiences such as hearing voices can make concentration difficult and so make it hard to hold a conversation. The fear of rejection, because of the stigma of mental illness, can make it extra hard to go out and meet people. Sometimes befriending schemes in which volunteers link up with an individual who has similar interests but also a mental health problem can provide people with the benefits of having a friend that they might otherwise be deprived of. Support for the befrienders can be provided by voluntary or statutory agencies.

14.5 Work/employment

For many of us, a major source of self-esteem comes from our work role. In addition to providing money, work, or employment, can provide a number of psychological benefits that are not so readily available from other activities. These include a regular routine, social contact, externally generated goals, opportunities to use skills, and social status^{327,328}. However, not all work environments provide these benefits and it seems especially important that people who are already vulnerable as a result of mental health problems should have work opportunities that do not make their difficulties worse or increase their sense of stigma.

Work can bring about clinical improvement, particularly when this work is paid³²⁹. However, there are a range of different types of work geared towards people with severe mental health problems and currently there is not a lot of information about their effectiveness. Research into the benefits of work for people with severe mental health problems has indicated that self-esteem is related to how important workers feel the general public believe their work to be³³⁰.

Promoting social inclusion by changing the agenda

I suppose what attracts me to some of the Mad Pride initiatives,' says Rachel Perkins, 'and I'm not the going-on-thestreets-demonstrating sort of person – is that I certainly believe we need to challenge the stereotypes people have.' An engaging,energetic woman in her early forties, with a blonde ponytail and large glasses, Dr Perkins works as Clinical Director at the Springfield Hospital in Balham.She is also a manic depressive. 'What concerns me is that the whole agenda around mental health is driven by issues of violence, vulnerability, containment, support – really presenting an incredibly negative picture of the possibilities of life with a mental health problem.My concern is to change that agenda, and look at the contribution that people with mental health problems can and do make to our community.³³¹

Matt Seaton in the London Evening Standard Magazine

14.6 Leisure

Our use of our leisure time also provides us with the potential for additional valued social roles. Some people with mental health problems may have difficulty in

accessing and using leisure facilities. For example, they may not have enough money, or they may feel unwelcome. In Britain,leisure has not received the same attention from researchers or professionals as it has in the USA and Canada.There the Therapeutic Recreation Movement³³² sees the promotion of leisure attitudes and awareness, social interaction skills, leisure activity skills,selfawareness, knowledge of leisure resources and decision making as essential components of the rehabilitation of people with a wide range of special needs.

14.7 Community Care

Concerns have been expressed about the so-called failure of community care. It is worth bearing in mind that such a major social change, in the context of negative attitudes and fears about mental illness, is unlikely to proceed without some problems.

It is reasonable for the public to be concerned about apparent failures of the system to provide vulnerable people with the support that they require. However, regrettable incidents should be considered in context,and not taken as proof that community care as a whole has failed. There is a popular myth that people have been discharged homeless and unsupported in large numbers to live on the streets. There is no evidence for this. Indeed, the evidence concerning the resettlement of people from long-stay psychiatric hospitals indicates that it has been a tremendous success³³³. The increase in the homeless population is largely due to economic factors, such as unemployment and lack of affordable housing, and is not unique to mental distress.

14.8 The User Movements

There is now a growing service user movement in the UK. This has a number of aims, e.g. self-help;challenge to assumptions about 'mental illness';advocacy;campaigning for improved services and combating stigma.

The User Movements

The movement of 'users' of mental health services ... challenge the entire canon of received wisdom on mental illness. Spend an afternoon with some of their most energetic advocates, and the prejudices fall away ... Start with the scary statistic that someone is killed by a mental patient every fortnight. It sound like confirmation of the psycho-killer myth – but it hardly survives scrutiny. For the roughly two dozen homicides by mental patients are a tiny fraction of the nearly 700 murders in Britain every year. Tabloid tales of 'crazed killers'are statistical flam, designed to tap into a deep and ancient fear of the lunatic mad, bad and dangerous.³³⁴

Jonathan Freedland in The Guardian

The User Movements

I have a vision:

That the mental health services that exist will focus more on our abilities than our disabilities, think more about our assets than our deficits, think more about helping us to grow, develop, pursue our lives.

That we will evaluate what we do in services in terms of the extent to which we enable people to live ordinary lives.

That having those who have experienced mental health problems working in mental health services will be no more unusual than having doctors and nurses who have received physical health care working in general hospitals and primary care services.³³⁵

Dr Rachel Perkins

A sense of control over our lives is important for anyone's mental health. For people with mental health problems, having a sense of mastery over one's life appears to be very important for recovery³³⁶. One of the ways in which people who have psychotic experiences can take more control over their lives is to find a way of counteracting the negative perceptions of psychotic experiences held by the general public and many health professionals.Contrary to widespread lay and professional beliefs, many people who hear voices are not particularly troubled by the experience³³⁷ and have no psychiatric problems.This knowledge has been particularly beneficial to mental health service users and has enabled them to come together in 'hearing voices' groups to discuss their experiences and coping strategies in a non-stigmatising

manner³³⁸. It is important for professionals,public and people who themselves have psychotic experiences to become more aware of other ways in which such experiences can be viewed in a positive light³³⁹. Individuals differ in what they see as positive, but often people find a psychosocial framework for understanding their distress to be less stigmatising than a medical one. There is a growing 'Mad Pride' movement,a consciousness-raising initiative that follows the principles of the black,gay and disability rights movements³⁴⁰.

Mad Pride

Mad Pride – the equivalent of Gay Pride for people who have suffered mental ill-health – has truly arrived. There have been Mad Pride gigs, featuring acts ranging from the veteran-punk Alternative TV to the highly regarded C&W band The Arlenes, there have been Mad Pride marches and Mad Pride demos; there is a Mad Pride website, a forthcoming Mad Pride anthology and there are even plans for a Mad Pride Week later this year. Mad Pride is different because, above all, it wants to change the way in which society views people with mental health problems. Knife-wielding loners who jump into lions' dens, 'danger patients' set loose on society like 'bombs waiting to explode', 'lepers' who cannot live safely and sanely among the rest of us, these are the headlines that are driving Mad Pride activists mad. So, using a classic civil rights tactic to combat these misleading stereotypes, Mad Pride takes the label with a negative value ('mad') and reappropriates it.'Glad to be Mad' is its slogan.341

Matt Seaton in the London Evening Standard Magazine

People who rely on services for support in their lives are often placed in a dependent position and thereby deprived of the sense of gratification that can be obtained through helping others. However, the experience of mental health problems and being a mental health service user is a source of expertise in itself, that can be used to great benefit. Section 15 gives some examples. The user movement is now an established part of the culture of mental health services in Britain, with a number of organisations campaigning to improve services^{342,343}. However, the service user voice can still be dismissed if it does not agree with those in powerful positions^{344,345}. Those who use mental health services because of psychotic experiences are at risk of having their opinions marginalised.Extra effort is needed to ensure that their opinions are heard and acted upon.

The problem with services as they stand at the moment is that, in trying to help people, we often make their situation worse. Traditionally, services remove people's choices and sense of control and give them a social identity that is not valued by themselves or others.

A more recent development is the role of service users in the provision of services.Again,Section 15 gives some examples.Mental health services that are provided by people who themselves have experience of mental health problems can be more relevant and more acceptable to the recipients,and instil greater hope of recovery. Benefits to the providers themselves may be improved self-esteem and the development of skills that may open up further employment opportunities. Such services can also help other (non mental health service user) staff to overcome some of their own difficulties concerning the stigma of mental illness³⁴⁶.

Section 15: Implications of this report for mental health services

Key Points:

- A 'one size fits all' approach that sees all psychotic experiences as arising from one cause, and the only answer as lying in one particular type of treatment, cannot be justified from the evidence. Services, therefore, need to adopt an individual and holistic approach.
- The nature and causes of mental health problems are complex and incompletely understood.Services must therefore respect each individual's understanding of their own experiences.Service users should be acknowledged as experts on their own experiences.
- Staff attitudes are particularly important. The effectiveness of any treatment depends on a good, trusting and collaborative relationship between the service user and the clinician.
- The use of coercive powers (for instance detention under 'Section' and forcible treatment) can undermine collaboration between service users and clinicians.
 Such powers should not be further extended.
- Services should be based on the recognition that recovery is possible and that recovery means different things to different people. Psychological therapies should be readily accessible to people who have psychotic experiences. Help with housing,income, work and maintaining social roles can often be as important as 'treatment' or 'therapy'.
- People who have personal experience of mental health problems become experts as a result of their experience. Their help can be particularly valuable in supporting others, in helping to improve existing services and develop new ones and in training staff.
- Training is needed nationally to educate all mental health staff about the information contained in this

report. It should also be part of the basic training of all the mental health professions.

 A large-scale campaign of public education is needed to break the vicious cycle of social exclusion and mental health problems.Prejudice and discrimination against people with mental health problems should become as unacceptable as racism or sexism.

15.1 Putting these findings into practice: the need for a whole-person approach in UK mental health services

This report describes recent scientific advances in understanding psychotic experiences. It is unfortunate that this knowledge has not yet been widely used to improve mental health services in the UK. Much needs to be done³⁴⁷. However, there are some good examples of services based on these principles in the UK and in other countries, notably Australia³⁴⁸, as well as the Netherlands, Scandinavian countries, Germany and the United States.

The final section of this report outlines what a service based on these principles might look like, and suggests the direction in which current mental health services should develop. The emphasis of this section is on values, principles and 'frameworks of understanding'. As this report has demonstrated, these are as important as the specific treatments or types of help which services provide.

15.2 A whole-person approach to assessment

As this report has demonstrated, a 'one size fits all' approach that sees all psychotic experiences as arising from one cause, and the only answer as lying in one particular type of treatment, cannot be justified from the evidence. This has important implications for the process of assessment.

15.2.1 Multiple causes

As we have shown, each person's difficulties are likely to have arisen from, and be maintained by, a unique combination of factors, all of which interact with each other. Cultural factors (e.g. religious beliefs), biological factors (e.g. genetics, brain chemistry, and drug use), environmental factors (such as stress or trauma) and psychological factors (such as a tendency to interpret events in a certain way) will all be involved. As with many other human experiences – such as happiness, for example – a psychotic experience such as hearing voices is likely to be the final result of a combination of these factors, which is different for each individual. We can never know with 100 per cent certainty exactly what combination of factors has contributed to a particular psychotic experience, or their relative importance.

15.2.2 Respect for people's own frameworks of understanding

One important implication is that professionals and other mental health workers should not insist that all service users accept any one particular framework of understanding. This means, for example, that professionals should not insist that people agree with their view that experiences such as such as hearing voices and holding unusual beliefs are always symptoms of an 'underlying illness' such as schizophrenia. Some people will find this a useful way of thinking about their difficulties and others will not.

Respect for people's own frameworks of understanding

1. Use of a 'non-illness' model

Loss of control, whether truly lost or merely removed by others, and the attempt to re-establish that control have been central elements in my life since the age of 18.My argument is that the psychiatric system, as currently established, does too little to help people retain control of their lives through periods of emotional distress, and does far too much to frustrate their subsequent efforts to regain self-control. To live 18 years with a diagnosed illness is not incentive for a positive self-image. Illness is a one-way street, especially when the experts toss the concept of cure out of the window and congratulate themselves on candour. The idea of illness, of illness that can never go away, is not a dynamic, liberating force. Illness creates victims. While we harbour thoughts of emotional distress as some kind of deadly plaque, it is not unrealistic to expect that many socalled victims will lead limited, powerless and unfulfilling lives.³⁴⁹ Peter Campbell

2. Use of an 'illness' model

It is impossible for any sane person even to begin to imagine how I felt. It is also obvious to anyone with a shred of common sense that I was ill.Any characterisation of my behaviour as merely 'bizarre', that such an 'illness'attribution would then be an act of social control (to empower the medical profession) is clearly utterly absurd. My only source of consolation came from ... one must never despair of the love of God.³⁵⁰

Dr Peter Chadwick

Professionals and other workers should respect and work collaboratively with the service user's frame of reference – whether he or she sees the experience primarily as a medical,psychological or perhaps even spiritual phenomenon.Often,of course, people are unsure, or even actively searching for a way of understanding and coping with their experiences.These people may find the research described in this report helpful.

15.2.3 The importance of taking the person's cultural context into account

There is a huge diversity in what is considered an appropriate expression of distress in different cultures. If professionals are not sufficiently familiar with a person's culture, there is a risk that such expressions might be mistaken for psychotic experiences. This is also a danger with religious and spiritual beliefs and beliefs about spirit possession. There is evidence that such misunderstandings are common³⁵¹. Part of the reason for this is that few mental health workers currently receive much training in cultural sensitivity, and there is an urgent need for such training. Mainstream services should also make links with local voluntary sector groups that have more expertise in this area. It is also well documented that the effects of racism are likely to increase vulnerability to developing psychotic experiences³⁵².

The importance of taking cultural factors into account

I don't think they treat black people the same as they treat white people ... We have a different culture from white people, and because we talk loud and we laugh out loud – our behaviour is more loud than white people – they think it is mental illness.³⁵³

As noted in Section 8, people of African Caribbean origin are more likely to receive a diagnosis of schizophrenia than are white people. They are also more likely to be detained compulsorily or to be admitted to hospital via police custody³⁵⁴. There is also a tendency for prescription of higher doses of neuroleptic medication to black people³⁵⁵. Some researchers have linked this more 'heavyhanded' approach to negative stereotypes of black people as more likely to be dangerous or violent³⁵⁶. Mental Health Services have a poor record of engaging black and ethnic minority people in long term care³⁵⁷. Some research into Asian people's experience of services has revealed despair in relation to services, particularly by those unable to communicate in English. There is therefore a need for services to address the cultural needs of clients. This should include anti-discriminatory practice training for all mental health workers³⁵⁸.

15.2.4 Arriving at a joint understanding

One obvious implication of this report is that services need to offer a broader assessment process, one which enables the professional and the service user together to explore all the different factors that may be playing a role. An important part of this will be for the worker to ask about what the experiences mean to the person and how he or she understands them. It is vital that this process should take into account cultural differences, and should extend beyond those factors usually considered by health services to look at the person's possible needs in the areas of housing, employment, leisure, finances and friendships.

It is only when they have looked at all the possible contributing factors in turn that the client and professional can arrive at the most accurate and helpful understanding of the person's experiences.What they are likely to identify is some sort of vicious circle that is maintaining the situation in its present state. This emerging understanding will suggest what is most likely to help. For example, the most important thing to do might be to make changes in the person's environment.If the person is living in a stressful environment, the most important 'treatment' might be to help them find somewhere less stressful to live. On the other hand, it may be that the person can usefully make changes in the way he or she responds to the environment, for example by identifying a tendency to interpret situations in particular ways and attempting to change this.Alternatively, if medication is helpful, the first thing to do might be to try to find the most helpful drug and dose. Each change that a person makes will also provide more information about what is and what is not helpful. This systematic approach is rather like an experiment: a picture of what is going on can gradually be built up, adding or removing links over time.

15.2.5 Changing the culture of mental health services

Traditionally, mental health services have been based on a view of psychotic experiences which sees them primarily as symptoms of an illness to be treated by medication. The idea that this is not the only approach, and that such experiences can be understood in the same way as other human beliefs and experiences, has wide-ranging implications. A fundamental change is needed in the culture of mental health services. The widespread dissemination and use of the information contained in this report will be an important first step.

15.3 A whole-person approach to helping

15.3.1 Not everyone needs or wants help

Perhaps the first thing that the professional needs to ask about is whether the person is distressed by his or her experiences. If the person is not – for example, if he or she has an apparently strange or unwarranted belief but is content with it, or hears voices but is not distressed by them – there is usually no need for services to intervene at all. If the person's friends or relatives disagree, then it may be worthwhile focusing efforts to help around that network rather than the one person. Sometimes the best thing mental health services can do for someone is to help them negotiate the changes needed to live the sort of life they want (holding down a job, for example) rather than attempting to remove their psychotic experiences or unusual beliefs.

15.3.2 Provision of multiple forms of help

Naturally a whole-person framework of understanding implies that mental health services should adopt a wholeperson approach in the types of help that they offer people, paying attention to all the aspects of someone's life that may be playing a role. This whole-person approach should be the cornerstone of services. Mental health services have traditionally concentrated on the biological aspects of psychotic experiences, seeing them as part of an illness and concentrating efforts to help on trying to alter levels of brain chemicals using medication. However, it is now clear that services need to be much broader, and should provide help in a number of different ways, depending on what seems to be most important for each individual rather than on the basis of the diagnostic category to which he or she has been allocated.Different things may also be more or less important for the same person at different times.

15.3.3 The central importance of good, collaborative relationships between staff and service users

One of the most important implications of this report is that mental health workers should see themselves as collaborators with service users rather than as experts whose job is to know all the answers.

Any treatment (including drug treatment) is unlikely to be very helpful in the long term unless the clinician and the service user have a good, trusting and collaborative relationship³⁵⁹. This trusting, collaborative relationship is therefore a necessary prerequisite of, and arguably as important as any specific treatment. Although the importance of effective relationships between staff and users is intuitively obvious, services often do not operate as if this were the case.

Relationships between workers and service users:

I needed someone who would just be there – solid, non-judging, not trying to force me to do this or that, just being with me and helping me to make sense of some very frightening, but also very beautiful and visionary experiences. My essential need was to be grounded, connected to life and the world,not excluded and punished.³⁶⁰

Personal account

It is important for both workers and service users to bear in mind the power differential between them.Professional staff always have power over users and it is important to acknowledge this.Good practice is about recognising this power (and also the contradictory roles of care and control played by mental health services – see below) and avoiding its abuse by making the relationship as collaborative as possible.

Working with people who have psychotic experiences can be stressful. Workers themselves need regular supervision and emotional support in order to maintain an open and collaborative approach towards service users.

15.4 Information and choice

As there is no way of knowing from the outset exactly which treatments will help a particular individual,people may need time and a certain degree of 'trial and error' to work out what is most helpful.It is,therefore, important that people are offered information and choice about treatments,and that professionals acknowledge the limitations in what they know. Information and choice are also important in their own right, both because it is unethical to give treatment without 'informed consent' and also because research has demonstrated that treatments which accord with people's preferences are generally more effective³⁶¹. Information and choice are also fundamental principles endorsed by the government's Patient's Charter³⁶².

The patients' charter

You have a right to be given detailed information about:

Choice and explanation

You have the right to have any proposed treatment explained, including any risk involved in that treatment and any alternatives before you decide whether to agree with it. You can expect to be able to ask for an explanation of your diagnosis in plain language, and to ask for more

information if you do not understand the explanation.

To be told about any drugs you are prescribed including possible side effects

To be told what treatments are available other than medication.³⁶³

15.4.1 Information and Choice: antipsychotic medication

As outlined in Section 11, for many people antipsychotic drugs can help to make unpleasant experiences such as hearing voices less intense and frequent. However, they do not help everyone, and those people who do find them helpful will often have to try more than one (in collaboration with their prescribing doctor) before they find the drug and dose which suits them best.

Information and Choice: antipsychotic medication

In the central nervous system, where there is a multiplicity of receptors for each drug to act on, and where all of us have different proportions of each of these, the likelihood of a uniform response to any one drug is rather low. A diversity of responses, rather than uniformity, should be expected.³⁶⁴ **Professor David Healy**

All drugs (and other treatments) have the potential to do harm as well as good. In helping someone to arrive at the medication strategy that works best for them, it is important that professionals give them as much information as possible about the drugs that are available and their likely effects, including unwanted effects (sometimes called side effects).

People should have access to independent and impartial sources of information about drugs, for example local pharmacy departments and the National Psychiatric Drug Information Line based at the Maudsley Hospital in London (0207 919 2999). All mental health workers should be aware of such resources and inform their clients about them. This is particularly important in view of the large sums which drug companies spend on advertising

their products and in view of the fact that many people are prescribed doses above recommended limits (see Section 11).

Professionals involved in prescribing and administering medication should explore with clients the pros and cons of medication, and help them to explore whether medication is helpful, and if so which drug, and which dose suits them best. They should also help people to work out the medication strategy that is right for them, for example whether they should take medication regularly or only at certain times. As shown in Section 11, this will be different for different people. Some people find it helpful to take medication regularly. Others may only need medication at times of crisis. Others may use it intermittently, i.e. when they recognise certain signs that indicate to them that an increase in the frequency or intensity of psychotic experiences is likely (a relapse, in medical language). This is the principle behind the early intervention approach described in Section 12. Finally, it is important for professionals to recognise that a decision not to take medication is not necessarily irrational or illness-related, and may be in the best interests of the person.

Information and Choice: antipsychotic medication

A negative experience of medication

It was very difficult as an 18-year-old man to do all the necessary learning about social skills and emotions, to develop a sense of identity, and to think about a career and what I wanted out of life, whilst on medium to high levels of neuroleptics. I was at art college, trying to not let hand tremors affect my painting, always feeling half a second out of time with the other students. People told me that when I came off medication, I seemed much more in touch with myself.I was suddenly able to express more complex thought processes again. There is a need to support people if they choose to move beyond maintenance medication as part of their recovery. I believe that I came very close to developing a longterm sick role as a schizophrenic. To escape this prophecy felt like wading through miles and miles of swamp and this was very lonely journey. I had no guides and no stories of success.

Dr Rufus May – personal account

A positive experience of medication

It was helpful for me to regard myself as having had an illness. This made me respectful of the need to maintain and titrate medication. I was eventually able to get perfectly well on a low dose of haloperidol, and I have stayed on that dosage ever since 1981. I have had no relapses worthy of the term, and the medication has helped me to make more, not less, use of my psychological insight and thus genuinely to gain ground. I have deliberately taken only very few 'drug holidays'. [...] It has none the less to be said that for this ... to be maintained over years, spiritual, psychosocial and cognitive-behavioural methods were required – otherwise medication dosage would have needed to have been extremely high.³⁶⁵

Dr Peter Chadwick - personal account

In the past, medication has sometimes been the only treatment on offer for people with psychotic experiences. However, other forms of help have also been shown to be effective, and should be made available within every service. It is vital that service users should be given information and choice about all the available treatments. Different individuals will find different combinations helpful.

15.4.2 Information and Choice: talking treatments

Users of mental health services are often very keen to have access to talking treatments such as cognitive therapy. Demands for such treatments far outstrip supply in the NHS³⁶⁶ (another relevant reference is the NHSE Psychotherapy Review²¹⁵). The content of any talking treatment should be tailored to the individual. For example, some people might find it helpful to try and identify what has caused their problems, whilst others might prefer to focus on how to make positive practical changes in their life³⁶⁷.

As shown in Section 12 of this report, there is now good evidence from large-scale trials that talking treatments can be very helpful. However, despite their effectiveness and their popularity they are not yet widely available on the NHS for people who have psychotic experiences, especially for those who have been given a diagnosis of schizophrenia. There is a powerful argument that they should be more widely available. **Psychological help should be available to every service user who wants it, either individually or in a group depending on their preference**. This is one of the most important messages of this report.

There are a number of different 'brand name' therapies, some of which are described in Section 12 of this report. However, the basis of all of them (and, some would argue, the most important 'active ingredient') is the establishment of a good, trusting and collaborative relationship between client and worker so that the person is able to talk and think about their experiences in a calm, supportive and non-judgmental atmosphere. This can, of course also happen outside of a formal 'talking treatment', for example between a client and his or her key worker in the context of a community mental health team. Both client and worker also need access to the information contained in this report in order to make an informed judgement about what is likely to be maintaining the problem and what is likely to help. All mental health workers should be able to use psychological frameworks of understanding in their work with service users.

Collaborative Alliance?

Clearly, any individual faced with living with serious mental health problems has some very hard thinking to do,some difficult decisions to make and perhaps some risky experiments to try. Anyone in such a situation might value an ally who could help them to work through the issues involved and come to decisions that are right for them. Having decided on a course of action, the person may well then require ... assistance that will enable them to carry through their chosen course and help them to review their decisions from time to time in the light of events. But that is not compliance, rather collaborative alliance.³⁶⁸ **Dr Rachel Perkins and Julie Pepper**

The importance of being able to talk about psychotic experiences

Only once in 15 years of psychiatric intervention, and at the age of 36, was I able to find someone who was willing to listen. This

proved a turning point for me, and from this I was able to break out of being a victim and start owning my experience. The nurse actually found time to listen to my experiences and feelings. She always made me feel welcome, and would make arrangements so that we would not be disturbed. She would switch off her bleeper and take her phone off the hook, and sometimes, as there were people outside her room, she would close the blinds. These actions made me feel at ease. She would sit to one side of me instead of across a desk...Slowly, as trust grew between us I was able to tell her about the abuse, but also about the voices ... At last I had found someone who recognised the pain I was feeling. She helped me realise that my voices were part of me, and had a purpose and validity. Over a six-month period, I was able to develop a basic strategy for coping. The most important thing that she did was that she was honest - honest in her motivations and in her responses to what I told her ... Thanks to the support this worker gave, I have been able to develop a range of coping mechanisms.³⁶⁹

Personal account

15.4.3. Information and Choice: practical help

Many people find either medication, talking treatments or both helpful. However, this is not the case for everyone and even for those who do, help with things like housing, income, work and maintaining social roles can often be equally important in their recovery. Services should be flexible enough to offer each individual what he or she finds most helpful, and as outlined in Section 15.3.2, sometimes this will be practical help (for example with accommodation or employment) rather than 'treatment' or 'therapy'.

Work and/or education are often particularly important. People who are under-occupied are much more likely than others to experience an increase in the intensity or frequency of their psychotic experiences³⁷⁰ and work can bring about clinical improvement,particularly when this work is paid³⁷¹. Indeed, there is evidence that getting back to work has a greater positive impact than any other single factor³⁷². Helping people to find meaningful employment (or places on educational or training courses), and supporting them whilst they are in it, should therefore be a core task for mental health workers^{373,374}.

Importance of employment

Starting employment doing work that was not too demanding, was an important way for me to recover starting off with part time work a month or so after my third and final admission. The job was working in Highgate cemetery as a night security guard.I did once fall asleep on a late shift but my boss took an understanding approach and I held it down for the full nine months. I had a range of jobs followed by four months doing voluntary care work with adults with learning disabilities. Being trusted to carry out responsible and challenging work that I was valued for, was a real breakthrough and gave me the confidence to apply for paid work and make long term plans to train as a clinical psychologist.

Dr Rufus May – personal account

15.4.4 Information and choice: complementary therapies

A recent report from the Mental Health Foundation³⁷⁵ has highlighted the high level of demand from service users for access to complementary therapies such as massage. Many of these therapies are effective in reducing the high levels of stress and arousal,which,as shown in Section 6 can often play a role in psychotic experiences,and they can be very helpful. There is a good argument that they should be more widely available.

15.4.5. Information and choice: self-help

Many people find self-help groups very useful. Professionals and other workers should give their clients information about such groups. Examples include the Depression Alliance, (http://www.depressionalliance.org,tel. 020 733 0557) and the Manic Depression Fellowship (tel.020 7793) 2615), which runs a popular self-management scheme. This scheme helps people learn to recognise early signs of depression or 'mania' and take active steps to manage the situation. People who are experienced at this then help train others. Similarly, material written by, or drawing on the experience of other people who have experienced similar problems can be very helpful (e.g.Baker, P. (1995) The Voice Inside: A Practical Guide to Coping with Hearing Voices. Manchester: Handsell Publications/Hearing Voices Network;Coleman,R.& Smith,M.(1997) Working with Voices! Victim to Victor, Runcorn: Handsell Publications: and

Chadwick,P (1995) Understanding Paranoia:What Causes it, How it Feels and What to do About it. London: Thorsons^{376,377,378}).There are also a growing number of services run by and for service users and ex-users³⁷⁹.

15.4.6. Information and choice: crisis services

Many people need help only occasionally. Some only experience psychosis at times of increased stress. For others there are times when ongoing psychotic experiences that they are usually able to cope with become more intense, frequent or distressing than usual. Sometimes people's friends or relatives may become worried about them and suggest that they need help. At these times, workers need to bear in mind that those making this suggestion may have coped with their friend or relative for some time, and try to understand why help is being sought now. What do the friends/relatives and the potential service-user actually want from professionals? Is it possible to negotiate a contract of work with commonly agreed goals? There is a need for more creative responses to such situations, which build on what service users themselves say is helpful. In the past, often the only help available at such times has been admission to an acute psychiatric ward, and the only treatment has been medication. Sometimes the person has had little opportunity to talk about the reason for their admission and has been left feeling powerless and confused.A recent report by the Sainsbury Centre for Mental Health found that 'hospital care is a non therapeutic environment' and recommended an overhaul of the care and amenities on acute wards³⁸⁰. Talking treatments should be available in hospital, and the importance of 'ordinary human interaction' between staff and patients cannot be overemphasised³⁸¹. It has been suggested that part of the reason for the current low levels of staff-patient interaction is that the concept of 'care' has been devalued in favour of 'treatment'³⁸². The increasing administrative burden on staff in psychiatric wards can also make it difficult for them to find time to talk to patients.Many nurses find this frustrating and demoralising, and since patients often find interaction with nurses the most helpful aspect of their stay in hospital, it also represents a considerable waste of resources³⁸³. Hospital as well as

community staff need to have access to the information contained in this report if psychiatric wards are to become more therapeutic environments.

A range of alternatives to acute psychiatric hospital admission have recently been developed.Such alternatives, which include non-hospital crisis houses as well as home treatment services,should be universally available.A number have been awarded 'NHS Beacon' status, for example the Bradford Home Treatment Team³⁸⁴ (26 Edmund Street, Bradford BD5 0BJ, tel 01274 414007) and the women's crisis house run by Camden and Islington Community NHS Trust (32 Drayton Park, London N5 1PB, tel. 0207 607 2777).There are also examples of crisis services run by service users and ex-users, for example the Wokingham Crisis House³⁸⁵.

Workers should help every service user who wants it to draw up an 'advance directive' stating what he or she wants to happen should a crisis occur in which he or she is considered temporarily unable to exercise proper judgement.'Crisis Cards' which summarise these wishes should also be available to all users of mental health services.All service users should also have access to independent advocacy³⁸⁶.

15.4.7 Information and Choice: Making rights and expectations explicit

All treatments have the potential to do harm as well as good and so workers need safeguard the principle of informed consent.Service users should have access to the same information that is available to workers (research reports, for example), and should have the right to refuse treatments, including medication, ECT and psychological interventions.

The British Psychological Society's Division of Clinical Psychology recommends that each service should publish an explicit statement of what users can expect.One possible example would be the following. Not everything on this list would be possible in every service, especially in settings such as wards where some service users are being detained against their will,and it would need to be adapted for local circumstances³⁸⁷.

- As a client you have the right to:
- Receive respectful treatment;
- Refuse treatment or a particular intervention strategy;
- Ask questions at any time;
- Know your worker's availability and waiting period;
- Have full information about your worker's qualifications including registration, training and experience;
- Have full information about your worker's areas of specialisation and limitations;
- Have full information about your worker's therapeutic orientation and any technique that is routinely used;
- Have full information about your diagnosis, if used;
- Consult as many workers as you choose until you find one you are happy with;
- Experience a safe setting free from physical, sexual or emotional abuse;
- Agree to a written contract of treatment/care;
- Talk about your treatment with anyone you choose, including another worker;
- Choose your own lifestyle and have that choice respected by your worker/s;
- Ask questions about your workers' values,background and attitudes that are relevant to therapy and to be given respectful answers;
- Request that your worker/s evaluate the progress of therapy/treatment;

- Have full information about the limits of confidentiality;
- Have full information about the extent of written or taped records of your therapy/treatment and your right of access;
- Terminate therapy/treatment at any time;
- Disclose only that personal information that you choose;
- Require a written report on therapy/treatment;
- Have access to any written summaries about your therapy/treatment.

15.4.8 Information and choice: The issue of coercion and mental health legislation

The issue of information and choice is particularly important because of the legal context within which mental health services operate. In the past,mental health services have often adopted a paternalistic approach, and in the context of limited resources extensive use has been made of the powers of coercion available under mental health legislation. This has led to a situation where many people have experienced mental health services as coercive and restrictive, and has often been a barrier to the establishment of the trusting,collaborative working relationships which are the cornerstone of an effective service.

Coercion

In the context of my own experiences of psychosis I am ever ready to support consideration of alternative models of care where there is less emphasis on coercive treatment. I still wake up from nightmares that I have been readmitted and highly medicated against my will. In my community work I recognise the same fear in clients who are desperate to not be misunderstood or judged hospitalisable. This fear of losing one's freedom is a massive obstacle to collaborative mental health care. Where possible therefore I believe it is important to not see sectioning and locked wards as given and fundamentally necessary.

Dr Rufus May – personal account

A psychological approach to psychotic experiences such as that described in this report necessitates a willingness to discuss psychotic experiences openly and frankly. It is unfortunate that historically this has often led to unpleasant consequences for people such as involuntary hospitalisation and forced medication. Any extension of powers of compulsion would be likely to continue this trend and thereby make it even harder for services to engage collaboratively and openly with people who have psychotic experiences.

Many psychologists feel that the very existence of separate legislation that only applies to people deemed 'mentally ill' is discriminator y, especially given the difficulties in defining 'mental illness' referred to above. An alternative would be more general legislation based on someone's ability to make decisions ('capacity') rather than on whether he or she has a psychiatric diagnosis³⁸⁸.

15.5 Risk Assessment

At the time of publication of this report, the government is considering proposals for the extension of compulsory powers. These proposals have been largely driven by a perception that such powers would reduce risk to service users and to the public. However, the information contained in this report suggests that such powers would be likely to have the opposite effect and, if anything, to increase risk. Firstly, many people who currently use services would be likely to start actively avoiding them even when they really need help and are most at risk³⁸⁹. Secondly, ongoing conflict between staff and service users is likely substantially to reduce the effectiveness of any treatment offered, including medication³⁹⁰. Thirdly, a collaborative relationship between service user and worker, which is a prerequisite of good risk assessment, depends on the client being honest about how he or she feels and what he or she is experiencing.

Whilst risk assessment is a necessary part of Community Mental Health Team work, public debate should also be encouraged with regard to the dominant media and government rhetoric concerning risk to users and the general public. While there is never room for complacency on this topic, the limitations of techniques for risk assessment also need to be acknowledged³⁹¹. It has been suggested that 'risk factors are somewhat like weather prediction: better at providing an overall picture than a guarantee that we can be sure of what will happen in any specific situation'³⁹². In light of this 'perhaps our most appropriate approach should be to refine and evaluate our basic clinical skills.Suicide rates might well then look after themselves'³⁹³.

The central importance of the working relationship between professional and service user should be emphasised, both with respect to overall outcome and specifically with regard to risk assessment. The Confidential Inquiry into Homicides and Suicides by Mentally III People³⁹⁴ found that: 'Although it was evident that regular contact had been made with most patients prior to the death, we were concerned that the time for one-to-one contact, where skills in developing a therapeutic relationship and opportunity for listening to the patient might be used were very limited … Audit programmes should address the extent and quality of direct staff:patient contact'.

It is true that some people value services taking control when they encounter a mental health crisis. However current legal powers are enough to ensure that this takes place appropriately and the use of advance directives and crisis cards allow people to state what they would like to happen when they temporarily lose their ability to effectively exercise judgement.

For all these reasons The British Psychological Society is opposed to the extension of powers of coercion³⁹⁵. We would also recommend a system of checks and balances for clinical decision making in the areas of legitimate scientific debate outlined in this report, for example about risk assessment, the diagnosis of schizophrenia and the effects of antipsychotic medication when taken for many years.

15.6 Getting from A to B: Improving Services

15.6.1 Learning from users and ex users of services

It is only by listening to what service users and ex-users have to say about services and treatments that professionals can learn what really is helpful to people. Mechanisms should be in place for service users to be involved at all levels, including planning the service as a whole, providing feedback to individual teams and planning their own care. Service users and ex-users are 'experts by experience',and a number of services now not only involve service users in decision making at a high level,but also employ service users and ex service users as members of clinical teams.

15.6.2 Employing 'Experts by experience' as workers

One example of such a service is the South West London and St George's Mental Health Trust, which aims to have at least a quarter of posts, including nursing posts, filled by people with experience of using mental health services. This award-winning service has also resulted in considerable net savings to public funds because of savings in benefit payments, reduced treatment costs and the like^{396,397}. Another example is the Bradford Home Treatment Team³⁹⁸. Case management services are also increasingly employing current or ex-service users in case management roles^{399,400,401} and randomised trials find them to be as effective as case managers as are non-service users⁴⁰².

A positive experience

[In hospital] ... I was listened to seriously and attentively; my requests ...were all complied with quickly and treated with respect.Doctors did not look straight over or through me, they treated me like a substantial human being and were very sympathetic, especially concerning the terrible feelings of humiliation I had about my delusions. Nurses did not generally adopt a controlling, domineering attitude but were usually sensitive, responsive and human.Even ward domestics played a significant role in my recovery.⁴⁰³

Dr Peter Chadwick

15.6.3 Service users as trainers

Service users,ex-users and relatives should also be involved in providing training for mental health workers. Clear standards should be set and audited in this regard both for professional training courses and for in-service training for mental health teams (such as ward or Community Mental Health Team 'awaydays')^{404,405,406,407,408,409}.

15.7 Improving services: Making services more recovery-oriented

One important aspect of what service users and ex-users can contribute is stories of hope and recovery. As discussed in Section 3 of this report, many mental health workers only come into contact with people who continue to need their help (or for those who need help only occasionally, at those times that they need it) and so fall into the trap known as the 'clinician's illusion'. They assume that recovery is rare and that most service users are likely to continue to use services for the rest of their lives. Likewise, although there are thousands of former service users who either no longer have psychotic experiences, or have found effective ways to cope with them and no longer, or only occasionally, need help from services, current service users rarely have the opportunity to meet them. Because of this both staff and service users are in danger of developing over-pessimistic views about the future. Rufus May (see quotation) has described this phenomenon as a form of 'learned hopelessness'. One way of overcoming it is for people who have recovered to be involved both in working directly with service users and in staff training, in order to give both staff and service users access to stories of hope and recovery. Services should be based on the recognition that everyone can recover and that recovery means different things to different people. Some people, for example, will continue to need help from services but can still find ways of leading fulfilling lives and achieving their ambitions.

Stories of hope and recovery

Mental health workers tend to get a very negative view of people with psychosis as they usually only see people when they are most disturbed. They don't see the ones like me who got away. Therefore they have very little concept of recovery from mental health problems or the positive aspects of madness. Psychiatry and psychology have to ask themselves why despite the millions of pounds spent on researching psychosis, we have neglected to look at those who manage to rebuild their lives and live with their difficulties, who have positive outcomes. This neglect has the consequence of perpetuating a learned hopelessness amongst both workers and patients.

Although I am very critical of the medical treatment I received, from a positive perspective I can see psychiatric hospital as acting for my family and me as a safety net. My main complaint was the lack of 'springiness' in the net to allow me to get back on the tightrope. I suppose you could say that I've gone back into mental health services as a clinical psychologist to encourage 'springiness'.

Dr Rufus May – personal account

15.7.1 Improving services: Research and Development

Research and evaluation should be a core activity of any service to ensure continued quality and effectiveness of the service.

However, it is important that quality assurance processes are based on those aspects of change that are most valued by service users, such as improved quality of life, rather than on criteria chosen by professionals⁴¹⁰. There are now well-established approaches to service evaluation, such as User Focused Monitoring⁴¹¹ which employ service users to talk to other users about their experience of services using specific protocols. The Mental Health Foundation, which has recently published a *Guide to Survivor Research*⁴¹², has stated that 'It is through user-led research that a clearer picture will emerge of what exactly constitutes good practice in mental health care'⁴¹³.

There are also a number of problems with the exclusive use of randomised controlled trials as the basis for 'evidence based practice'⁴¹⁴. Such methods provide useful information about doing the same thing (e.g.giving medication) to groups (e.g.people with a diagnosis of 'schizophrenia'). They are particularly suited to testing interventions which fit this 'black box' model, in which the thing given is always the same, and in which groups of people with a diagnosis of 'schizophrenia' are treated as being in all relevant respects identical. This type of research involves ignoring individual variation. Studies therefore actively discount the experience of service users, are based on diagnostic groups which are of questionable validity, and when used to investigate talking therapies often involve testing a poor analogue of what will be possible in routine mental health services. This type of research therefore exaggerates the effectiveness of medication compared with other types of therapy or help.

Clinical governance (defined as:'the means by which organisations ensure the provision of quality clinical care by making individuals accountable for setting, maintaining and monitoring performance standards'⁴¹⁵) may help improve mental health service provision in the UK. However, its implementation will require an acknowledgement of the importance of organisational culture and ideology, and the training,leadership and approaches to evaluation required to shape it⁴¹⁶ Ultimately, the achievement of relationships in which service users can shape their own destiny should be the standard against which such innovations are judged.

The issue of funding for research is also important. Traditionally, drug companies⁴¹⁷ have funded much research into psychotic experiences and this has been based on the assumption that such experiences are primarily biological phenomena. As this report has demonstrated, both this assumption and also the view that that everyone who has psychotic experiences needs to take medication long term, are increasingly being challenged. As drug companies are unlikely to be interested in funding research that is likely to challenge these assumptions, there is an urgent need for alternative sources of funding. Although the Department of Health does not fund drug trials, much of the currently funded research is into 'schizophrenia' or other diagnostic groups. Given the inherent imbalance in research funding for biologically-based research (from drug companies) and other types of research, the evidence

presented in this report implies a need to focus more research funding on 'symptom'-based (rather than diagnosis-based) and psychological understandings of psychosis.

15.7.2 Improving services: Training and educating mental health workers

Perhaps even more important than the availability of specific talking treatments is the need for all mental health workers to be aware of the information contained in this report. Many workers are unaware of the recent advances that have been made in understanding psychotic experiences, and are unfamiliar with the research described in this report. In particular, many workers still view psychotic experiences as fundamentally incomprehensible and continue to concentrate efforts to help on removing or lessening them. A fundamental message of this report is that psychotic experiences are meaningful and understandable in similar ways to other human experiences or beliefs, and can be approached in the same way.

An extensive, national programme of training and supervision is needed for primary care, Accident and Emergency and particularly for mental health service staff. Mental health trusts should ensure that the information and ideas presented in this report are made available to all staff by means of an ongoing programme of training and supervision. Each trust should organise a series of training events on psychological approaches to psychosis for both inpatient (including night and ancillary) and community mental health team staff. Making use of the information presented in this report, such training should not be focused primarily on specific skills but on attitudes and beliefs about psychotic experiences. A culture change is needed in mental health services: with this in mind, training should be delivered on a whole-team basis, and should include managers and team leaders.

Educating policy makers and the public

One group in the country has fewer rights than the rest of us. No one listens to what they say, they are mocked in harsh,ugly language and some can't even vote. They can be discriminated against at work and locked up even when they have committed no crime. Comedians joke about them and now the Government is set to erode their liberty yet further. They are the mentally ill and their anger is growing – driving what could become Britain's next great movement for civil rights.⁴¹⁸ Jonathan Freedland in The Guardian

Educating policy makers and the public

The whole language in which we think about those of us who experience discrimination and exclusion as a result of our mental health problems is one of violence, danger, treatment, compliance and needs for services. For me, the problem lies in our continued insistence on seeing madness in purely 'health' terms. Mental health legislation focuses on which treatments and services should be available and whether we should be forced to comply with them. The mental health world argues about which is better, physical treatments or talking therapies or complementary therapies. I really don't mind - the domain is the same – one of treatment and cure. The wider disability movement did not reject medicalisation in favour of a nicer therapeutic approach. They rejected it in favour of rights - to employment, to be educated, to travel, to vote, to stand as a politician. And now they have civil rights law, and a commission to enforce it, which happily mental health users and survivors can benefit from, if we seize the opportunities it provides. But still the mental health world puts most of its energies into debating which treatments and services people should have rather than the rights that could transform our lives so much more profoundly. It is my contention that those of us who experience mental health problems don't need services so much as we need a life. Mental health problems are not a full time job - we have lives to lead. Any services, or treatments, or interventions, or supports must be judged in these terms – how much they allow us to lead the lives we wish to lead. As for other oppressed groups - the reduction in discrimination - our inclusion in as ordinary in everyday life lies not in the domain of 'health', but in the domain of rights.419

Dr Rachel Perkins

15.8 Changing attitudes: educating policy makers and the public

Perhaps an even greater challenge is to educate the public about the information contained in this report. The report has shown how people can be affected as much by the reaction of people around them as by the actual psychotic experiences themselves. For example, people who are seen as 'mentally ill' often experience prejudice, rejection and social exclusion, which can be significant – sometimes even insurmountable – obstacles to recovery. For many people, prejudice based on misinformation presents a greater obstacle to recovery (in terms of being able to lead a fulfilling life) than the original mental health problems.

Changing attitudes

My recovery involved a battle with dominant social expectations, which was more challenging than recovering from the confusion itself⁴²⁰.

Dr Rufus May

The harmful effects on health of discrimination and social exclusion were highlighted in the recent National Service Framework for Mental Health⁴²¹, which states that health and social services should 'combat discrimination against individuals and groups with mental health problems, and promote their social inclusion'. An extensive, national, government funded campaign is needed to educate journalists, politicians, policy makers and the public about the information contained in this report and to challenge the 'us and them' thinking which is so widespread. Truly helpful responses from services and the community as a whole will only be possible when it is widely recognised that psychotic experiences are not something completely other and alien, but something we could all experience in certain circumstances, and which can be thought about in the same way as other human experiences.

15.8.2 Changing attitudes: The role of the media

For many people, the mass media are a major source and for some perhaps the only source of information about mental health. The media will have a very important role to play in informing policy makers and the public about the information and ideas contained in this report, and in helping to change attitudes.

In Section 13 we referred to the unhelpful way in which

mental health issues are currently often portrayed in the media.Part of the reason for this is the lack of good information available to journalists.In the absence of other sources of material.journalists currently often have to rely on court cases and inquiries.Obviously this will lead to a preponderance of stories about crime and tragedy, and the current practice of conducting a major inquiry after every incident has led to an increase in the amount of such material available. Alternative sources of material are badly needed.Initiatives by service users and professionals can help here. One example is the publication of this report, which we hope will be a useful source of such information.A second is the media agency which has recently been set up by the organisation Mad Pride (http://www.ctono.freeserve.co.uk/index.htm).

There are signs that more positive reporting is on the increase. Two examples are *The Guardian* article by Jonathan Freedland and the *London Evening Standard* article by Matt Seaton which are quoted at points in this report. The National Union of Journalists has issued a guide for its members entitled 'Shock Treatment: a guide to better mental health reporting'.Service users and professionals need to develop a better understanding of media practices and priorities in order to help create news reports, documentaries and dramas that portray 'mental illness' in a human and sympathetic way⁴²². Service users need to be centre-stage in this.The tendency to see those with mental health problems as different and as abnormal will only be challenged by audiences seeing that service users are only ordinary people.

15.8.2 Changing attitudes: Discrimination

There is an urgent need for a new debate about the ethics of mental health care. For its part, the government should take steps to tackle the social exclusion of those who experience mental health problems.Models for this already exist in equal opportunity legislation for disabled people, and anti-discrimination legislation aimed at making racism and sexism unacceptable. The newly formed Disability Rights Commission will have an important role to play, but there should also be specific legislation to make discrimination against people with mental health

problems an offence. The government should establish an Equal Rights Commission charged with the responsibility of challenging discrimination against those who have experienced mental health problems in all areas of society including the media, the workplace and housing. Such a body would campaign for much needed change in other areas such as employment and benefit law and policy, to make it easier for people who have experienced mental health problems to participate more fully in society. We hope that this report will prove to be part of an ongoing major shift in public attitudes that sees prejudice against people with mental health problems become as unacceptable as racism or sexism.

Social inclusion

I have a vision:

That one day I will be able to talk about my mental health problems and attract no more than interest in those around me. That I can go back to work after a stay in a psychiatric hospital and have my colleagues ask what it was like, rather than delicately avoiding the subject.

That one day the law will be changed to allow me to do jury service.

That one day we will see a prime minister who openly talks about his or her experience of mental health problems. That one day I will be able to get travel insurance, life assurance, just like everybody else.⁴²³

Dr Rachel Perkins

References

Part 1:Understanding mental illness

Section 1: What this report is about - introduction

- Gelder, M., Gath, D., & Mayou, R. (1983). Oxford textbook of psychiatry. Oxford:Oxford University Press.
- Romme, M.A.J.& Escher, A. (1989). Hearing voices. Schizophrenia Bulletin. 15: 209–216.
- 3. Coleman, R. (1999). Recovery: An aOlien concept?. Handsell Publishing.

Section 2: How common are these experiences?

- Birchwood,M.J.,Hallett,S.E.,& Preston,M.C. (1988). Schizophrenia: An integrated approach to research and treatment. London:Longman.
- Torrey, E.F. (1987). Prevalence studies of schizophrenia. British Journal of Psychiatry, 150, 598–608.
- 6. Cooper, B.(1978). Epidemiology. In J.K.Wing (Ed.), *Schizophrenia: Towards a new synthesis*. London: Academic Press.
- Hambrecht, M., Maurer, K.& Hafner, H. (1992). Evidence for a gender bias in epidemiological studies of schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Research*, 8, 223–231.
- Shtasel, D.L., Gur, R.E., Gallacher, F. & Heimburg, C. (1992). Gender differences in the clinical expression of schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Research*, 7, 225–231.
- Castle, D.J., Abel, K., Takei, N.& Murray, R.M. (1995). Gender differences in schizophrenia: Hormonal effect or subtypes? Schizophrenia Bulletin, 21, 1–12.
- 10. Hambrecht, M., Riecher-Rossler, A., Fatkenheuer, B., Louza, M.R. & Hafner, H. (1994). Higher morbidity risk for schizophrenia in males: Fact or fiction? *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, *35*, 39–49.
- 11. Cooper, B.(1978).Epidemiology. In J.K.Wing (Ed.), *Schizophrenia: Towards a new synthesis*. London:Academic Press.
- Weissman,M.M.& Myers J.K. (1978). Affective disorders in a US urban community: The use of research diagnostic criteria in an epidemiological survey. Archives of General Psychiatry, 35, 1304–1311.
- Weissman,M.M.,Leaf, P.J., Tischler, G.L.,Blazer, D.G., Karno, M., Bruce, M.L.& Florio, L.P. (1988). Affective disorders in five United States communities. *Psychological Medicine*, 18, 141–153.
- Boyd,J.H. & Weissman,M.M.(1981). Epidemiology of affective disorders: A re–examination and future directions. Archives of General Psychiatry, 38, 1039–1046.
- Leckman, J.F., Weissman, M.M., Prusoff, B.A., Caruso, K.A., Merikangas, K.R., Pauls, D.L.& Kidd, K.K. (1984). Subtypes of depressions: Family study perspective. Archives of General Psychiatry, 41, 833–838.
- Cooper, J.E., Kendell, R.E., Gurland, B.J., Sharpe, L., Copeland, J.R.M. & Simon, R. (1972). Psychiatric diagnosis in New York and London: Maudsley Monograph No.20. Oxford:Oxford University Press.
- 17. World Health Organization (1973). The international pilot study of schizophrenia. Geneva: World Health Organisation.
- World Health Organization (1979). Schizophrenia: An international follow-up study. New York: Wiley.
- Wing, J.K., Cooper, J.E.& Sartorius, N. (1974). The measurement and classification of psychiatric symptoms. Cambridge:Cambridge University Press.
- 20. Leff,J.P. (1982). Psychiatry around the globe:A transcultural view. New York:Marcel Dekker.
- 21. Murphy, H.B.M.(1978).Cultural influences on incidence, course and treatment response. In L.C. Wynne, R.L.Cromwell & S.Matthysse (Eds.), *The nature of schizophrenia*. New York:Wiley.
- 22. Radley, A.(1994). Making sense of illness: The social psychology of health and disease. London: Sage.
- Freeman,H.(1994).Schizophrenia and city residence. British Journal of Psychiatry Supplement, 39–50.
- 24. Faris, R.E.L. (1944). Ecological factors in human behaviour. In R.E.L.

Faris & H.W. Dunham (Eds.), Mental disorders in urban areas:An ecological study of schizophrenia. Chicago:Chicago University Press.

- Fox, J. W. (1990). Social class, mental illness, and social mobility: The social selection–drift hypothesis for serious mental illness. *Journal of Health and Social Behaviour*, 31, 344–353.
- Goodwin, F.K.& Jamison, K.R. (1990). Manic–depressive illness. Oxford:Oxford University Press.
- 27. Tien,A.Y. (1991).Distributions of hallucinations in the population. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology, 26(6),287–292.
- 28. Romme, M.& Escher, S.(1993). Accepting voices. London:MIND.
- Verdoux,H.,Maurice Tison,S.,Gay, B., Van Os,J.,Salamon,R. & Bourgeois,M.L. (1998). A survey of delusional ideation in primarycare patients. *Psychological Medicine*, *28*, 127–134.
- 30. Romme, M.& Escher, S. (1993). Accepting voices. London: MIND, p.59.
- 31. Jackson, M.C. (1997). Benign schizotypy? The case of spiritual experience. In G.S. Claridge (Ed.), *Schizotypy:Relations to illness and health*. Oxford, Oxford University Press.
- 32. Chadwick, P.K. (1997). Schizophrenia: The positive perspective. London: Routledge.
- 33. Romme, M.& Escher, S. (1993). Accepting voices. London: MIND, p.7.

Section 3: Prognosis – course and outcome

- Strauss, J.S.& Carpenter, W.T. (1974). The prediction of outcome in schizophrenia: II. Relationships between predictor and outcome variables. Archives of General Psychiatry, 31, 37–42.
- 35. May, R.(in press).Routes to recovery the roots of a clinical psychologist. *Clinical Psychology Forum.*
- Bleuler, M. (1978). The schizophrenic disorders. New Haven: Yale University Press.
- 37. Ciompi,L.(1984).Is there really a schizophrenia? The long-term course of psychotic phenomena. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 145, 636–640.
- Tsuang,M., Woolson,R.F. & Fleming,J.A. (1979).Long-term outcome of major psychoses: I.Schizophrenia and affective disorders compared with psychiatrically symptom-free surgical conditions. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 36, 1295–1301.
- Kendell,R.E.& Brockington,I.F. (1980). The identification of disease entities and the relationship between schizophrenic and affective psychoses. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 137, 324–331.
- World Health Organisation (1979). Schizophrenia: An international follow-up study. New York: Wiley.
- Jablensky, A., Sartorius, N., Ernberg, G., Anker, M., Korten, A., Cooper, J.E., Day, R.& Bertelsen, A. (1992). Schizophrenia: Mainifestations, incidence and course in different cultures. *Psychological Medicine*, *Supp 20*, 1–97.
- Vaughn, C.E.& Leff, J. (1976). The influence of family and social factors on the course of psychiatric illness: A comparison of schizophrenic and depressed neurotic patients. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 129, 125–137.
- Bebbington, P.E.& Kuipers, E. (1994). The predictive utility of expressed emotion in schizophrenia. *Psychological Medicine*, 24, 707–718.
- Miklowitz, D.J., Goldstein, M.J., Nuechterlein, K.H., Snyder, K.S. & Mintz, J. (1988). Family factors and the course of bipolar affective disorder. Archives of General Psychiatry, 45, 225–231.
- 45. Warner, R.(1985). Recovery from schizophrenia.Psychiatry and political economy. New York:Routledge & Kegan Paul.

Section 4:Problems with 'diagnosis' in mental health

- Gelder, M., Gath, D. & Mayou, R. (1983). Oxford textbook of psychiatry. Oxford:Oxford University Press.
- 47. American Psychiatric Association (1994). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (4th ed.). Washington DC:American

References (cont.)

Psychiatric Association – 4th edition.

- Beck,A.T., Ward, C.H., Mendelson, M., Mock, J.E.& Erbaugh, J.K. (1962). Reliability of psychiatric diagnosis: II.A study of consistency of clinical judgements and ratings. *American Journal of Psychiatr y.* 119, 351–357.
- Blashfield,R.K.(1973).An evaluation of the DSM-II classification of schizophrenia as a nomenclature. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology.* 82, 382–389.
- American Psychiatric Association (1994). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (4th ed.). Washington DC:American Psychiatric Association.
- 51. Kirk,S.& Kutchins,H.(1994).The myth of the reliability of the DSM. *Journal of Mind and Behaviour*, *15*, 71–86.
- Bleuler, M.(1978). The long-term course of schizophrenic psychosis. In L.C. Wynne, R.L.Cromwell & S.Matthysse (Eds.), *The nature of schizophrenia*. New York: Wiley.
- 53. Ciompi,I.(1984).Is there really a schizophrenia? The long-term course of psychotic phenomena. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 145, 636–640.
- 54. Boyle, M.(1990). *Schizophrenia:A scientific delusion*? London: Routledge.
- 55. Crowe, T.J.,MacMillan,J.F., Johnson,A.I.& Johnson,E.C. (1986). The Northwick Park study of first episodes of schizophrenia:II.A controlled trial of prophylactic neuroleptic treatment. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 148, 120–127.
- 56. Naylor, G.J.& Scott, C.R.(1980).Depot injections for affective disorders. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 136, 105.
- Moncrieff, J. (1997). Lithium: evidence reconsidered. British Journal of Psychiatry, 171, 113–119.
- Slade, P.D. & Cooper, R.(1979). Some conceptual difficulties with the term 'schizophrenia': An alternative model. *British Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 18, 309–317.
- 59. Everitt, B.S., Gourlay, A.J.& Kendell, R.E. (1971). An attempt at validation of traditional psychiatric syndromes by cluster analysis. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 119, 399–412.
- 60. Bentall,R.P. (1990). The syndromes and symptoms of psychosis. In R.P. Bentall (Ed.), *Reconstructing schizophrenia*. London: Routledge.
- American Psychiatric Association (1994). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (4th ed.). Washington DC: American Psychiatric Association.
- 62. Hamilton, E.& Huntington, C. (1961). *The collected dialogues of Plato.* Princeton, N.J.:Princeton University Press, p.511.

Section 5:A continuum between mental health and mental illness

- Bleuler, E. (1911). Dementia praecox or the group of schizophrenias. Translated by J.Zinkin (1950) New York: International Universities Press, Inc.
- 64. Claridge, G.S. (1985). Origins of mental illness. Oxford:Blackwell.
- 65. Bentall,R.P.,Claridge, G.S.& Slade, P.D. (1989).The multidimensional nature of psychotic traits:A factor analytic study with normal subjects. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology, 28*, 117–129.
- Claridge, G.,McCreery, C.,Mason, O.,Bentall,R.,Boyle, G.,Slade, P. & Popplewell, D. (1996). The factor structure of 'schizotypal' traits: A large replication study. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 35, 103–115.
- Claridge, G.S.(1994).Single indicator of risk for schizophrenia: Probable fact or likely myth? *Schizophrenia Bulletin*,20(1),151–168.
- van Os,J.,Gilvarry, C.,Bale, R.,van Horn,E., Tattan, T.,White, I. & Murray, R.(1999). A comparison of the utility of dimensional and categorical representations of psychosis. *Psychological Medicine*, 29, 595–606.
- 69. Tien,A.Y. (1991).Distributions of hallucinations in the population. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology, 26, 287–292.

- van Os, J., Hansen, M., Bijl, R.& Ravelli, A. (in press). Strauss (1969) revisited: Evidence for a psychosis continuum in the general population? *Schizophrenia Research*.
- 71. Hemsley, D.R.(1993). A simple (or simplistic?) cognitive model for schizophrenia. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *31*, 633–646.
- Jackson, M.C. & Fulford, K.W.M. (1997). Spiritual experience and psychopathology. *Philosophy, Psychiatry and Psychology*, 1, 41–65.
- 73. Romme, M.A.J.& Escher, A. (1989). Hearing voices. Schizophrenia Bulletin, 15, 209–216.
- 74. Romme, M.& Escher, S. (1993). Accepting voices. London: MIND.
- 75. Bhugra, D. (1996). Psychiatry and religion. London: Routledge.
- 76. Bentall, R.P. (1990). Reconstructing schizophrenia. London, Routledge.
- 77. Bentall, R.P. (1990). Reconstructing schizophrenia. London, Routledge.
- Hawton,K.,Salkovskis, P.M.,Kirk,J.& Clark, D.M.(Eds.) (1989). Cognitive behaviour therapy for psychiatric problems: A practical guide. Oxford:Oxford University Press.
- Persons, J.B. (1989). Cognitive therapy in practice: A case formulation approach (Vol.41). London: W. Norton & Company.
- Persons, J.B. (1993). Case conceptualization in cognitive–behavior therapy. In K.T. Kuehlwein & H.Rosen (Eds.), Cognitive therapy in action: Evolving innovative practice. San Francisco: Jossey–Bass.
- Persons, J.B., Mooney, K.A.& Padesky, C.A. (1995). Interrater reliability of cognitive-behavioral case formulations. *Cognitive Therapy* and *Research*, 19, 21–34.
- 82. Romme, M.& Escher, S. (1993). Accepting voices. London: MIND, p.51.
- Brewin, C.R. (1988). Cognitive foundations of clinical psychology. London:Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Brewin, C.R. (1996). Theoretical foundations of cognitive behaviour therapy for anxiety and depression. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 47, 33–57.
- Brewin, C.R. (1996). Theoretical foundations of cognitive behaviour therapy for anxiety and depression. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 47, 33–57.

Part 2:Causes

Section 6: The complexity of psychotic experiences

- Bentall,R.P., Jackson,H.F. & Pilgrim, D. (1988). Abandoning the concept of schizophrenia: Some implications of validity arguments for psychological research into psychotic phenomena. *British Journal* of *Clinical Psychology*, 27, 303–324.
- Baker, C.A.& Morrison, A.P. (1998). Cognitive processes in auditory hallucinations: attributional biases and metacognition. *Psychological Medicine*, 28(5), 1199–1208.
- Honig,A.,Romme, M.A.,Ensink,B.J.,Escher, S.D., Pennings,M.H. & deVries,M.W. (1998).Auditory hallucinations:A comparison between patients and non-patients. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 186(10),646–651.

Section 7:Biological factors in psychotic experiences

- 89. Gottesman, I.I. (1991). Schizophrenia Genesis. New York: W.H. Freeman.
- Nurnberger, J.I.& Gershon, E.S. (1992). Genetics. In E.S. Paykel (Ed.), Handbook of Affective Disorders. New York: Guilford.
- 91. Rose, S., Lewtonin, R.C. & Kamin, L.J. (1990). *Not in our genes*. Penguin.
- 92. Boyle, M.(1990). *Schizophrenia A scientific delusion*? London, New York: Routledge.
- Marshall, J.R. (1990). The genetics of Schizophrenia: Axiom or hypothesis? In R.Bentall (Ed.), *Reconstructing schizophrenia*. London: Routledge.
- 94. Hill, D. (1993). Illness or illusion? Openmind, 61, 14-17.
- 95. Boyle, M.(1990). Schizophrenia A scientific delusion? London, New

York:Routledge.

- 96. Rose, S., Lewtonin, R. C. & Kamin, LJ. (1990). Not in our genes. Penguin.
- 97. Cassou, B.Schiff, M.& Stewart, J. (1980). Genetique et schizophrenia: re–evaluation d'un consensus. *Psychiatrie de'Enfant, 23*, 87–201.
- Sherrington,R.,Brynjolfsson,J., Petursson,H., Potter, M.,Dudleston, K.,Barraclough,B., Wasmuth,J.,Dobbs,M.& Gurling,H.(1988). Localization of a susceptibility locus for schizophrenia on chromosome 5. *Nature*, 336 (6195),164–167.
- 99. Tienari, P.J., Wynne, L.C., Moring, J.& Lahti, I. (1994). The Finnish adoptive family study of schizophrenia: Implications for family research. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, *164*, 20–26.
- 100. Lehtonen,J.(1994).From dualism to psychobiological interaction. British Journal of Psychiatry, 164, suppl.23,27–28.
- Chua,S.E.& McKenna, PJ. (1995). Schizophrenia A brain disease? A critical review of structural and functional cerebral abnormality in the disorder. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 166, 563–582.
- Liddle, P.F., Friston, K.J., Frith, C.D., Jones, T., Hirsch, S.R. & Frackowiak, R.S.J. (1992). Cerebral blood flow and mental processes in schizophrenia. *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine*, 85, 224–227.
- 103. Gur, R.E.& Pearlson, G.D. (1993). Neuroimaging in schizophrenia research. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 19(2), 337–353.
- 104. Bremner, J.D. (1995).MRI-based measurement of hippocampal volume in patients with combat-related post-traumatic stress disorder. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 152, 973–981.
- Maguire, E.A., Gadian, D.G., Johnsrude, I.S., Good, C.D., Ashburner, J., Frackowiak, R.S.& Frith, C.D. (2000). Navigation-related structural change in the hippocampi of taxi drivers. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science* (14 March, 2000) 10,1073.
- Chua,S.E.& McKenna, P.J. (1995). Schizophrenia A brain disease? A critical review of structural and functional cerebral abnormality in the disorder. *British Journal of Psychiatr y*, 166, 563–582.
- 107. Mortimer, A.M. (1992). Phenomenology: Its place in schizophrenia research. British Journal of Psychiatry, 161, 293–297.

Section 8:Life circumstances and psychotic experiences

- 108. Zubin, J., Stuart, R.S.& Condray, R. (1992). Vulnerability to relapse in schizophrenia. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 161, 13–18.
- Jablensky, A., Sartorius, N., Ernberg, G., Anker, M., Korten, A., Cooper, J.E., Day, R.& Bertelsen, A. (1992). Schizophrenia: Mainifestations, incidence and course in different cultures. *Psychological Medicine*, 20, 1–97.
- 110. Fernando, S.(Ed.) (1995). Mental health in a multi-ethnic society: A multi-disciplinary handbook. London:Routledge.
- 111. Fernando, S.(Ed.) (1995). *Mental health in a multi-ethnic society:* A *multi-disciplinary handbook*. London:Routledge.
- 112. Fernando, S.(Ed.) (1995). Mental health in a multi-ethnic society: A multi-disciplinary handbook. London:Routledge.
- 113. Romme, M.& Escher, S. (1993). Accepting voices. London: MIND.
- Birley, J.L.T. & Brown, G.W. (1970). Crises and life changes preceding the onset or relapse of acute schizophrenia: clinical aspects. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 116, 327–333.
- Day, R., Neilsen, J.A.& Korten, A. (1987). Stressful life events preceding the acute onset of schizophrenia: A cross-national study from the World Health Organisation. *Cultural Medical Psychiatry*, 11, 123–206.
- Bebbington, P.E., Wilkins, S., Jones, P., Foerster, A., Murray, R.M., Toone, B.& Lewis, W. (1993).Life events and psychosis: Initial results from the Camberwell Collaborative Psychosis Study. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 162, 358–362.
- 117. Romme, M.& Escher, S.(1993). Accepting voices. London: MIND.
- 118. Kavanagh, D. (1992).Recent developments in expressed emotion and schizophrenia. British Journal of Psychiatr y, 160, 601–620.
- 119. Bebbington, P.E.& Kuipers, L. (1994). The predictive utility in

schizophrenia: An aggregate analysis. *Psychological Medicene*, 24, 707–718.

- 120. Smith,J.& Birchwood,M.(1993).The needs of high and low expressed emotion families: a normative approach. *Social Psychiatry* & *Psychiatric Medicine*, 28, 11–16.
- 121. Kuipers,E.& Raune, D. (1999). The early development of expressed emotion and burden in the families of first onset psychosis. In M. Birchwood & D. Fowler (Eds.), *Early intervention in psychosis*. London: Wiley.
- Barrowclough, C. & Parle, M. (1997). Appraisal, psychological adjustment and expressed emotion in relatives of patients suffering from schizophrenia. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 171, 26–30.
- 123. Kuipers,E.& Moore, E.(1995).Expressed emotion and staff client relationships: Implications for the community care of the severely mental ill. *International Journal of Mental Health*,24, 13–26.

Section 9:Psychological factors in psychotic experiences

- 124. Bentall,R.P. (Ed.) (1990). *Reconstructing schizophrenia*. London: Routledge.
- 125. Brewin, C. (1988). Cognitive foundations of clinical psychology. London: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- 126. Brewin, C. (1988). *Cognitive foundations of clinical psychology*. London: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Romme, M.A.J. (1998). Understanding voices:coping with auditory hallucinations and confusing realities. Runcorn, Cheshire: Handsell Publishing.
- Parker, G., Gladstone, G.Roussos, J., Wilhelm, K., Mitchell, P., Hadzi–Pavlovic, D., Austin, M.P. & Hickie, I. (1998). Qualitative and quantitative analyses of a 'lock and key' hypothesis of depression. *Psychological Medicine*, 28(6), 1263–1273.
- 129. Anderson, H.& Goolishian, H. (1992). The client is the expert: A not-knowing approach to therapy. In S.McNamee & K.J.Gergen (Eds.), *Therapy as social construction*. London: Sage.
- Green, M.F. (1992). Information processing in schizophrenia. Schizophrenia: An overview and practical handbook. D. J.Kavanagh. London, Chapman and Hall, pp.45–58.
- Nuechterlein,K.H.& Subotnik,K.L.(1998).The cognitive origins of schizophrenia and prospects for intervention.In T. Wykes,N. Tarrier & S.Lewis (Eds.), Outcome and innovation in psychological treatment of schizophrenia. Chichester: Wiley, pp.17–42.
- Frith, C. (1994). Theory of mind in schizophrenia. In A.S. David & J.C. Cutting (Eds.), *The neuropsychology of schizophrenia*. Hove: Erlbaum.
- Corcoran, R., Mercer, G.& Frith, C.D. (1995). Schizophrenia, symptomatology and social inference: Investigating 'theory of mind' in people with schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Research*, 17, 5–13.
- Frith, C. (1994). Theory of mind in schizophrenia. In A.S. David & J.C. Cutting (Eds.), *The neuropsychology of schizophrenia*. Hove: Erlbaum.
- 135. Rochester, S.& Martin, J.R. (1979). Crazy talk: A study of the discourse of schizophrenic speakers. New York: Plenum Press.
- Frith, C.D. (1987). The positive and negative symptoms of schizophrenia reflect impairments in the perception and initiation of action. *Psychological Medicine*, 17, 631–648.
- 137. Frith, C.D.,& Done, C.J.(1989).Experience of alien control in schizophrenia reflect a disorder in the central monitoring of action. *Psychological Medicine*, *19*, 359–363.
- Bleuler, E. (1911/1950). Dementia praecox or the group of schizophrenias (Zinkin, E., Trans.). New York: International Universities Press.
- Schuldberg, D., French, C., Stone, B.L.& Heberle, J. (1988). Creativity and schizotypal traits. Creativity test scores and perceptual aberration, magical ideation, and impulsive nonconformity. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Diseases*, 176(11),648–657.

References (cont.)

- Huq,S.F.,Garety, P.A.& Hemsley, D.R. (1988). Probabilistic judgements in deluded and nondeluded subjects. *Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 40A, 801–812.
- Dudley, R.E., John, C.H., Young, A.W. & Over, D.E. (1997). The effect of self-referent material on the reasoning of people with delusions. British Journal of Clinical Psychology, 36(4),575–584.
- Kinderman, P. & Bentall, R.P. (1997). Causal attributions in paranoia and depression: Internal, personal and situational attributions for negative events. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 106(2), 341–345.
- 143. Bentall R.P.,Kinderman P. & Kaney S.(1994).The self,attributional processes and abnormal beliefs: Towards a model of persecutor y delusions. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *32*, 331–341.
- 144. Kinderman, P. & Bentall, R.P. (1996). Self-discrepancies and persecutory delusions: Evidence for a defensive model of paranoid ideation. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *105*, 106–114.
- McGuire, P. K., G.M.S.Shah, *et al.* (1993). Increased blood flow in Broca's area during auditory hallucinations. *Lancet*, 342, 703–706.
- Morrison, A. P. & Haddock, G. (1997). Cognitive factors in source monitoring and auditory hallucinations. *Psychological Medicine*, 27, 669–679.
- 147. Andreasen, N.C. (1979). Thought, language and communication disorders: Diagnostic significance. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 36, 1325–1330.
- Goldberg, T.E., M.Aloia, et al. (1998). Cognitive substrates of thought disorder. I: The semantic system. American Journal of Psychiatry, 155, 1671–1676.
- 149. Goodwin, F.K.& Jamison, K.R. (1990). *Manic-depressive illness*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- 150. Bentall, R.P. & Kinderman, P. (1998). Psychological processes and delusional beliefs: Implications for the treatment of paranoid states. In S.Lewis, N. Tarrier & T. Wykes, *Outcome and innovation in psychological treatment of schizophrenia*. Chichester: Wiley, pp.119–144.
- 151. Healy, D. (1987).Rhythm and blues:Neurochemical, neuropharmacological and neuropsychological implications of a hypothesis of circadian rhythm dysfunction in the affective disorders. *Psychopharmacology*, *93*, 271–285.

Part 3: Treatment

Section 10:Assessment

- 152. Barnes, T.R.E.& Nelson, H.E. (1994). The assessment of psychoses: A practical handbook. London: Chapman & Hall Medical.
- 153. Howell, D.C. (1997). Statistical methods for psychology. Belmont C.A.: Duxbury Press.
- Evans, J.J., Chua, S.E., McKenna, P.J. & Wilson, B.A. (1997). Assessment of the dysexecutive syndrome in schizophrenia. *Psychological Medicine*, 27(3),635–646.
- 155. McGlashan, T. & Carpenter, W. (1981).Does attitude to psychosis relate to outcome? *American Journal of Psychiatr y*, 138, 797–801
- 156. Read, J.& Reynolds, J. (1996). Speaking our minds. Basingstoke: MacMillan.

Section 11:Medication for psychotic experiences

- 157. British Psychological Society (1999). Comments on the Review of the Mental Health Act 1983. British Psychological Society:Leicester.
- 158. Cobb, A. (1993). Safe and effective? MIND's views on psychiatric drugs, ECT and psychosurgery. London:MIND Publications.
- Herz,M.I., Glazer, W.M., Mostert, M.A., Sheard, M.A., Szymanski, H.V., Hafez, H., Mirza, M.& J., V. (1991). Intermittent vs maintenance medication in schizophrenia. *Archives of General Psychiatr y*, 48, 333–339.
- 160. Jolley, A.G., Hirsch, S.R., Morrison, E., McRink, A. & Wilson, L. (1990).

Trial of brief intermittent neuroleptic prophylaxis for selected schizophrenic outpatients: clinical and social outcome at two years. *British Medical Journal*, 301, 837–842.

- 161. Romme, M.& Escher, S. (1993). Accepting voices. London: MIND, p.55.
- Brown, W.A.& Herz,L.R.(1989).Response to neuroleptic drugs as a device for classifying schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 15, 123–128.
- 163. Warner, R.(1985). Recovery from schizophrenia.Psychiatry and political economy. New York:Routledge & Kegan Paul.
- 164. Awad, A.G., & Hogan, T.P. (1994). Subjective response to neuroleptics and the quality of life: Implications for treatment outcome. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica, 89, Suppl 380, 27–32.
- Van Putten, T. & May, P.R. (1978). Subjective response as a predictor of outcome in pharmacotherapy. Archives of General Psychiatry, 35, 477–480.
- Van Putten, T., May, P.R.A. & Marder, S.R. (1984). Akathisia with haloperidol and thiothixene. *Archives of General Psychiatr y*, 41, 1036–1039.
- Jeste, D.V. & Wyatt, R.J. (1979). In search of treatment of tardive dyskinesia: Review of the literature. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 5, 251–293.
- 168. Kennedy, P.F., Hershon, H.I.& McGuire, R.J. (1971). Extrapyramidal disorders after prolonged phenothiazine therapy. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, *118*, 509–518.
- Swett, C. (1975).Drug induced dystonia. American Journal of Psychiatry, 132, 532–534.
- 170. Van Putten, T., May, P.R.A.& Marder, S.R. (1984). Akathisia with haloperidol and thiothixene. *Archives of General Psychiatr y*, *41*, 1036–1039.
- 171. Lingjaerde, O.,Ahlfors, V.G.,Dech, P.,Dencker, S.J.& Elgen,K. (1987). The UKU side effect rating scale for psychotropic drugs and a cross sectional study of side effects in neuroleptic treated patients. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica Supplementum*, 334, 76.
- Thorogood, N., Cowen, P., Mann, J., Murphy, M. & Vessey, M. (1992). Fatal myocardial infarction and use of psychotropic drugs in young women. *Lancet*, 340, 1067–1068.
- Dickes, R., Schenker, V. & Deutsch, L. (1957). Serial liver function and blood studies in patients receiving chlorpromazine. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 256, 1–7.
- 174. Caroff,S.N.(1980).The neuroleptic malignant syndrome. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 41, 79–83.
- 175. Dukes,M.N.G.(Ed.) (1992). *Meyler's side effects of drugs*. Amsterdam: Elsevier.
- 176. Gordon, H.L., & Grotte, C. (1964). Weight changes during and after hospital treatment. Archives of General Psychiatry, 10, 187–191.
- 177. Sullivan,G.& Lukoff, D. (1990).Sexual side effects of antipsychotic medication:Evaluation and interventions. *Hospital and Community Psychiatry*, 41, 1238–1241.
- 178. Schooler, N.R.(1994). Deficit symptoms in schizophrenia: Negative symptoms versus neuroleptic-induced deficits. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 89, 21–26.
- 179. Chadwick, P.K. (1997). Schizophrenia: The positive perspective. London: Routledge, p.50.
- Crow, T.J., MacMillan, J.F., Johnson, A.L.& Johnstone, E. C. (1986). The Northwick Park study of first episodes of schizophrenia. II: A controlled of prophylactic neuroleptic treatment. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 148, 120–127.
- Meltzer, H.Y., Casey, D.E., Garver, D.L., Lasagna, L., Marder, S.R., Masand, P.S., Miller, D., Pickar, D. & Tandon, R. (1998). Adverse effects of the atypical antipsychotics. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 59(S12), 17–22.
- Kane, J., Honigfeld, G., Singer, J.& Meltzer, H. (1988). Clozapine for the treatment resistant schizophrenic. Archives of General Psychiatry, 45, 789–796.
- 183. Bollini, P., Pampallona, S., Orza, M.J., Adams, M.E.& Chalmers, T.C.

(1994). Antipsychotic drugs: Is more worse? A meta analysis of the published randomized controlled trials. *Psychological Medicine*, 24, 307–316.

- Royal College of Psychiatrists (1993). Consensus statement on the use of high dose antipsychotic medication (No. CR26). *Royal College* of Psychiatrists.
- Sharp, H.M., Healy, D. & Fear, C.F. (1998) Symptoms or side effects? Methodological hazards and therapeutic principles. *Human Psychopharmacology Clinical and Experimental*, 13(7), 467–475.
- 186. Green, J.H. (1988). Frequent rehospitalisation and non-compliance with treatment. *Hospital and Community Psychiatry*, *39*, 963–966.
- Rogers, A., Day, J., Wood, P., Randall, F., Healy, D. & Bentall, R. P. (1998). Subjective experience of neuroleptic medication: A view from the other side. *Social Science and Medicine*, 47, 1212–1323.
- Finn,S.E.,Bailey, J.M.,Scultz,R.T. & Faber, R.(1990). Subjective utility ratings of neuroleptics in treating schizophrenia. *Psychological Medicine*, 35, 843–848.
- Day, J.& Bentall, R.P. (1996). Schizophrenic patients' experience of neuroleptic medication: A q-methodological investigation. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica, 93, 397–402.
- Rogers, A., Day, J., Wood, P., Randall, F., Healy, D. & Bentall, R.P. (1998). Subjective experience of neuroleptic medication: A view from the other side. *Social Science and Medicine*, 47, 1212–1323.
- 191. Perkins, R.E.& Repper, J. (1998). Dilemmas in community mental health practice. Abingdon: Radcliffe Medical Press.
- 192. Sackett, D.L.& Snow, J.C. (1979). The magnitudde of compliance and non-compliance. In R.B.Haynes & D.W. Taylor (Eds.), *Compliance in healthcare*. Baltimore: John Hopkins Press.
- 193. Hoge, S.K., Appelbaum, P.S., Lawlor, T., Beck, J.C., Litman, R., Greer, A., Gutheil, T.G.& Kaplan, E. (1990). A prospective, multi-centre study of patients' refusal of antipsychotic medication. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 47, 949–956.
- 194. Hogan, T.P. & Awad, A.G. (1992). Subjective response to neuroleptics and outcome in schizophrenia: A re–examination using two measures. *Psychological Medicine*, *22*, 347–352.
- 195. Corrigan, P.W., Liberman, R.P. & Engel, J.D. (1990). From noncompliance to collaboration in the treatment of schizophrenia. *Hospital and Community Psychiatry*, 41, 1203–1211.
- 196. Frank, A.F. & Gunderson, J.G. (1990). The role of the therapeutic alliance in the treatment of schizophrenia: Relationship to course and outcome. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 47, 228–236.
- 197. Piatkowska, O. & Farnill, D. (1992).Medication compliance or alliance? A client-centred approach to increasing adherence. In D. J. Kavanagh (Ed.), Schizophrenia:An overview and practical handbook. London:Chapman & Hall.
- Day, J.C., Wood, G., Dewey, M.& Bentall, R.P. (1995). A self-rating scale for measuring neuroleptic side effects: Validation in a group of schizophrenic patients. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 166.
- 199. Hogan, T.P., Awad, A.G.& Eastwood, R. (1983). A self-report scale predicitive of drug compliance in schizophrenics: Reliability and discriminative validity. *Psychological Medicine*, *13*, 177–183.
- 200. Frank, A.F. & Gunderson, J.G. (1990). The role of the therapeutic alliance in the treatment of schizophrenia: Relationship to course and outcome. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 47, 228–236.
- 201. Eckman, T.A.& Liberman, R.P. (1990). A large-scale field test of a medication management skills training program for people with schizophrenia. *Psychosocial Rehabilitation Journal*, *13*, 31–35.
- Kelly, G.R., & Scott, J.E. (1990). Medication compliance and health education among chronic outpatients with mental disorders. *Medical Care*, 28, 1181–1197.
- 203. Perkins,R.E.& Repper, J.(1998). Dilemmas in community mental health practice. Abingdon:Radcliffe Medical Press.
- Cobb, A.(1993) Safe and effective? MIND's views on psychiatric drugs, ECT and psychosurgery. London:MIND Publications.
- 205. Kemp, R., Hayward, P., Applethwaite, G., Everitt, B.& David, A. (1996).

Compliance therapy in psychosis:Randomised controlled trial. *British Medical Journal*, 312, 345–349.

- 206. Licht, R.W. (1998). Drug treatment of mania:a critical review. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica, 97(6), 387–97.
- Gitlin, M.J., Swendsen, J., Heller, T.L.& Hammen, C. (1995). Relapse and impairment in bipolar disorder. *American Journal of Psychiatr y*, 152(11), 1635–1640.
- Baldessarini, R.J., Tondo, L., Faedda, G.L., Suppes, T.R., Floris, G. & Rudas, N. (1996). Effects of the rate of discontinuing lithium maintenance treatment in bipolar disorders. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 57(10), 441–448.
- 209. British Psychological Society (1999). Comments of the British Psychological Society on the review of the mental health act 1993. Leicester: British Psychological Society.

Section 12:Psychological interventions for psychotic experiences

- Neuchterlein,K.H.& Dawson,M.E. (1984). An heuristic vulnerabilitystress model of schizophrenic episodes. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 10, 300–312.
- 211. Hogarty, G.& Ulrich, R. (1998). The limitations of antipsychotic medication on schizophrenia relapse and adjustment and the contributions of psychosocial treatment. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, *32*, 243–250.
- 212. Wood, D. (1993). The power of words:Uses and abuses of talking treatments. London:Mind Publications, p.9.
- Kuipers, E., Garety, P.A., Fowler, D., Dunn, G., Bebbington, P., Freeman, D. & Hadley, C. (1997). London-East Anglia randomised controlled trial of cognitive-behavioural therapy for psychosis.l: Effects of treatment phase. *British Journal of Psychiatr y*, 171, 319–327.
- Sensky, T., Turkington, D., Kingdon, D., Scott, J. L., Scott, J., Siddle, R., O'Carroll, M.& Barnes, T.R. (2000). A randomized controlled trial of cognitive-behavioral therapy for persistent symptoms in schizophrenia resistant to medication. *Archives of General Psychiatr y*, 57(2), 165–172.
- 215. National Health Service Executive (1996). NHS Psychotherapy Services in England. London:Department of Health.
- Karon, B.P. & Vandenbos, G.R. (1970). Experience, medication and the effectiveness of psychotherapy with schizophrenics. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 116(533),427–428.
- 217. National Health Service Executive (1996). *NHS Psychotherapy* Services in England. London:Department of Health.
- Gunderson, J.G., Frank, A.F., Katz, H.M., Vannicelli, M.L., Frosch, J.P. & Knapp, P.H. (1984). Effects of psychotherapy in schizophrenia. II: Comparative outcome of two forms of treatment. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 10, 564–598.
- 219. Beck, A.T., Rush, A.J., Shaw, B.F. & Emery, G. (1979). Cognitive therapy of depression. New York: Guildford Press.
- Wood, D. (1993). The power of words:Uses and abuses of talking treatments. London:Mind Publications, p.16.
- Morrison, A.P. & Haddock, G. (1997). Cognitive factors in source monitoring and auditory hallucinations. *Psychological Medicine*, 27, 669–679.
- Margo, A., Hemsley, D.R.& Slade, P.D. (1981). The effects of varying auditory input on schizophrenic hallucinations. British Journal of Psychiatry, 139, 122–127.
- Chadwick, P. & Birchwood, M. (1994). The omnipotence of voices: A cognitive approach to auditory hallucinations. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 164, 190–201.
- Haddock,G., Tarrier, N., Spaulding, W., Yusupoff,L., Kinney, C. & McCarthy, E. (1998). Individual cognitive-behavior therapy in the treatment of hallucinations and delusions: A review. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 18, 821–838.
- 225. Shergill,S.S.,Murray, R.& McGuire, P.K. (1998). Auditory

References (cont.)

hallucinations: A review of psychological treatments. *Schizophrenia Research*, 32, 137–150.

- Wykes, T., Reeder, C., Corner, J., Williams, C. & Everitt, B. (1999). The effects of neurocognitive remediation on executive processing in patients with schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 25(2), 291–307.
- 227. Evans, B. (1990). Bias in human reasoning: Causes and consequences. Psychology Press.
- Garety, P.A.& Freeman, D. (1999). Cognitive approaches to delusions: A critical review of theories and evidence. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 38(2),113–154.
- 229. Brett-Jones, J., Garety, P.A.& Hemsley, D.R. (1987). Measuring delusional experiences: A method and its application. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology*, *26*, 257–265.
- 230. Chadwick, P. & Lowe, C. F. (1990). The measurement and modification of delusional beliefs. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 58, 225–232.
- Chadwick, P. & Lowe, C.F. (1994). A cognitive approach to measuring and modifying delusions. *Behaviour, Research and Therapy, 32*, 355–367.
- 232. Kuipers, E., Garety, P.A., Fowler, D., Dunn, G., Bebbington, P., Freeman, D. & Hadley, C. (1997). London-East Anglia randomised controlled trial of cognitive-behavioural therapy for psychosis. I: Effects of treatment phase. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 171, 319–327.
- 233. Sensky, T., Turkington, D., Kingdon, D., Scott, J. L., Scott, J. Siddle, R., O'Carroll, M.& Barnes, T.R. (2000). A randomized controlled trial of cognitive-behavioral therapy for persistent symptoms in schizophrenia resistant to medication. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 57(2),165–172.
- Kingdon, D.G. & Turkington, D. (1994). Cognitive-behavioural therapy of schizophrenia. Erlbaum.
- 235. Fowler, D., Garety, P.A.& Kuipers, E. (1995). *Cognitive behaviour therapy for psychosis*. Chichester: Wiley.
- 236. Chadwick, P.D.J., Birchwood, M. & Trower, P. (1996). Cognitive therapy with delusions and voices. Chichester: Wiley.
- 237. Kuipers, E., Garety, P.A., Fowler, D., Dunn, G., Bebbington, P., Freeman, D. & Hadley, C. (1997). London-East Anglia randomised controlled trial of cognitive-behavioural therapy for psychosis. I: Effects of treatment phase. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 171, 319–327.
- 238. Kane, J.M., Honingfeld, G., Singer, J. *et al.* (1988). Clozapine for the treatment-resistant schizophrenic: A double blind comparison with chlorpromazine. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *45*, 789–796.
- Kuipers, E., Fowler, D., Garety, P.A., Chisholm, D., Freeman, D., Dunn, G., Bebbington, P. & Hadley, C. (1998). London-East Anglia randomised controlled trial of cognitive-behavioural therapy for psychosis. III: Follow-up and economic evaluation at 18 months. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 173, 61–68.
- 240. Sensky, T., Turkington, D., Kingdon, D., Scott, J.L., Scott, J., Siddle, R., O'Carroll, M.& Barnes, T.R. (2000). A randomized controlled trial of cognitive-behavioral therapy for persistent symptoms in schizophrenia resistant to medication. *Archives of General Psychiatr y*, 57(2),165–172.
- 241. Kuipers, E., Fowler, D., Garety, P.A., Chisholm, D., Freeman, D., Dunn, G., Bebbington, P. & Hadley, C. (1998). London-East Anglia randomised controlled trial of cognitive-behavioural therapy for psychosis.III: Follow-up and economic evaluation at 18 months. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 173, 61–68.
- 242. Drury, V, Birchwood, M., Cochrane R.& McMillan, F. (1996b). Cognitive therapy and recovery from acute psychosis: A controlled trial.II:Impact on recovery time. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 169, 602–607.
- Haddock,G., Tarrier, N., Spaulding, W., Yusupoff,L., Kinney, C. & McCarthy, E.(1998). Individual cognitive-behavior therapy in the treatment of hallucinations and delusions: A review. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 18, 821–838.
- 244. Loebel, A.D., Liberman, J.A., Alvir, J.M. et al. (1992). Duration of

psychosis and outcome in first episode schizophrenia. American Journal of Psychiatry, 149, 1183–1188.

- Birchwood, M., Todd, P. & Jackson, C. (1998). Early intervention in psychosis: The critical period hypothesis. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 172(33),53–59.
- Birchwood, M., Smith, J., McMillan, F., Hogg, B., Prasad, R., Harvey C. & Bering, S. (1989). Predicting relapse in schizophrenia: The development and implementation of an early signs monitoring system using patients and families as observers, a preliminary investigation. *Psychological Medicine*, 19, 649–656.
- 247. Birchwood, M., McGorry, P. & Jackson, H. (1997). Early intervention in schizophrenia. *British Journal of Psychiatr y*, 170, 2–5.
- McGorry, P.D., Edwards, J., Mihalopoulos, C., Harrigan, S.M. & Jackson, H.J. (1996). Early Psychosis Prevention and Intervention Centre (EPPIC): An evolving system of early detection and optimal management. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 22, 305–326.
- 249. Fadden, G., Bebbington, P. & Kuipers, L. (1987). Caring and its burden. British Journal of Psychiatry, 151, 660–667.
- 250. Mari,J.J.& Streiner, D. (1996). The effects of family intervention for those with schizophrenia. *The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, Issue 3.*
- 251. Penn, D. & Mueser, K.(1996).Research update on the psychosocial treatment of schizophrenia. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 153, 607–617.
- 252. Tarrier, N.& Barrowclough, C. (1996).Family intervention in schizophrenia and their long-term outcomes. *International Journal of Mental Health*, *24*, 38–53.
- Penn, D. & Mueser, K. (1996). Research update on the psychosocial treatment of schizophrenia. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 153, 607–617.
- 254. Falloon, I.R.H. (1985). Family management of schizophrenia. Baltimore: John Hopkins University Press.
- 255. Anderson, C. Reiss, D. & Hogarty, C.E. (1986). Schizophrenia in the family: A practical guide. New York: Guilford press.
- Barrowclough, C. & Tarrier, N. (1992). Families of schizophrenic patients:Cognitive behavioural interventions. London:Chapman & Hall.
- 257. Kuipers,L.(1992).Expressed emotion research in Europe. British Journal of Clinical Psychology, 31(4),429–443.
- Herzog, T. (1992). Nurses, patients and relatives: A study of family patterns on psychiatric wards. Family Intervention in Schizophrenia: Experiences and Orientations in Europe. C. L. C. G.Invernizzi.Milan: ARS.
- 259. Moore, E.,Ball,R.& Kuipers,L.(1992).Expressed emotion in staff working with the long-term adult mentally ill. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, *161*, 802–808.
- Tarrier, N., Lowson, K.& Barrowclough, C. (1991). Some aspects of family interventions in schizophrenia. II: Financial considerations. British Journal of Psychiatry, 159, 481–484.
- Liberman, R.P., Mueser, K.T. & Wallace, C.G. (1986). Social skills training for schizophrenic individuals at risk for relapse. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 143, 523–526.
- Wirshing, W.C., Marder, S.R.& Eckman, T. (1992). Acquisition and retention of skills training methods in chronic schizophrenic outpatients. *Psychopharmacological Bulletin*, 28, 241–245.
- Marder, S.R., Wirshing, W.C. & Mintz, J. (1996). Two-year outcome of social skills, training and group psychotherapy for outpatients with schizophrenia. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 153, 1585–1592.
- Benton,M.K.& Schroeder, H.E. (1990). Social skills training with schizophrenics: A meta-analytic evaluation. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 58, 741–747.
- Wykes, T. & Dunn, G. (1992). Cognitive deficit and the prediction of rehabilitation success in a chronic psychiatric group. *Psychological Medicine*, 22, 389–398.
- 266. Mueser, K.T.,Bellack, A., Douglas, M.S. & Wade, J. (1991). Prediction of social skills acquisition in schizophrenic and major affective

disorder patients from memory and symptomatology. *Psychiatry* Research, 37, 281–296.

- Brenner, H., Roder, V., Hodel, B., Kienzle, N., Reed, D. & Liberman, R. (1994). Integrated psychological therapy for schizophrenia patients. Toronto: Hogrefe & Huber.
- 268. Hogarty, G.& Flesher, S.(1992).Cognitive remediation in schizophrenia:Proceed ... with caution! *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, *18*, 51–57.
- Wykes, T., Reeder, C., Corner, J., Williams, C. & Everitt, B. (1999). The effects of neurocognitive remediation on executive processing in patients with schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 25(2), 291–307.
- 270. Warr, P. (1987). *Work,unemployment and mental health.* Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- 271. Warner, R.(1985). Recovery from schizophrenia. London:Routledge.
- 272. Chadwick, P.K. (1997). Schizophrenia: The positive perspective. London: Routledge.
- 273. Harding, C.M., Strauss, J.S., Hafez, H.& Lieberman, P.B. (1987). Work and mental illness. I: Toward an integration of the rehabilitation process. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 175(6),317–326.

Section 13:Risk and psychotic experiences

- Jones, L. & Cochrane, R. (1981). Stereotypes of mental illness. A test of the labelling hypothesis. International Journal of Social Psychiatry. 27(2):99–107.
- 275. Philo, G.,Secker, J.,Platt,S.,Henderson,L.,McLaughlin,G. & Burnside, J.(1996).Media images of mental distress.In T. Heller, J.Reynolds,R.Gomm,R.Muston & S.Pattison (Eds.), *Mental health matters:A reader.* Basingstoke:Macmillan.
- 276. Pilgrim, D. & Rogers, D. (1996). Two notions of risk in mental health research.In T. Heller, J.Reynolds, R.Gomm, R.Muston & S.Pattison (Eds.), *Mental health matters:A reader*. Basingstoke:Macmillan.
- 277. Taylor, P.J.& Gunn, J. (1999). Homicides by people with mental illness: Myth and reality. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 174, 9–14.
- Wallace, C., Mullen, P., Burgess, P., Palmer, S., Ruschena, D. & Browne, C. (1998). Serious criminal offending and mental disorder. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 172(6),477–484.
- Steadman, H.J., Mulvey, E.P., Monahan, J., Robbins, P.C., Appelbaum, P.S., Grisso, T., Roth, L.H.& Silver, E. (1998). Violence by people discharged from acute psychiatric inpatient facilities and by others in the same neighborhoods. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 55(5), 393–401.
- 280. Freedland,J.(1998).Out of the bin and glad to be mad. *The Guardian*, 21 January 1998.
- 281. Ward,G.(1997). Making headlines Mental health and the national press. London:Health Education Authority.
- Rose, D. (1998). Television,madness and community care. *Journal of Community & Applied Social Psychology*, 8, 213–228.
- Wilson, C., Nairn, R., Coverdale, J.& Panapa, A. (1999). Mental illness depictions in prime-time drama: Identifying the discursive resources. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 33, 232–239.
- 284. Wilson, C., Nairn, R., Coverdale, J.& Panapa, A. (1999). Constructing mental illness as dangerous: A pilot study. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 33, 240–247.
- 285. Seaton, M. (2000). London Evening Standard Magazine, Friday 17th March 2000.
- Department of Health (1999). Safer services:National confidential inquiry into suicide and homicide by people with mental illness. Department of Health,March 1999.
- Department of Health/Home Office (1999). Managing dangerous people with severe personality disorder. Department of Health/Home Office, July 1999.
- British Psychological Society (1999). British Psychological Society's Response to 'Managing dangerous people with severe personality disorders'. Leicester: British Psychological Society, December 1999.

- Steadman,H.J.,Mulvey, E.P.,Monahan,J.,Robbins, P.C.,Appelbaum, P.S.,Grisso, T.,Roth,L.H.& Silver, E.(1998).Violence by people discharged from acute psychiatric inpatient facilities and by others in the same neighborhoods. *Archives of General Psychiatr y*, 55(5), 393–401
- 290. Monahan,J.& Steadman,H.J.(1994). Towards a rejuvenation of risk assessment research.In J.Monahan & H.J.Steadman (Eds.), Violence and mental disorder: Developments in risk assessment. The John D. and Catherine T. MacArthur Foundation series on mental health and development. Chicago, IL,USA: The University of Chicago Press.
- 291. Appleby, L.(1992).Suicide in psychiatric patients:Risk and prevention. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 161, 749–758.
- Dudley, M., Cantor, C. & Demoore, G. (1996). Firearms and the mental health of Australians. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 3, 370–381.
- Lewis, G., Hawton, K.& Jones, P. (1997). Strategies for preventing suicide. British Journal of Psychiatry, 171, 351–354.
- Brown, P. & Funk,S.C. (1986). Tardive dyskinesia: Barriers to the professional recognition of iatrogenic disease. *Journal of Health and Social Behaviour*, 27, 116–132.
- 295. Thomas, C.,Bartlett,A.& Mezey, G.C. (1995). The extent and effects of violence among psychiatric inpatients. *Psychiatric Bulletin*, 19, 600–604.
- 296. Martin, J.P. (1985). Hospitals in trouble. Oxford:Blackwell.
- 297. Schoener, G.R.& Luepker, E.L.(1996).Boundaries in group settings: Ethical and practical issues.In B.DeChant (Ed)., *Women and group psychotherapy*. New York:Guilford Press.
- Brown,G.W. & Wing,J.K. (1962). A comparative clinical and social survey of three mental hospitals. *The Sociological Review Monographs*, 5, 145–171.
- 299. Bean, P. & Mounser, P. (1993). Discharged from mental hospitals. London:Macmillan.
- 300. McIntyre, K., Farrell, M.& David, A. (1989). What do psychiatric inpatients really want? *British Medical Journal*, 298, 159–160.
- 301. Moore, C. (1998). Admission to an acute psychiatric ward. *Nursing Times*, *94*(2), 14–20.
- 302. Rogers, A., Pilgrim, D. & Lacey, R. (1993). Experiencing psychiatry: Users'view of services. London:Macmillan.
- 303. Bean, P. (1985). *Mental disorder and legal control.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Rogers, A. (1993). Coercion and voluntary admissions: An examination of psychiatric patients' views. *Behavioural Sciences and the Law*, 11, 259–269.
- 305. British Psychological Society Centre for Outcomes Research and Effectiveness (2000). Management of patients who may present a risk of causing violence to others. London:British Psychological Society.
- 306. British Psychological Society Centre for Outcomes Research and Effectiveness (2000). Assessing and managing suicide risk. London: British Psychological Society.

Section 14:Social exclusion

- 307. Bhugra, D. (1989). Attitudes towards mental illness: A review of the literature. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 80, 1–12.
- Cohen, C. & Sokolovsky, J.(1978). Schizophrenia and social networks. Schizophrenia Bulletin, 4, 546–560.
- Meeks,S.& Murrell,S.A. (1994). Service providers in the social networks of clients with severe mental illness. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 20(2), 399–406.
- 310. Lipton, F.R., Cohen, C.I., Fischer, E.& Katz, S.E. (1981). Schizophrenia: a network crisis. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 7, 144–151.
- Brugha, T.S., Wing, J.K., Brewin, C.R., MacCarthy, B., Mangen, S., Lesage, A.& Mumford, J. (1988). The problems of people in longterm psychiatric day care: An introduction to the Camberwell High Contact Survey. *Psychological Medicine*, 18, 443–456.

References (cont.)

- 312. Read, J.& Reynolds, J. (Eds.) (1996). Speaking our minds. Basingstoke: MacMillan.
- 313. Read,J.& Baker, S.(1996). Not just sticks and stones: A survey of the stigma,taboos and discrimination experienced by people with mental health problems. London:Mind.
- 314. Link,B.(1982).Mental patient status, work and income:An examination of the effects of a psychiatric label. *American Sociological Review*, 47, 202–215.
- 315. Farina, A.& Felner, R.D. (1973). Employment interviewer reactions to former mental patients. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 82, 268–272.
- 316. Wing,J.K.& Brown,G.W. (1970). Institutionalism and schizophrenia. Cambridge:University Press.
- 317. Warner, R.(1994). Psychiatry and the political economy. London: Routledge.
- Warner, R. (1985). Recovery from schizophrenia. Psychiatry and political economy. New York: Routledge & Kegan Paul.
- 319. Birchwood.M., Mason, R., Macmillan, F. & Healy, J. (1993). Depression, demoralisation and control over psychotic illness: a comparison of depressed and non-depressed patients with a chronic psychosis. *Psychological Medicine*, 23, 387–395.
- 320. Mechanic, D.,McAlpine, D.,Rosenfield,S.& Davis D (1994).Effects of illness,attribution and depression on the quality of life among persons with serious mental illness. *Social Science & Medicine*, 39, 155–164.
- Warner, R., Taylor, D., Powers, M.& Hyman, J. (1989). Acceptance of the mental illness label by psychotic patients: Effects on functioning. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 59, 398–409.
- Farina,A.,Gliha, D.,Boudreau,L.A.,Allen,J.G.& Sherman,M.(1971). Mental illness and the impact of believing others know about it. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 77, 1–5.
- 323. Barham, P. & Hayward, R. (1991). From the mental patient to the person. London: Routledge.
- 324. Wolff,G.,Pathare, S.,Craig, T. & Leff,J.(1996).Public education for community care:A new approach. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, *168*, 441–447.
- 325. Nieradzik,K.& Cochrane, R.(1985).Public attitudes towards mental illness the effects of behaviour, roles and psychiatric labels. International Journal of Social Psychiatry, 31, 23–33.
- 326. Wolff,G.,Pathare, S.,Craig, T. & Leff,J.(1996).Public education for community care:A new approach. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, *168*, 441–447.
- Jahoda, M. (1981). Work, employment and unemployment: Values, theories and approaches in social research. *American Psychologist*, 36, 184–91.
- 328. Warr, P. (1987). *Work, unemployment and mental health.* Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Bell,M.D. & Lysaker, P.H. (1997). Clinical benefits of paid work activity in schizophrenia: One year follow-up. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 23, 317–328.
- 330. Dick,N.& Shepherd,G.(1994). Work and mental health: A preliminary test of Warr's model in sheltered workshops for the mentally ill. *Journal of Mental Health*,*3*, 387–400.
- 331. Seaton, M. (2000). London Evening Standard Magazine, Friday 17th March 2000.
- O'Morow, G.(1981). Therapeutic recreation: A helping profession. Reston, VA:Reston Publishing Co. Inc.
- 333. Leff,J.(Ed.) (1997). Care in the community. Illusion or reality? London: Wiley.
- 334. Freedland, J. (1998). Out of the bin and glad to be mad. *The Guardian*, 21st January.
- 335. Perkins, R. (2000). I have a vision ... Beyond deficit and discrimination. Paper presented at Meeting the Challenges of the 21st Century. Millennium Mental Health Conference, Nottingham, 15th March. BRIJ consultancy.
- 336. Warner, R., Taylor, D., Powers, M.& Hyman, J. (1989). Acceptance of

the mental illness label by psychotic patients:Effects on functioning. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 59, 398–409.

- 337. Romme, M.A.J.& Escher, A. (1989). Hearing voices. Schizophrenia Bulletin, 15, 209–216.
- 338. Malecki,R.& Pennings,M.(1993). Taking control:Self help. In M. Romme & S.Esher (Eds.), *Accepting voices*. London:MIND.
- Chadwick, P. K. (1997). Schizophrenia: The positive perspective. London: Routledge.
- 340. http://www.cto.no.freeserve.co.uk/index.htm
- 341. Seaton, M. (2000). London Evening Standard Magazine, Friday 17th March.
- 342. Barker, I.& Peck,E.(Eds.) (1987). Power in strange places:User empowerment in mental health services. London:Good Practices in Mental Health.
- Rogers, A., Pilgrim, D. & Lacey, R. (1993). Experiencing psychiatry: Users views of services. Basingstoke: Macmillan/MIND.
- 344. Rogers, A., Pilgrim, D. & Lacey, R. (1993). *Experiencing psychiatry:Users views of services*. Basingstoke:Macmillan/MIND.
- Williams, J.& Lindley, P. (1996). Working with mental health service users to change mental health services. *Journal of Community & Applied Social Psychology*, 6, 1–14.
- 346. Mowbray, C.T., Moxley, D.P., Jasper, C.A.& Howell, L.L. (1998). *Consumers as providers in psychiatric rehabilitation*. Columbia:IAPSRS Publications.

Section 15:Implications of this report for mental health services

- 347. Department of Health (1999). National service framework for mental health: Modern standards and service models. HMSO.
- McGorry, P.D., Edwards, J., Mihalopoulos, C., Harrigan, S.M. & Jackson, H.J. (1996). Early Psychosis Prevention and Intervention Centre (EPPIC): An evolving system of early detection and optimal management. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 22, 305–326.
- Campbell, P. (1996). In J.Read & J.Reynolds (Eds.), Speaking our minds. Basingstoke:MacMillan.
- Chadwick, P. K. (1997). Schizophrenia: The positive perspective. London: Routledge.
- 351. McKenzie, K.(1999).Moving the misdiagnosis debate forward. International Review of Psychiatry, 11(2–3),153–161.
- Jarvis, E. (1998). Schizophrenia in British immigrants: Recent findings, issues and implications. *Transcultural Psychiatry*, 35(1), 39–74.
- 353. Mental Health Media (1987). *From anger to action*. Mental Health Media Video, 1987.Quote from Hyacinth Dale.
- 354. Bahl, V. (1999). Mental Illness: a national perspective. In D. Bhugra & V. Bahl (Eds.), Ethnicity: an agenda for mental health. London: Gaskell.
- 355. Bahl, V. (1999). Mental Illness: a national perspective. In D. Bhugra & V. Bahl (Eds.), *Ethnicity: an agenda for mental health*. London: Gaskell.
- 356. Thomas, P. (1997). *The dialectics of schizophrenia*. London:Free Association Books.
- 357. Bahl, V. (1999). Mental Illness: a national perspective. In D. Bhugra & V. Bahl (Eds.), Ethnicity: an agenda for mental health. London: Gaskell.
- Fernando, S.(Ed.) (1995). Mental health in a multi-ethnic society: A multi-disciplinary handbook. London:Routledge.
- 359. Frank,A.F. & Gunderson,J.G.(1990).The role of the therapeutic alliance in the treatment of schizophrenia:Relationship to course and outcome. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 47, 228–236.
- 360. Cobb, A.(1993). Safe and effective? MIND's views on psychiatric drugs, ECT and psychosurgery. London:MIND Publications, p.26.
- Deane, F.P. (1987). A comparison of USA and New Zealand psychiatric patients' requests and clinicians understanding of patients' requests. *International Journal of Social Psychiatr y*, 33(4), 277–284.
- 362. Department of Health (1996). The Patient's Charter and You A Charter for England. HMSO.

- 363. Department of Health (1996). The Patient's Charter and You a Charter for England. HMSO.
- Healy, D. (1997). Psychiatric drugs explained (2nd ed).London:Mosby.
 Chadwick, P.K. (1997). Schizophrenia:The positive perspective.London:
- Routledge, pp.52 & 147.
 366. Wood, D. (1993). *The power of words:Uses and abuses of talking treatments*. London:Mind Publications.
- Drayton, M., Birchwood, M. & Trower, P. (1998). Early attachment and recovery from psychosis. British Journal of Clinical Psychology, 37, 269–284.
- 368. Perkins, R.E.& Repper, J. (1998). Dilemmas in community mental health practice. Abingdon: Radcliffe Medical Press, p.64.
- 369. Romme, M.& Escher, S. (1993). Accepting voices. London:MIND, p.141.
- 370. Wing, J.K.& Brown, G.W. (1970). Institutionalism and schizophrenia. Cambridge: University Press.
- Bell,M.D. & Lysaker, P.H. (1997). Clinical benefits of paid work activity in schizophrenia:one-year follow-up. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 23, 317–328.
- 372. Warner, R.(1994). *Psychiatry and the political economy*. London: Routledge.
- 373. Perkins, R.E., Choy, D. & Davidson, B. (1999). Pathfinder user employment programme: Progress report. London: Pathfinder Mental Health NHS Trust.
- Meddings,S.& Perkins,R.(1999).Service user perspectives on the 'rehabilitation team' and roles of professionals within it. *Journal of Mental Health*, 8(1),87–94.
- 375. Wallcraft,J.(1998). *Healing minds*. London:Mental Health Foundation.
- 376. Baker, P. (1995). The voice inside: A practical guide to coping with hearing voices. Manchester: Handsell Publications/Hearing Voices Network.
- 377. Coleman,R.& Smith,M.(1997). Working with voices! Victim to victor. Runcorn:Handsell Publications.
- 378. Chadwick, P. (1995). Understanding paranoia:What causes it,how it feels and what to do about it. London:Thorsons.
- Lindow, V. (1999). Survivor controlled alternatives to psychiatric services. In C. Newnes, G. Holmes & C. Dunn, *This is madness:* A critical look at psychiatry and the future of mental health services. Ross-on-Wye: PCCS Books).
- Sainsbury Centre for Mental Health (1998). Acute problems:a survey of the quality of care in acute psychiatric wards. Sainsbury Centre for Mental Health.
- Rose, D. (1998). Acute wards:a user perspective. Paper presented at Sainsbury Centre Conference :The forgotten agenda – improving the quality of acute inpatient mental health care. London,3rd June.
- 382. Barker, P (1998). What's the quality like? Paper presented at Sainsbury Centre Conference :The forgotten agenda – improving the quality of acute inpatient mental health care. London,3rd June.
- 383. Rose, D. (1998) Acute wards:a user perspective. Paper presented at Sainsbury Centre Conference :The forgotten agenda – improving the quality of acute inpatient mental health care. London,3rd June.
- 384. Bracken, P. & Thomas, P. (1999). Home treatment in Bradford. Openmind, 95, 17.
- 385. Jenkinson, P. (1999). The duty of community care: The Wokingham MIND Crisis House. In C. Newnes, G. Holmes & C. Dunn, *This is madness: A critical look at psychiatry and the future of mental health services*. Ross-on-Wye: PCCS Books).
- 386. The British Psychological Society (1999). Response to the Scoping Committee on the Review of the Mental Health Act. Leicester: The British Psychological Society.
- 387. Newnes, C. (1993). Editorial. Clinical Psychology Forum, 54, 2.
- The British Psychological Society (1999). Comments on the Review of the Mental Health Act 1983. Leicester: The British Psychological Society.
- 389. Perkins, R.E. (1999). Falling through the net ... or deliberately

jumping? Openmind, 97, 6.

- Wragg,R.E., & Dimsdale, J.E. (1987) Psychiatric consultation as conflict resolution. *General Hospital Psychiatry*, 9(6),420–425.
- 391. Price, R.(1997.) On the risks of risk prediction. *Journal of Forensic Psychiatry*, *8*, 1–4.
- 392. Morgan, H.G. (1997). Management of suicide risk. *Psychiatric Bulletin*, 21, 214–216.
- 393. Morgan, H.G. (1997). Management of suicide risk. *Psychiatric Bulletin*, 21, 214–216.
- 394. Confidential Inquiry into Homicides and Suicides by Mentally III People (1996). Report of the Confidential Inquiry into Homicides and Suicides by Mentally III People. London:Royal College of Psychiatrists, p.66.
- The British Psychological Society (1999). Comments on the Review of the Mental Health Act 1983. London:British Psychological Society.
- Davidson,B.& Perkins,R.E. (1997).Mad to work here. Nursing Times, 93, 41,26–30.
- 397. Perkins, R.E., Choy, D. & Davidson, B (1999). Pathfinder User Employment Programme: Progress Report. London: Pathfinder Mental Health NHS Trust.
- 398. James, A. (2000). New mentality. The Guardian, 16th February, 2000.
- Sherman, P. S.& Porter, R.(1991).Mental health consumers as case management aides. *Hospital and Community Psychiatry*, 42(5), 494–498.
- Nikkel, R.E., Smith, G.& Edwards, D. (1992). A consumer-operated case management project. *Hospital and Community Psychiatry*, 43(6), 577–579.
- Williams, M.L., Forster, P. McCarthy, G.D. & Hargreaves, W.A. (1994). Managing case management: What makes it work? *Psychosocial Rehabilitation Journal*, 18(1), 49–60.
- 402. Solomon, P. & Draine, J. (1995). The efficacy of a consumer case management team: 2-year outcomes of a randomised trial. *Journal of Mental Health Administration*, 22(2), 135–145.
- Chadwick, P.K. (1997). Schizophrenia: The positive perspective. London: Routledge, p.51.
- 404. Campbell, P. & Lindow, V. (1997). Changing practice:Mental health nursing and user empowerment. London:MIND/RCN.
- 405. Coleman, R. (1995). *Is the writing on the asylum wall?* Runcorn: Handsell Publications.
- 406. Crepaz-Keay, D.,Binns, C. & Wilson, E. (1997). Dancing with angels. London:CCETSW.
- 407. Thomas, P. (1997). *The dialectics of schizophrenia*. London:Free Association Books.
- Williams, J.& Lindley, P. (1996). Working with mental health service users to change mental health services. *Journal of Community & Applied Social Psychology*, 6, 1–14.
- Brunning, H., Borley, R., Poppleton, W. & Rogan, J. (1994). Letter from Richmond: Local and vocal – how to involve service users in mental health. *Journal of Mental Health*, 3, 119–122.
- 410. Pilgrim, D. (1997). Psychotherapy and society. London:Sage.
- 411. Rose, D. et al. (1998). In our experience:User focused monitoring of mental health services. London:Sainsbury Centre for Mental Health.
- 412. Mental Health Foundation,2000. *Guide to survivor research*. London: Mental Health Foundation.
- 413. Bladzell,J.(1999). User-led research. London:Mental Health Foundation.
- 414. Pilgrim, D. (1997). Psychotherapy and society. London:Sage.
- 415. Department of Health (1998). A first-class service. Quality in the new NHS. *Health Services Circular 1998/113*. London:HMSO.
- Scally, G.& Donaldson, L.J. (1998). Clinical governance and the drive for quality improvement in the new NHS in England. *British Medical Journal*, 317, 61–65.
- 417. Breggin, P.R. (1983). *Psychiatric drugs:Hazards to the brain*. New York: Springer.
- 418. Freedland, J. (1998). Out of the bin and glad to be mad. The

References (cont.)

Guardian, 21st January.

- Perkins,R.(2000).1 have a vision ... Beyond deficit and discrimination.Paper presented at:Meeting the challenges of the 21st century. Millennium mental health conference. Nottingham, 15th March 2000.BRIJ consultancy.
- 420. May, R.(in press). Routes to recovery the roots of a clinical psychologist. *Clinical Psychology Forum.*
- 421. Department of Health (1999). National service framework for mental health: Modern standards and service models. London: HMSO.
- 422. Wilson, C., Nairn, R., Coverdale, J.& Panapa, A. (1999). Constructing mental illness as dangerous: A pilot study. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 33, 240–247.
- 423. Perkins, R.(2000). I have a vision ... Beyond deficit and discrimination.Paper presented at:Meeting the challenges of the 21st century. Millennium mental health conference. Nottingham, 15th March 2000.BRIJ consultancy.